UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN FACULTY OF HEALTH AND MEDICAL SCIENCES





PhD thesis

Camilla Christophersen

Annual volume and supervision in hernia repair, implications on risk of reoperation

Supervisor: Jacob Rosenberg

This thesis has been submitted to the Graduate School of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen on 1 June 2023

Annual volume and supervision in hernia repair, implications on risk of reoperation

Author

Camilla Christophersen, MD

Centre for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Supervisors

Principal supervisor:	Jacob Rosenberg, MD, DMSc, professor
Co-supervisor:	Siv Fonnes, MD, PhD
Co-supervisor:	Kristoffer Andresen, MD, PhD

Members of the assessment committee

Frederik Helgstrand, MD, PhD, DMSc, ass. professor		
Center for Surgical Science, Department of Surgery, Zealand		
University Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Denmark		
Hans Friis-Andersen, MD, ass. professor		
Department of Surgery, Horsens Regional Hospital,		
University of Aarhus, Denmark		

International representative:	Hanna de la Croix, MD, PhD, ass. professor
	Department of Surgery, Östra Hospital, Sahlgrenska
	University Hospital, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Copyright: All copyrighted materials and published articles in this thesis are reproduced with permission from the copyright owners. The illustration on the cover is reproduced with permission from iStock.com.

Acknowledgements

A special thanks to my supervisor Jacob Rosenberg for recognizing my interest in medical research, for encouraging me, and for challenging me throughout the entire process. Working with you has been incredibly inspiring and motivating for an aspiring doctor and researcher.

I would like to thank Dennis Bregner Zetner for persistently insisting that I applied for a job at CPO until I actually did.

A special thanks to my co-supervisors Siv Fonnes and Kristoffer Andresen. Siv, thank you for always guiding me, for all your indispensable inputs and feedback, and not least your ever supportive and positive outlook on everything. Kristoffer, thank you for setting time aside to help me, your analytical and practical insights have been invaluable in pointing out new perspectives to me.

I owe a great thanks to Jason Baker for the many hours spent helping me master the statistical program without it there are deadlines I would have never met. Also, thank you for the many laughs shared.

I would also like to thank Anders Gram-Hanssen for helping with Excel when no one else seemed able to and for sparring with me before this defense.

To Malene Højland, thank you for always lending a helpful hand with everything both graphical and practical.

Thank you to Mikkel Zola Andersen, for the needed motivation and help to get me through the last home stretch leading up to this defense.

To all my colleagues at CPO throughout the years, a big thanks for the many hours of professional sparring and great inputs as well as the countless laughs and all the highly needed breaks from work. I could not imagine a better place to have started my research carrier.

Thank you to Den Fælles Forskningsfond, Herlev and Gentofte Hospital, Fonden af 17-12-1981, and A.P. Møller Fonden til Lægevidenskabens Fremme for the financial support.

Last but definitely not least, I am grateful to all my friends and family for the endless support, the many shoulders to cry on, and for continuously cheering me on during these past years. Thank you for sometimes pretending to understand, listening, and letting me vent all my frustrations, but also for sharing in all the exciting and good times.

Table of contents

Publications included in the PhD thesis	4
Introduction	5
Abdominal wall hernias	5
Acquiring surgical skills	7
Annual surgeon volume	8
Objectives	8
Methodological considerations	9
Ethical considerations	9
Methodology of a systematic review	10
Methodology of register-based studies	12
Statistical considerations	14
Study presentation	17
Study I: Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-	
volume surgeons: a systematic review [1]	17
Study II: Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when	
performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study [2]	20
Study III: Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia	
repair: a nationwide register-based study [3]	24
Study IV: Risk of reoperation after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised	ł
residents [4]	27
Discussion	.31
Reoperation as outcome measure	31
Balancing surgical outcomes and training	32
Centralization of hernia repair	34
Conclusion	.37
Perspectives and future studies	.37
English summary	.40
Dansk resumé	.42
References	.44
Full-text studies included in the PhD thesis	.57

Publications included in the PhD thesis

- Study I Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons:
 a systematic review. Hernia 2022;26:29–37 [1].
- Study II Christophersen C, Baker JJ, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study. Hernia 2021;25:1189–1197 [2].
- Study III Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Baker JJ, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair:
 a nationwide register-based study. J Am Coll Surg 2021;233:346–356 [3].
- Study IV Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised residents. JAMA Surg 2023;158:359–367 [4].

Introduction

Abdominal wall hernias

Both groin and ventral hernia repairs are common surgical procedures worldwide [5,6]. In Denmark there is around 9–10,000 groin hernia repairs and 4–5,000 ventral hernia repairs annually [7], making hernia repair one of the most frequent procedures in general surgery. A hernia consists of a hernial sac of peritoneum, which can contain intraabdominal viscera. The viscera protrudes through primary deficiencies in the musculoaponeurotic lamina of the abdominal wall through the hernial ring [8] (Figure 1). The term primary hernia refers to naturally occurring hernias while incisional hernias are a secondary deficiency in the musculoaponeurotic lamina in the area of a postoperative scar [9,10]. For the purpose of this thesis, primary hernias were divided into two categories: groin hernias which included primary inguinal and femoral hernias [11] and ventral hernias, including primary umbilical and epigastric hernias [9]. Hernia repairs can be performed with open or laparoscopic techniques, and the choice depends on the type and size of hernia, patient-specific factors, and the patient's as well as the surgeon's preferences and experience [12,13]. In Denmark, the use of laparoscopic approach for groin hernia repair has increased whilst the use of Lichtenstein technique has declined over the past decade [14].



Figure 1. Anatomy of a hernia.

In the literature, long-term outcome measures after hernia repair vary between patientreported quality of life measures, recurrence, or chronic pain [15]. Recurrence or reoperation for recurrence after hernia repair is a common quality measure in the literature and often used as a measure of success [12]. Recurrence occurs when the hernia defect reappears after the initial repair. In this thesis, reoperation was used as proxy for recurrence since it is the main reason for reoperation. Thus, in this thesis, the term reoperation refers to reoperation due to recurrence. Reoperation is a rather feasible outcome measure since it does not require clinician assessed recurrence and can be assessed via medical patient records, databases, or regional or nationwide registries. Whereas assessment of clinical recurrence can be time consuming and costly especially in large studies. Thus, large register-based studies most often use reoperation as a proxy for clinical recurrence [12]. However, the reoperation rate underestimates the clinical recurrence rate in both groin and ventral hernia repair. The clinical recurrence rate after groin hernia repair is approximately 40% higher than the reoperation rate [16] while the reoperation rate underestimates the overall risk of recurrence by four- to fivefold after ventral hernia repair [17]. Recurrence presents a challenge since it can ultimately necessitate reoperation for several patients which is costly. As for any other surgical procedures, reoperations are not without risk for the patients and there are even higher re-recurrence rates [18]. A reoperation rate of 8% after primary inguinal hernia repairs has been reported in the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database [19]. While reoperation and clinical recurrence rate has been reported as high as 15% after primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database [17]. There are several factors influencing the risk of recurrence or reoperation after both groin [12,20,21] and ventral [22–27] hernia repair and some selected factors are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Selected factors associated with recurrence after primary groin and ventral hernia repair. BMI: Body Mass Index. *Ventral hernia. [†]Groin hernia.

Surgeons' experience also seem to affect the recurrence rates after hernia repair [28], and a previous register-based study showed a higher risk of recurrence after repairs performed by unsupervised trainees [29]. International guidelines for groin hernia repair state the importance of maintaining annual surgeon volume and experience in groin hernia repair [12]. However, the effects of surgical experience have only been investigated in few studies with low grade of evidence [12]. Thus, there is a need for further investigation of how annual surgeon volume affects recurrence rates after both groin and ventral hernia repair to ensure optimal outcomes for the numerous patients undergoing hernia repair each year. Furthermore, hernia repair is included in surgical training curricula worldwide, however, the number of hernia repairs performed by trainees vary [30]. It is important to evaluate how outcomes after hernia repair are affected when the repairs are performed by supervised residents, thus, finding a balance between surgical training and postoperative complications.

Acquiring surgical skills

Surgical residents train under the model of apprenticeship with increasing autonomy in the operating room [31], which entails a learning by doing or experiential learning approach. Since acquiring practical skills like those needed in surgery differ from acquiring theoretical knowledge [32], and acquiring surgical skills cannot be done without hands on experience. When learning new procedures residents must overcome their learning curve. Learning curves in hernia repair are assessed using different outcome measures such as reoperation or recurrence, operating time, or postoperative complications [33]. The learning curve is said to have been overcome when the rate of negative outcomes or operating time stabilizes at acceptable levels. Surgeon or resident specific factors might influence the number of procedures required to overcome the learning curve, such as stress or previous experience with other techniques. The learning curve varies, depending on the surgical approach and type of hernia, thus, laparoscopic TransAbdominal PrePeritioneal (TAPP) groin hernia repair requires 50–100 procedures [33] while Lichtenstein groin hernia repair requires around 40 procedures to overcome the learning curve [34]. For ventral hernia repair, guidelines published in 2020 suggested that the learning curve is around 20 and 30 procedures for laparoscopic and open ventral hernia repair, respectively [13]. However, the existing literature is limited on the learning curves for both laparoscopic and open ventral hernia repair, since most studies include both primary, recurrent, and incisional hernias. The surgical technique varies for primary and recurrent ventral, as well as incisional hernia repairs which alone includes many types of hernias

and thus varying techniques [35], leading to variations in the learning curves. In contrast to the volume-based learning curve analyses, competency-based evaluation is gaining popularity in the assessment of surgical proficiency in research [36]. Supervision by experienced surgeons plays an important role in both competency-based training and when mastering the learning curve [33].

Annual surgeon volume

Annual surgeon volume allows us to quantify how surgical experience is maintained. Annual surgeon volume has previously been used to assess the effect of surgeons' experience on patient-related outcomes [37]. High-volume surgeons have been associated with beneficial outcomes in several fields such as laparoscopic cholecystectomy [38], bariatric surgery [39], and laparoscopic colorectal surgery [40], showing the importance of maintaining surgical experience. Surgical experience can also be measured by the total number of procedures performed by the individual surgeon throughout their career. However, there is only limited evidence on this measure in the existing literature, and total surgical experience has only been reported in one study for hernia repair [41]. Additionally, total number of procedures throughout the individual surgeon's career is not a very precise measure of surgeons' experience since it does not necessarily take the length of their career into account and does not account for changes in caseload over time.

There are currently no guidelines on how many hernia procedures a surgeon must perform annually to be considered a specialist in hernia repair. The HerniaSurge Group published guidelines for groin hernia repair in 2018, underlining the importance of specialization in hernia repair, both for centers and surgeons, to improve postoperative outcomes for patients, however, this was based on low grade of evidence [12]. Centralization of hernia repairs in specialized centers could allow surgeons there to reach acceptable annual volumes and establish collaborations with other specialties if needed for rare or complicated cases.

Objectives

Overall, this thesis aimed to investigate how experience, measured as annual surgeon volume, and supervision affected the recurrence-related reoperation rate after both primary groin and primary ventral hernia repair. The objectives of each study were:

I. To systematically explore the effect of annual surgeon volume on recurrence or reoperation in groin, primary umbilical, and epigastric hernia repair, previously reported in the literature.

- II. To investigate the effect of annual surgeon volume on risk of reoperation after primary groin hernia repair in Denmark.
- III. To assess the effect of annual surgeon volume on the risk of reoperation after primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair in Denmark.
- IV. To evaluate how the risk of reoperation was affected after primary groin, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repairs, when the repair was carried out by supervised residents compared with specialists.

Methodological considerations

Ethical considerations

As medical researchers, we must adhere to the Helsinki Declaration, protecting the health, wellbeing, rights and interests of the individual, their privacy, and confidentiality [42]. Furthermore, we must adhere to national legislations and regulations, which is also stated in the Helsinki Declaration. According to Danish legislation, no ethical approval or written informed consent were needed for the systematic review and register-based studies included in this thesis. There are, however, still ethical aspects to consider.

Systematic reviews are considered the highest level of evidence [43]. Increasing access to research through the internet, and not exclusively in journals, has made published papers worldwide more accessible, leading to an increasing number of published systematic reviews [44]. Systematic reviews are frequently cited, and over the past four decades systematic reviews have played an increasing influential role in practice, policies, guidelines, and future research [45]. There is also the risk of including studies with ethical considerations of insufficient or low quality in systematic reviews [46]. This gives rise to ethical considerations to reduce spin, bias, misinterpretations in systematic reviews [47,48], and to ensure appropriate conduct of systematic reviews. Therefore, it is important to systematically consider the risk of bias in included studies and to report systematic reviews transparently. Transparency is increased by predefining a protocol which should be published in databases like the International prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) [49] or OSF [50]. Furthermore, protocol registration in PROSPERO, or similar databases, reduces duplicate work in research [51].

There are also ethical considerations when conducting observational register-based research. Register-based studies allow investigation of exposures and outcomes without subjecting patients to interventions, in contrast to randomized controlled trials (RCTs). The

register-based studies in this thesis assessed the effect of annual surgeon volume on the risk of reoperation. It would arguably have been unethical to randomize patients to surgeons based on annual volume, since we found increased recurrence and reoperation rates after hernia repairs by low-volume surgeons in the existing literature [1]. In Denmark, approval from the Danish Data Protection Agency [52] is required, ensuring protection of patients' data and privacy, when using Danish clinical quality registers. In accordance with Danish legislation, informed consent or ethical approval is not required to conduct register-based studies since the patients are not at any health risks, will not be contacted, or involved in the research projects [53], and data are only available for research and statistical analyses. Although ethical approval is not required, it is still mandatory to protect patients' privacy and anonymity [54], thus, data are pseudo anonymized and stored on safe servers. Lastly, when presenting data from register-based studies an ethical consideration to consider is how microdata is handled. Microdata, as defined by Statistics Denmark, are cells in tables with <3 observations since these are personally identifiable [55]. The register-based studies of this thesis included surgeons, and it was necessary to handle some of this data as microdata to ensure that no data were personally attributable.

Methodology of a systematic review

Systematic reviews systematically collects, evaluates, analyzes, and synthesizes empirical evidence from previously published research literature, based on predefined inclusion criteria to answer a specific research question [56]. Thus, providing a balanced summary of the current evidence and help in clinical decision-making since it is the highest level of evidence [43]. Systematic reviews can help when embarking on a new research question [56], allowing researchers to identify current studies and find gaps in the existing literature where there are implications for further research.

The systematic review in this thesis [1] was reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses statement (PRISMA) from 2009 [57]. Shortly after our systematic review was published, the updated PRISMA 2020 statement was published [58]. PRISMA 2020 is an elaborated version of the 2009 statement, but the key elements are the same. There are some noteworthy changes from PRISMA 2009 to 2020 such as reporting of the full search strategy for all databases searched; reporting of synthesis of results divided into six sub-items; assessment of certainty which is a new item introduced in the 2020 PRISMA statement; citing studies that seem to meet inclusion criteria but were excluded, with an explanation of exclusion; and reporting of funding of included studies. The use of reporting

guidelines helps ensure clear, accurate, and transparent reporting of the methods and results in medical research, which again increases the reproducibility of the individual study [59]. The research question was designed using the "PICO" framework, which includes a definition of the Population, Intervention, Comparisons, and Outcomes of interest in the review [60]. Furthermore, we defined what type of studies (S) were eligible for inclusion in our research question. A publicly accessible protocol was registered in PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42020176140) [61]. The search strategy was developed in cooperation with a professional information specialist from the Copenhagen University Library, optimizing the search string so it included as many relevant records as possible whilst limiting the number of irrelevant records [62]. We searched PubMed, Embase, and Cochrane CENTRAL [63], thus, retrieving records only available in one database [64], ensuring a wider inclusion of records. Furthermore, we conducted a search of the included records' references since browsing the references of included records is an effective way to identify relevant records that were not identified by the search strategy [65]. The title and abstracts of records yielded by the search of the three databases were screened in parallel, independently by two authors and conflicts were resolved within the author group. The initial title abstract screening was then followed by a full-text screening, which was also performed in parallel. In parallel screening assured that fewer records were missed in the screening process compared with single screening [66]. Risk of bias in the included observational studies was assessed with the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses [67], and risk of bias in the included RCT was assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool from 2011 [68]. We initially sought to compare the recurrence rates after hernia repairs performed by low- compared with high-volume surgeons. But, due to the varying definitions and categorizations of annual surgeon volume in the included studies, we implemented a medium volume category, resulting in three overlapping volume categories: low- (≤25 cases/year), medium- (11–50 cases/year), and high-volume (>50 cases/year).

As stated in the protocol [61], meta-analyses were planned if possible which was evaluated by assessing the heterogeneity across the included studies. It is important to distinguishing between clinical, methodological, and statistical heterogeneity [69], a distinction we should have made in our systematic review. Clinical heterogeneity refers to the variability in participants, interventions, and outcomes in the study. Methodological heterogeneity refers to the variability in the study design, outcome measures, and risk of bias. While statistical heterogeneity arises from variability in the intervention effects of the included studies [69]. The statistical heterogeneity can be quantified using the I² statistic, ranging from 0–100%. I² between 0–40%

means that the statistical heterogeneity might not be important; 30-60% indicates moderate statistical heterogeneity; 50-90% indicates substantial statistical heterogeneity; and 75-100% indicates considerable statistical heterogeneity [69]. We tried to perform a meta-analysis using the OpenMeta[Analyst] software [70], however, this resulted in considerable statistical heterogeneity (I²>86%) which should have been reported in the systematic review. Due to the considerable statistical heterogeneity, we initially decided against conducting any meta-analyses. However, a study has since then pointed out that in meta-analyses of prevalence high statistical heterogeneity is frequent but not a sign of important variability across the included studies [71]. Because variations in prevalence arises from clinical and methodological variability such as grouping or subgrouping of patients, follow-up time, and outcome measures. It is to be expected that inclusion of cohort studies with wider variation in methodology will lead to a higher statistical heterogeneity in comparison to inclusion solely of RCTs with highly selected study populations. In prevalence meta-analyses, instead of evaluating the statistical heterogeneity with the I² statistic, it would be more appropriate to assess the clinical and methodological variations across included studies by estimating the prediction intervals [71]. All in all, it would have been more correct had we assessed the clinical and methodological variations in the included cohort studies, evaluating eligibility for meta-analyses for prevalence with a more lenient interpretation of I². This should then had been followed by sensitivity analyses to explore heterogeneity, which should be planned in the protocol. After publication of the review, we further explored the possibilities of performing meta-analysis, but for methodological reasons we had to abstain from that (see Strengths and limitations of Study I).

Methodology of register-based studies

Observational studies such as studies including data from the Danish Hernia Database allow us to compare exposures and outcomes in many patients without allocating patients to new treatments [72]. Observational register-based studies allow for longer follow-up times. Furthermore, register-based studies allow us to include patients that are usually excluded from RCTs such as elderly patients and patients with comorbidities [73], leading to an increased external validity [72–74].

The register-based studies included in this thesis [2–4] were reported using the REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routine-Collected health Data (RECORD) statement [75]. The RECORD statement is an extension of the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement [76]. The STROBE statement was

designed to apply to observational studies, and the RECORD statement adds items when reporting results based on routinely collected health data [75]. Furthermore, the RECORD statement includes items on reporting of linkage between databases, which applied to all three register-based studies included in this thesis. Again, the use of reporting guidelines ensures clear and transparent reporting of findings and increases the reproducibility of results in medical research [59]. In this thesis, we included adults undergoing repair for primary inguinal, femoral, umbilical, or epigastric hernias with open or laparoscopic approach. The outcome of interest was reoperation due to recurrence.

Denmark has a long tradition of nationwide registers of routinely collected data accessible for register-based research [77]. This includes administrative databases such as the Danish National Patient Registry [78] and the National Civil Registration System [79], as well as clinical quality databases such as the Danish Hernia Database [80,81]. Clinical quality databases collect clinical data for clinical quality control. These databases are regulated by the government, funded publicly [77], and entry in the clinical quality databases is mandatory for both public and private health care providers [54], resulting in high registration rates in the Danish clinical quality databases. The Danish Hernia Database was established to improve postoperative outcomes after hernia surgery in Denmark [80,81]. The Danish Hernia Database consists of two separate branches: the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database, which was established in 1998 [80] and the Danish Ventral Hernia Database, which was established in 2007 [81]. In 2021, the national registration rates were 94% and 89% in the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Database, respectively [7]. Data were extracted through the Danish Clinical Quality Program-National Clinical Registries (RKKP) [82] and linked with data from the Danish National Patient Registry [78] and the Danish Civil Registration System [79] via patients' unique personal identification number. Patients were followed via the Danish Hernia Databases. With reoperation as outcome measure, the follow-up was close to 100% since reoperations not registered by surgeons in the Danish Hernia Databases are registered in the Danish National Patient Registry and, thus, included in the extracted data. Data from the Danish Civil Registration System provides information on patients' who died or emigrated during the study period, adding to the follow-up rate. The Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Database includes many variables [83] describing patient-, hernia-, perioperative-, and surgeon-specific factors and an overview of selected variables is presented in Table 1. The validity of the variables in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database has a high agreement with hospital records, however, this is based on a study from 2013 [84]. Since then, more variables have been implemented in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database that have not been validated (Table 1). The variables in the Danish Inguinal Hernia

Database have not been validated. However, since the Ventral Hernia Database has a high agreement between the database and hospital records it could be assumed that the Inguinal Hernia Database correspondingly has a high agreement since the nature of the variables is similar and there is an overlap between the surgeons who register hernia repairs in both arms of the database. Furthermore, data in the Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Database are validated against the National Patient Registry [80,81]. Data on surgeons were extracted from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [85] via surgeons' unique authorization IDs that was also used to link surgeon data with data from the Danish Hernia Databases. The Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register is a publicly available register [85] and contains data on all authorized health professionals in Denmark, including physicians. We used data on operating surgeons' date of birth, date of authorization (i.e., graduation), field of specialization, and date of acquired specialization.

	Danish Hernia Database			
	Variable	Inguinal	Ventral	Comment
Patient-	Age	\checkmark	\checkmark	
specific	Sex	\checkmark	\checkmark	
•	BMI	×	\checkmark	Since 2016
	Smoking status	×	\checkmark	Since 2016
Hernia-	Type of hernia	\checkmark	\checkmark	
specific	Hernia defect size	\checkmark	\checkmark	Inguinal: EHS, Ventral: cm
Peri-	Date of operation	\checkmark	\checkmark	2
operative	Primary or recurrent repair	\checkmark	\checkmark	
	Surgical approach	\checkmark	\checkmark	
	Type of mesh	\checkmark	\checkmark	
	Anatomical mesh placement	×	\checkmark	
	Anesthesia	\checkmark	×	
Suraeon-	Supervision	\checkmark	\checkmark	Fully implemented in 2016
specific	Authorization ID	\checkmark	\checkmark	Fully implemented in 2016

Table 1. Overview of selected variables in the Danish Inguinal- and Ventral Hernia Database. BMI: Body Mass Index. EHS:European Hernia Society classification [11]. \checkmark : Variable available in the databases. $\stackrel{\bigstar}{\sim}$: Variable not available in the databases.

Statistical considerations

This section describes the statistical considerations of register-based studies since the statistical considerations of meta-analyses are described under the Methodology of a systematic review.

The distribution of continuous data can be assessed visually with histograms and Quantile-Quantile (Q-Q) plots, which was used in this thesis. A Q-Q plot is a scatter plot, plotting two sets of quantiles, quantiles of observed data on the y-axis and quantiles of expected data on the xaxis. Normally distributed data will align with the 45° diagonal reference line [86]. If data are not normally distributed normality can sometimes be achieved by transforming data, and a logarithmic transformation is frequently used [86], which makes differences between observations smaller. For the studies included in this thesis, normal distribution was not required since the main analyses were Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses [87].

For descriptive statistics of categorical data, the Chi-square of Independence test was used in this thesis. This is a pairwise comparison test of non-parametric data which assesses the independence between two or more variables. An underlying assumption of the Chi-square test is that data are distributed in categorical variables with independent groups where each observation is only present in one category [88]. If the expected number of observations were <5 Fischer's Exact test was used instead. For descriptive statistics of non-parametric continuous data, we used the Kruskal Wallis test. This is an omnibus test for median difference between groups. The Kruskal Wallis test was followed by Dunn's test which is a multiple pairwise comparison. Dunn's test is adjusted for multiple comparisons with the Bonferroni correction, reducing risk of statistical type I error by reducing the *p*-value required to accept statistical significance [89]. However, this comes with an increased risk of a statistical type II error [90]. A statistical type I error is the rejection of a true null hypothesis, which arises from the chosen significance level. While a type II error is the failure to reject a true null hypothesis, which correlates to the statistical power of the test in question [91].

The exposure investigated in study II and III [2,3] was annual surgeon volume, calculated as a dynamic variable. We defined annual surgeon volume as the number of procedures performed by the individual surgeon 12 months prior to the index hernia repair, separately for each operative approach. This allowed surgeons to change volume categories throughout the study periods, in contrast to simply using the calendar year of the index hernia repair to estimate the annual surgeon volume. By calculating annual surgeon volume as a dynamic variable, we obtained a more accurate estimate for the individual surgeon's annual volume, thus, limiting misclassification of surgeons that would otherwise have arisen from the retrospective design of these studies.

Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses, or Cox regression, were used for the main analyses in study II, III, and IV [2–4]. The Cox regression is a survival analysis, and it is adjusted for the individual patient's follow-up time. Thus, the Cox regression takes the time from intervention, in this thesis hernia repair, to event (reoperation), death, emigration, loss to follow-up, or end of the study period into account by censoring patients from the analysis. The output is presented as a Hazard Ratio (HR) with a corresponding 95% confidence interval (CI) for each category or group investigated. The HR is the probability or risk of an event at any given time, and a HR <1 indicates a reduced risk while a HR >1 indicates an increased risk of the event occurring

compared with a reference group [87]. The Cox regression relies on the assumption that the hazard functions over time are proportional. This proportionality can be assessed with log-log survival plots, plotting the logarithm of the cumulative hazard function and the logarithm of time in each group, if the lines are parallel this proportionality assumption is fulfilled [92]. The Cox regression is a multivariable analysis, making it possible to adjust for categorical and continuous covariates. The statistical power of survival analyses is associated with the number of events, rather than the number of participants, and inclusion of too many covariates in the analyses will lead to a loss of power to identify associations in the analyses. To minimize this loss of power, it has been recommended that at least 10 observed events should be present per included covariate [93]. There are different methods for choosing covariates to include such as backward stepwise elimination or a theory-based approach. The backward stepwise elimination consists of several analyses, where one covariate is eliminated at each step, using a predefined *p*-value cut-point [94], we used p > 0.2. This method has been critiqued since the final model is solely based on statistical significance. In the theory-based approach covariates are chosen based on the specific research question and clinical relevance [92]. Thus, choosing covariates known to affect the outcome of interest.

Kaplan-Meier plots are illustrative plots of time to event, which is often time to death, in this thesis it was time to reoperation. This results in a predicted survival curve, or in this thesis curves of cumulative reoperation rates. These survival curves are typically presented for more than one group, with the cumulative probability of the given event over time, related to the number of patients in a given time interval. In Kaplan-Meier plots, participants are followed over time, censoring participants at time of death or emigration. Kaplan-Meier plots are a univariate approach, in contrast to Cox Proportional Hazard Models. The log-rank test can be used to compare the full curves of each group in the Kaplan-Meier plot and provides a significance level. The underlying assumptions of Kaplan-Meier plots are that censored and uncensored participants have the same probability of the event occurring, and that the probability of the event occurring is the same regardless of when participants enter the study [95].

Study presentation

Study I: Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review [1]

Background and aim

International guidelines for groin hernia repair have been published, stating the importance of maintaining annual surgeon volume in groin hernia repair. However, this has only been investigated in few studies [12] and it was necessary to assess how annual surgeon volume has been reported in the existing literature as the first step of this thesis.

This study aimed to investigate how annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience affected outcomes after groin, as well as primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair.

Methods

We searched three databases. We included studies with adult patients operated for groin hernia with Lichtenstein, laparoscopic TAPP, or Totally ExtraPeritoneal (TEP) techniques, or for primary umbilical or epigastric hernias with open or laparoscopic approach. The intervention of interest was high annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience, while the comparator was low annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience. The outcome of interest was recurrence. Studies were excluded if they were systematic reviews or case series or reports with <5 surgeons. Only studies in English and Scandinavian languages were considered for inclusion. The primary outcome was recurrence rate after hernia repair according to annual surgeon volume. We pooled surgeons into overlapping high-, medium-, and low-volume categories. No meta-analyses were conducted.

Results

Of 1,980 records identified, 10 reports based on seven studies were included, covering 476,448 unique patients who underwent groin hernia repair (seven studies), and 78,267 patients (one study), who underwent primary umbilical or epigastric hernia repair. The included observational studies had an overall low to medium risk of bias, according to the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale. The included RCT [41] was assessed to have a high risk of bias. Recurrence was diversely defined as reoperation, patient reported recurrence, or clinician assessed recurrence in the included studies. Recurrence or reoperation rate after groin hernia repair based on annual surgeon volume was

pooled separately for five studies that showed a tendency of increased recurrence or reoperation rate among low-volume surgeons (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Pooled recurrence or reoperation rate after laparoscopic (red punctuated line) and open (blue line) groin hernia repair based on annual surgeon volume. Lap.: laparoscopic. Adapted from study I [1].

The study on primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair showed that high annual surgeon volume was associated with a lower reoperation rate, while lower volume surgeons were associated with higher reoperation rates [96].

Conclusion

This systematic review showed a tendency of higher recurrence or reoperation rates after groin hernia repairs performed by low-volume surgeons, and available data suggested that surgeons should perform at least 25 cases/year. Only one study reported on reoperation after umbilical and ventral hernia repair based on annual surgeon volume.

Strengths and limitations

A MeaSurement Tool to Assess systematic Reviews version 2 (AMSTAR 2) can be used to critically asses systematic reviews [97], and it includes 16 items, of which four items concern meta-analysis (item 11, 12, 14, and 15) which were not relevant for this systematic review since no meta-analyses were conducted. Overall, this systematic review was appraised to have moderate quality, meaning that the systematic review did not have any critical flaws but more than one non-critical weakness. A strength to this systematic review was that a protocol was uploaded to PROSPERO [98] before data extraction began (AMSTAR 2, item 2), thus

minimizing the risk of reporting bias. The search strategy was developed in cooperation with an information specialist, we searched three databases, and the exact search strategy was stated in the systematic review. The search was conducted within one year of the completion and publication of the systematic review, ensuring that the systematic review reflected the current published literature. Furthermore, we conducted a search of all included records' references, identifying records in obscure locations [65]. To further widen the search strategy, we could have searched trial and study registries or grey literature (AMSTAR 2, item 4). In addition, we could have performed a forward citation search by screening records citing the records included in this systematic review to widen the search strategy [99]. The data extraction was performed by one author, using a predefined Excel sheet, however, according to AMSTAR 2 the data extraction should be performed independently by two reviewers (AMSTAR 2, item 6). However, the data extraction was performed twice by the same author, ensuring accuracy of the extracted data. Funding of the included studies was not extracted (AMSTAR 2, item 10) since this item was not included in the PRISMA statement before the updated 2020 statement [58] which was published shortly after our systematic review [1]. Funding is important to assess since the sources of funding might affect the reporting of the results in studies eligible for inclusion in systematic reviews. Studies sponsored by pharmaceutical, medical devices, or other forms of industry often have more favorable efficacy results compared with non-industry funded studies. Differences in efficacy results due to sources of funding are rarely detected in risk of bias assessments. Furthermore, industry sponsored studies often have less agreement between the results and conclusions, known as Industry Sponsorship Bias [100]. The exposures in our systematic review were annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience which was most likely not affected by funding. However, materials used and outcome assessment in the included studies could be affected by funding source.

The published systematic review does not contain any meta-analyses due to considerable statistical heterogeneity. This was assessed for the three studies [101–103] that allowed us to group patients by annual surgeon volume, using 25 cases/year as cut-off, since this was the most frequently used volume cut-off in all the included studies. Upon revisiting the included studies of the systematic review after its publication, we tried to assess if it would be possible to conduct any meta-analyses assessing prevalence of recurrence for low-, medium-, and high-volume surgeons, respectively after groin hernia repair. However, we deemed that the methodological heterogeneity of the included studies was too high due to variations in follow-up times from 12–72 months [102,104]. Since recurrence rate also depends on follow-up time [105], results of a meta-analysis of studies with varying follow-up times could be misleading since studies

with a longer follow-up time most likely have a higher recurrence rate. There was also a wide range of how the outcome recurrence was reported in the included studies ranging from patient reported symptoms of recurrence to reoperation for recurrence. Since clinical recurrence is approximately 40% higher than reoperation rate for groin hernias [16], we deemed that these outcome measures were not comparable across the included studies. Furthermore, the varying reporting of annual surgeon volume categories across the included studies made it difficult to compare volume categories. This methodological heterogeneity could be explored with sensitivity analyses, however, we deemed that it would not be meaningful here since our systematic review included few studies, and since we decided against conducting meta-analyses.

Study II: Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study [2]

Background and aim

We found that high annual surgeon volume was associated with lower recurrence rates after groin hernia repair through our systematic review [1]. However, this has not previously been investigated in a nationwide cohort including both private and public health care providers.

The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of annual surgeon volume on reoperation rates for recurrence after primary groin hernia repair in a nationwide setting.

Methods

This was a nationwide register-based study based on prospectively collected data on groin hernia repairs from the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database [80] linked with data on surgeons from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [85] via surgeons' unique authorization ID. The study period ran from January 2011 to January 2020. However, authorization ID, used to calculate annual surgeon volume did not become a required entry in the Inguinal Hernia Database until 2016. Patients were followed until reoperation, death, or the end of the study period. Reoperation was defined as an operation due to a hernia recurrence for a groin hernia on the same side, following the index operation. Data were restructured, allowing us to consider groin hernia repairs for inclusion. Eligible groin hernia repairs were elective and emergency primary inguinal or femoral hernia repairs performed in adult patients operated with Lichtenstein or a laparoscopic TAPP approach. Since Lichtenstein technique is the most common approach for laparoscopic groin

hernia repair in our study population [106]. We excluded patients who had emigrated during the study period or had residence outside of Denmark. Eligibility criteria for surgeons were a valid entry of authorization ID that had been registered ≤ 2 times in the study period. The primary outcome was reoperation rate due to recurrence divided by annual surgeon volume categorized into ≤ 10 , 11-25, 26-50, 50-100, and ≥ 100 cases/year. Risks of reoperation for recurrence based on annual surgeon volume were assessed with Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for Lichtenstein and TAPP repair, respectively.

Results

This study included 9,898 groin hernia repairs in the Lichtenstein cohort performed by 546 surgeons, and 15,362 groin hernia repairs in the TAPP cohort performed by 331 surgeons. In the Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP cohort, the crude reoperation rates were 2.6% and 2.2%, respectively. The median (IQR) time to follow-up was 24 (13–34) months in the Lichtenstein cohort and 22 (11–33) months in the TAPP cohort. In both the Lichtenstein and TAPP cohort, we found significantly increased risks of reoperation for lower volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons (see Table 2).

Annual surgeon volume (cases/year)	Hazard ratio	95% confidence interval
Lichtenstein repair*		
≤10	4.02	1.27-12.75
11–25	3.64	1.15-11.58
26–50	3.93	1.22-12.64
51-100	4.30	1.27-14.54
>100	1	
TAPP repair ⁺		
≤10	1.89	1.29-2.77
11–25	2.08	1.43-3.01
26–50	1.80	1.25-2.59
51-100	1.58	1.11-2.24
>100	1	

 Table 2. Adjusted risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein and TransAbdominal PrePeritoneal (TAPP) laparoscopic primary groin

 hernia repair. *Cox regression adjusted for patients' age, sex, type of hernia, defect size according to the European Hernia Society

 classification [11], and method of anaesthesia. †Cox regression adjusted for patients' age, sex, type of hernia, and defect size.

 Adapted from study II [2].

Conclusion

We found a significantly higher risk of reoperation due to recurrence after primary groin hernia repairs performed by low- and medium-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons after both Lichtenstein and TAPP primary groin hernia repair.

Strengths and limitations

This study is strengthened by the inclusion of groin hernia repairs from the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database, which is nationwide and includes patients operated in both the public and private health sector. Between 2016 and 2020 the national registration rate in the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database was approximately 90% [107–110], thus, reflecting a fully representative cohort. The Danish Inguinal Hernia Database contains prospectively collected data, and there are limitations to consider when using prospective databases for a retrospective study design. The data collected in clinical databases are not collected for research of specific outcomes, therefore the data availability is limited [111]. E.g., we used reoperation as proxy for the recurrence rate as the primary outcome, and since the clinical recurrence rate is approximately 40% higher than the reoperation rate [16] this could lead to an underestimation of the actual recurrence rate. There may also be unrecognized differences in baseline characteristics, or confounders [111], such as smoking and Body Mass Index (BMI) that seem to be associated with an increased risk of recurrence after inguinal hernia repair [20]. Due to the retrospective design of this study, it was not possible to adjust for these factors since they are not available in the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database. There are also several strengths to a retrospective study design. It enables researchers to include many patients in one study. Retrospective studies like this study comes with a risk of loss to follow up. However, this study had nearly 100% follow-up rate since the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database also draws data from the Danish National Patient Registry [78], retrieving groin hernia repairs and reoperations that were not entered manually in the database. Furthermore, the database also includes data from the Danish Civil Registration System [79], allowing us to identify patients who emigrated or had residence outside of Denmark.

We included groin hernia repairs performed from November 2011 until January 2020. However, authorization ID did not become a required entry in the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database until 2016, resulting in an effective study period from 2016 and onward. In this study, we excluded surgeons if their authorization IDs only figured ≤ 2 times in the database since we deemed it unlikely that one surgeon would perform ≤ 2 hernia repairs in the whole study period, and we assumed that these entries were incorrect. Since then, we realized this was unnecessary because we cannot know where included surgeons were in their career or training when they entered our study period. If surgeons entered late in our study period, they might have performed less than two groin hernia repairs, resulting in less than two registrations of their authorization ID. We calculated annual surgeon volume as a dynamic variable. However, this was not possible during the first year that the individual surgeons figured in the database, and annual surgeon

volume during the first year was defined as the number of procedures during the first year. To see if including annual surgeon volume calculated for the calendar year (i.e., not dynamic) would change the outcome, we conducted sensitivity analyses only including repairs where it was possible to calculate annual surgeon volume as a dynamic variable. The increased risk of reoperation after groin hernia repair based on annual surgeon volume was significant in the 26–50 and 51–100 volume categories of the Lichtenstein cohort and the 26–50 volume categories in the laparoscopic TAPP cohort compared with high-volume surgeons [2]. However, fewer observations were included in the sensitivity analyses, leading to an increased risk of a statistical type II error in the sensitivity analyses. The outcome of interest was reoperation after primary groin hernia due to recurrence, and we assured that this outcome was not present at inclusion by excluding recurrent groin hernias. Furthermore, we conducted a "look back" from the implementation of the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database, identifying groin hernia repairs preceded by a previous repair on the same side which were also excluded as recurrent groin hernias.

We did not use descriptive statistics to test for any differences in characteristics of groin hernia repairs across the volume categories, and we cannot deny differences in patient characteristics across the annual surgeon volume categories. However, relevant factors associated with recurrence were included and adjusted for in the Cox regressions and did therefore not affect the estimated risks of reoperation. We followed the patients until death, reoperation, or the end of the study period whilst excluding patients who had emigrated during the study period. However, these could have been included and censored in the Cox regression, at the time of emigration instead of excluding them. This only accounts for approximately 150 groin hernia repairs which would not impact the results of the study. Since the Cox regression allows to censor cases at the date of emigration, it would have been just as correct to include these groin hernia repairs in the study and have them censored in the Cox regressions, allowing the emigrated patients to contribute with time-at-risk to the main analyses. In this study, we conducted several Cox regressions since there were five volume categories in the two cohorts, this multiple testing comes with a risk of type I errors. This risk could have been mitigated by adjusting for multiple testing with corrections such as the Bonferroni correction which reduces the *p*-value for statistical significance. However, the Bonferroni correction is considered stringent by many, and is not without risk of type II errors due to the more stringent significance level which in turn could lead to a false acceptance of the null hypothesis. Furthermore, the interpretation of the findings will depend on the number of tests performed with the Bonferroni correction [90]. Because of this, we decided against adjusting for multiple testing.

Study III: Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair: a nationwide register-based study [3]

Background and aim

Only one previously published study has investigated the effect of annual surgeon volume on reoperation rate after primary ventral hernia repair [96], however, their population was selected based on diagnostic codes which did not fully distinguish between primary and recurrent ventral hernias.

The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of annual surgeon volume on the reoperation rate for recurrence after primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair in a nationwide setting.

Methods

We included nationwide prospectively collected data from the Danish Ventral Hernia Database [81] on ventral hernia repairs and data on surgeons were obtained from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [85]. The study period went from January 2011 to January 2020. Patients were followed until death, reoperation, emigration, or the end of the study period. Reoperation was defined as a hernia registered as a reoperation or a subsequent ventral hernia repair. We included elective and emergency primary umbilical or epigastric hernia repairs in adult patients operated with open or laparoscopic approach. Patients were excluded based on operative specific characteristics, such as use of component separation, resorbable mesh types, and Physiomesh® since this mesh was withdrawn due to an increased risk of recurrence [112]. Surgeons were included if there was a registered valid authorization ID. The primary outcome was recurrence related reoperation rate based on annual surgeon volume. Annual surgeon volume was categorized into ≤ 9 , 10–19, 20–29, and ≥ 30 cases/year [96]. The repairs were analyzed as three separate cohorts, depending on the surgical approach: open mesh, open nonmesh, and laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair cohort. Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses were used to assess risks of reoperation due to recurrence after primary ventral hernia repair based on annual surgeon volume separately for the three cohorts.

Results

This cohort study included 4,138 patients in the open mesh cohort operated by 592 surgeons, 2,201 patients in the open non-mesh cohort operated by 514 surgeons, and 1,529 patients in the laparoscopic cohort operated by 209 surgeons. The crude reoperation rates in the open mesh, open non-mesh, and laparoscopic cohorts were 2.0%, 4.7%, and 2.4%, respectively. The median (IQR) time to follow-up was 19 (9–31) months in the open mesh cohort, 26 (13–35) months in the open non-mesh cohort, and 23 (13–33) months in the laparoscopic cohort. In the laparoscopic cohort, there was a significantly increased risk of reoperation (HR [95% CI]) after primary ventral repairs performed by surgeons with an annual volume of ≤ 9 (6.57 [1.63–26.46]), 10–19 (6.58 [1.53–28.22]), and 20–29 (13.59 [3.05–60.61]) compared with \geq 30 cases/year. The risk of reoperation was adjusted for elective versus emergency repair, mesh placement, and type of tacks used. The cumulative risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Kaplan-Meier plot depicting the cumulative reoperation rates along with the number at risk after laparoscopic repair of primary umbilical and epigastric hernias divided by annual surgeon volume (p = 0.070). Reproduced with permission from Wolters Kluwer [3].

Conclusion

This study showed an increased risk of recurrence related reoperation after laparoscopic repair of primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs performed by low- and medium-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons.

Strengths and limitations

This study included data from the Danish Ventral Hernia Database which has nationwide coverage. The national registration rate between 2016 and 2020 was approximately 80% across the public and private health sector [107–110], resulting in an almost fully representative cohort. We included primary umbilical and epigastric hernias, whilst excluding incisional hernia repairs which strengthened the results of this study since primary and incisional hernia vary in surgical management, as well as postoperative outcomes such as recurrence-related reoperation rate. Thus, pooling primary and incisional ventral hernias in the same analyses can lead to skewed results [35,113]. The previously published guidelines regarding management of ventral hernias have included both primary and incisional ventral hernia repairs [114,115]. A more recent guideline for the management of primary umbilical and epigastric hernia was published in 2020 [13]. However, the evidence of this guideline is still limited by the available literature since many studies are still pooling primary and incisional ventral hernia repairs. We also conducted a "look back" in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database to identify ventral hernia repairs followed by subsequent repairs which were defined as reoperations and thus, excluded. We followed patients until death, emigration, reoperation, or the end of the study period, and the follow-up rate was close to 100% since the Danish Ventral Hernia Database also draws data from the Danish National Patient Registry [78] and the Danish Civil Registration System [79]. In this study, we included patients who emigrated after their hernia repair by censoring them in the Cox regression at time of emigration, thus allowing the emigrated patients to contribute with time-atrisk to the analyses. The median time to follow-up in the laparoscopic, open mesh, and open nonmesh cohorts were 23, 19, and 26 months, respectively. A previous study showed that approximately 80% of recurrences after ventral hernia repair occurred during the first two years [116] and thus, we can assume that the majority of recurrences occurred during our follow-up period.

We included ventral hernia repairs performed from January 2011 until January 2020. However, authorization ID did not become a required entry in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database until 2016, leading to an effective study period from 2016–2020 where the majority of the included ventral hernia repairs were performed (98%). Between 2011 and 2016, there were 166 (2%) ventral hernia repairs. This gives rise to a possible misclassification of annual surgeon volume category for these repairs, since far from all repairs were registered with authorization ID used to calculate annual surgeon volume, between 2011 and 2016. It was not possible to see how surgeons were misclassified in the 2% of the ventral hernia repairs, and therefore not possible to see if this was a question of differential or non-differential misclassification bias. This risk of misclassification bias could have been avoided altogether by excluding the repairs performed before 2016. In contrast to study II [2], we included all surgeons with a valid authorization ID registered in the Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [85], belonging to a medical doctor, in this study. This was a safe and robust definition of valid authorization ID and incorrect entries of authorization IDs were highly unlikely, allowing us to include surgeons who had just begun to perform ventral hernia repairs.

The primary outcome was analyzed with Cox regressions. In the laparoscopic cohort there were 36 events, thus, we chose to limit the number of included covariates in this Cox regression to four, so there was approximately one covariate for every ten events in the Cox regression for laparoscopic ventral hernia repair were annual surgeon volume, elective versus emergency repair, mesh placement, and type of tacks used. These covariates were chosen based on backwards stepwise elimination. Ideally, the Cox regression should also have been adjusted for patients' age and sex, BMI, smoking status, mesh overlap, and hernia defect size since these factors could also affect the risk of reoperation [23,24,27]. There was no significant relationship between the risk of reoperation and annual surgeon volume in the open mesh and open non-mesh cohorts, this could be because there is no clinical association. However, it could also be that the statistical power was not great enough to detect a significant difference due to type II errors.

Study IV: Risk of reoperation after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised residents [4]

Background and aim

The previous studies in this thesis showed a significantly higher risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein, laparoscopic TAPP primary groin hernia repair, and laparoscopic repair of primary ventral hernias performed by low-volume compared with high-volume surgeons [2,3]. Furthermore, many of the low-volume surgeons in our population were still in their residency, and we found it necessary to investigate how outcomes for patients were affected when hernia repairs were used with the purpose of surgical training. The aim of this study was to evaluate how the risk of reoperation was affected after primary groin, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repairs, when the repair was carried out by supervised trainees compared with specialists.

Methods

This nationwide register-based study was based on both the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases [80,81] and linked with data from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [85]. The study period went from January 2016 to September 16, 2021, where data were extracted. Patients were followed until reoperation, death, emigration, or the end of the study period. Reoperation was defined as an operation for a recurrent hernia of the same type and same location after the index operation. Data were restructured so we considered hernia repairs for inclusion and not patients. We included all surgeons with a valid authorization ID registered. We included elective primary inguinal, femoral, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repairs performed in adult patients with either open or laparoscopic approach, performed by supervised residents or specialists. The primary outcome was reoperation rate due to recurrence for supervised residents compared with specialists, defined as surgeons with specialty in gastrointestinal or general surgery and who were not supervised. Risk of reoperation for recurrence was assessed with Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses separately for Lichtenstein groin, TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repair, and covariates for the multivariate analyses were chosen upon a theory-based approach.

Results

We included 868 surgeons, performing 31,683 elective primary groin and 7,777 elective primary ventral hernia repairs. The adjusted Cox regression showed no significant changes in risk of reoperation (HR [95% CI]) after Lichtenstein primary groin (1.26 [0.99–1.59]), TAPP primary groin (1.01 [0.73–1.40]), open primary ventral (0.89 [0.61–1.29]), and laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair (2.96 [0.99–8.84]) performed by supervised residents compared with specialists. Conversion rates from laparoscopic to open approach during primary groin and primary ventral hernia repair, respectively, did not vary significantly between supervised residents and specialists.

Conclusion

We found that elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin and ventral hernias by supervised residents were not associated with significant changes in risks of reoperation due to

recurrence, indicating that it is safe for residents to perform elective hernia repair under supervision as part of the surgical training.

Strengths and limitations

In contrast to study II and III [2,3], this study only included repairs performed after 2016 where the supervision variable became a required entry in the Danish Hernia Databases. Thus, limiting selection bias because we did not know what led surgeons or residents to fill out the supervision variable before it became a required entry. This study included both primary groin and primary ventral hernia repairs and represents an extensive work since it required data from both the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases. It was relevant to assess both groin and ventral hernia repair in our population of surgeons since both are a part of the Danish surgical training curriculum [118], as other countries like USA [119]. We used reoperation due to recurrence as an outcome measure for long-term quality of hernia repair. Ventral hernia repairs performed concomitant to other procedures were excluded since these procedures were for the most part performed by specialists, thus not representative of the primary ventral hernia repairs carried out with a training purpose. Furthermore, there is no evidence on how resident-involvement impacts the outcomes after concomitant ventral hernia repair.

The covariates included in the Cox regressions for risk of reoperation were chosen theorybased on our specific research question [92] which reduced the risk of overfitting the models with too many covariates that did not in fact impact risk of reoperation which in turn could give misleading results in the models [117]. For both primary groin and open ventral hernia repair, we chose to adjust for patients' age and hernia defect size. Patients' age can affect the risk of reoperation since there are many factors to consider in older patients, making them more complicated [12,22], furthermore, surgeons are probably more likely not to reoperate older patients. Hernia defect size is a proven predictor for recurrence after open ventral hernia repair [24]. Hernia defect size has not been proven a risk factor for recurrence after groin hernia repair [20], however, techniques still vary depending on the defect size. The risk of reoperation after primary groin hernia repair was also adjusted for the type of groin hernia (inguinal lateral, medial, or femoral) since the type of groin hernia could affect the risk of recurrence [20]. Open ventral hernia repair was also adjusted for BMI and smoking status since increased BMI and active smoking status, independently, have been associated with an increased risk of recurrence [23,24]. Former smoking and active smoking status seem to have a similar cumulated risk of recurrence after ventral hernia repair [24]. However, the smoking status variable in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database does not allow this distinction since it is dichotomized into active or

non-active smoker, leading to a risk of differential misclassification bias of non-active smokers. Open ventral hernia repair was also adjusted for mesh versus no mesh since mesh repairs has a reduced risk of recurrence compared with sutured non-mesh repairs [25]. Laparoscopic ventral hernia repair was adjusted for defect closure since it has been associated with lower rates of recurrence [27], and only one covariate was included in this Cox regression since there were only 20 events in this cohort [93]. Through study I–III of this thesis we showed that annual surgeon volume also affects the risk of recurrence-related reoperation [1–3]. However, annual surgeon volume was not included in the analyses of this study because we deemed annual surgeon volume to be an effect modifier [120] since supervised residents more likely had a low volume while specialists more likely had a higher annual volume. To take annual surgeon volume to see the effects of different volume categories. However, it is uncertain that our study population included enough observations and events to reach sufficient statistical power had we chosen to stratify the Cox regressions in this study based on annual surgeon volume.

The importance of transparency in the reporting of supervision has been emphasized [121], however, this study was limited by the data availability in the Danish Hernia Databases and the dichotomized nature of the supervision variable. This allowed us to quantify supervision as the number of supervised residents. However, it did not allow us information on the quality of supervision like whether the supervising surgeon was a senior resident or specialist; if the supervising surgeon scrubbed in or not; or if the entire procedure or just critical points were supervised. The quality of supervision was outside the scope of this study, but it would be meaningful to assess the quality of supervision and the effects on the outcomes after primary hernia repair. Furthermore, we did not have access to information on whether specialists were assisted by residents and thus, it was not possible to assess the outcomes of resident-assisted hernia repairs although these repairs also make out a part of residents' training. Additionally, it would have been useful to assess residents' postgraduate year in this study since this term is used frequently as a measure of training level in the literature, and it would have increased the external validity of this study. However, we deemed that it was not possible to assess residents' postgraduate year since the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register only provides information on the date of graduation and specialization, and thus it was not possible to account for extensions of residency due to parental leave or other reasons.

Discussion

The studies in this thesis investigated how annual surgeon volume and supervision of residents affected the recurrence-related reoperation rate after primary groin and primary ventral hernia repair, respectively. We found that annual surgeon volume seemed to impact the recurrence and reoperation rates after both primary groin and ventral hernia repair in the previously published literature [1]. Through register-based studies, we found a significantly higher risk of recurrence-related reoperation after Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP repair of primary groin hernias [2] as well as laparoscopic repair of primary umbilical and epigastric hernias [3] performed by low-volume compared with high-volume surgeons. Lastly, we showed that supervised residents can perform elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin and ventral hernias without increased risk of reoperation compared with specialists [4].

Reoperation as outcome measure

Recurrence is often used as outcome measure for the surgical intervention in hernia repair [15], and it can be assessed by clinicians or the patients themselves. However, it is rather time consuming and costly to evaluate recurrence for each patient in large cohort studies. Therefore, reoperation is often used as a proxy for recurrence. Reoperation is practical to account for through registries such as the Danish Hernia Databases that are linked with the Danish National Patient Registry [78]. Yet, reoperation rates substantially underestimates the clinical recurrence rates after both groin and ventral hernia repair [16,17]. This could lead to an underestimation of the rates and risks of reoperation we found in studies II-IV [2-4]. If patients with recurrences who were not reoperated were equally distributed in the different volume categories, it would give rise to a non-differential misclassification bias which would not affect our rates or risks of reoperation. The time to follow-up was limited by study periods in studies II-IV [2-4] which in turn was limited by when authorization ID became a required entry in the Danish Hernia Databases. A previous study showed that patients had to be followed for 20-50 years before the majority of groin hernia recurrences had occurred [105]. Due to our relatively short follow-up period, it is likely that recurrences could occur in the future, possibly underestimating the relation between recurrence-related reoperation and annual surgeon volume. In our population, the median age of groin hernia patients was between 58–69 years [2,4], so even if our study population was followed for 20–50 additional years the reality is that most of the patients would probably have died or deemed too old for a reoperation. For ventral hernias, almost all

recurrences have occurred within four years [116] and, thus, the follow-up times for the ventral hernia repairs included in the studies of this thesis were sufficient [3,4].

Recurrence or reoperation are important outcome measures for surgeons and researchers as it also implies if the repair was successful. There are also other outcome measures after hernia repair to consider, and some outcomes might be more important or relevant to the patients undergoing hernia repair. This could be pain, physical impairment, physical appearance, social aspects, and satisfaction with surgeons and staff [122]. These outcomes could be evaluated with questionnaires, assessment by clinicians or investigators, or interviews, shedding light on the impacts on patients' quality of life, this would arguably be more time consuming and costly for researchers. In addition, a recent qualitative study showed that abdominal wall hernias have negative impacts on patients' mental health, causing psychological and emotional distress along with identity disruption [123]. However, mental health is an often-overlooked domain in quality of life in research. It is important to tailor research to also include factors important to the patients undergoing hernia repair with patient-centered outcome measures taking quality of life and chronic pain into account. The studies included in this thesis were limited by the data available in the Danish Hernia Databases, causing us to use reoperation for recurrence as the primary outcome measure.

Balancing surgical outcomes and training

Hernia repair is a common procedure [5,6] also with residents as the primary operator [124], and it is often part of the surgical training curriculum. Surgical training requires that residents learn skills by participating or assisting in procedures, gradually taking on more responsibility and continuously developing their practical skills while receiving supervision and feedback [125]. A persisting dilemma in the surgical specialties is how to balance patient outcomes and training, and although resident-involvement in general surgery has been associated with longer operation times, it is not necessarily associated with higher complication or mortality rates [126].

Study IV [4] of this thesis showed that supervised residents can safely perform elective repairs of primary groin and ventral hernias without increased risk of reoperation compared with specialists. This is in line with previous studies for open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair [127,128], and a more recent retrospective study showed that supervised trainees were not associated with higher rates of postoperative complications, recurrence, or chronic pain compared with consultants after TEP repair of groin hernia repairs [129]. However, the literature on the effects of supervision in primary ventral hernia repair is limited. A retrospective register-

based study showed that trainee involvement in laparoscopic repair did not lead to increased reoperation rates but was associated with significantly longer operative times compared with attendings alone, however they only included incisional hernias [130]. Another retrospective study found no differences in mortality and recurrence rates after incisional hernia repair performed by consultant-assisted trainees compared with consultants alone [131]. However, a large register-based study showed increased operative times and risks of reoperation associated with supervised trainees after open primary inguinal hernia repair compared with specialists [29]. Yet, as the authors point out, this implies the need for guidance of trainees to ensure they reach surgical autonomy and not that trainees should be excluded from partaking in open inguinal hernia repair. Study IV also showed that only approximately 8% of laparoscopic repairs of both primary groin and ventral hernias, respectively, were performed by supervised residents [4]. Similarly, a study found that despite increasing number of inguinal hernia repairs performed laparoscopically, resident involvement and autonomy has declined significantly [132] which is also the case in many other procedures commonly used in resident training [124]. This could pose a challenge, regarding the training potential in laparoscopic hernia repairs.

Ensuring optimal outcomes for patients whilst ensuring sufficient surgical training should continue to be a focus point, and supervision is a key point here. A Danish randomized study showed that a combination of a skills lab and 20 supervised Lichtenstein groin hernia repairs during the first year of surgical training led to shorter operation times and increased surgical proficiency and technical skills compared with a conventionally trained group [133]. This is encouraging, and underlines the beneficial effects of combining supervision with other teaching modalities, and the opportunities of simulation-based training to supplement traditional training in hernia repair are increasing [134]. Along with supervision, an adequate caseload is necessary for residents and surgeons to overcome the learning curves in hernia repair [13,33,34]. There are several national curricula in place to ensure adequate training and caseload during training programs. These curricula range from 10 competency evaluated groin and ventral hernia repairs in Denmark [118], 25 hernia repairs in Germany [135], 50 inguinal hernia repairs in the UK [136], to 85 groin and ventral repairs in USA [119]. Yet, it is unclear how these curricula are used in the clinical setting and if they are upheld. As one study of trainee logbooks showed, residents do not perform enough laparoscopic inguinal hernia repairs to overcome their learning curve in USA and Australia [137]. Additionally, it is unclear in most of the curricula if these repairs need to be supervised. In Denmark, the competency evaluated hernia repairs are supervised, still 10 supervised groin and ventral hernia repairs, respectively, are not sufficient to overcome most of the learning curves [13,33,34]. Although supervised residents can perform

hernia repair with safe patient outcomes, the reality is that residents might not achieve the required caseload of hernia repairs to overcome their learning curve. In combination with the increasing complexity of abdominal wall repair [138], it does not necessarily mean that residents can perform hernia repair independently after completing their residency.

Centralization of hernia repair

Centralization in this thesis refers to centralization on fewer surgeons since the studies included in this thesis underlines benefits of centralization of hernia repair on fewer surgeons [1-3]. A protective effect of high surgeon volume was also found in other procedures such as cholecystectomy, where high-volume surgeons were associated with shorter operative times and a lower risk of conversion from laparoscopic to open approach [38]. Low annual surgeon volume \leq 100 cases/year led to significantly increased risks of reoperation after open and laparoscopic repair of primary groins hernia compared with annual surgeon volume >100 cases/year [2]. Other studies, included in our systematic review [1], have also shown reduced risks of reoperation after groin hernia repairs performed by high-volume surgeons compared with lowvolume surgeons for both open [101,103,104] and laparoscopic [102–104,139] repairs. Since the publication of our systematic review a large cohort study has been published, investigating the risk of reoperation after inguinal hernia repair in association with surgeon volume [140]. This study found a significantly reduced risk of reoperation after laparoscopic inguinal hernia repairs performed by high-volume surgeons, with >27 annual repairs, compared with low-volume surgeons [140]. Thus, these findings show a similar pattern as our findings in studies I and II after laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair [1,2]. There were varying definitions of high annual surgeon volume from ≥ 25 [101,102] to ≥ 60 cases/year [104] in the existing literature, making it difficult to compare these high-volume groups with ours. When designing our annual volume categories for groin hernia repair in study II, we deemed it necessary to implement more categories to better evaluate the effects of annual surgeon volume. Interestingly, after open repair the crude reoperation rate seemed increased for surgeons with an annual volume of 26-50 and 51–100, whilst decreasing for annual volume >100 cases/year [2]. Differences like these are not apparent in the previous studies because of the volume category definitions, limiting the distinguishments of annual surgeon volume's effect on risk of recurrence. Perhaps this difference could be explained by differences in follow-up time across the volume categories, or perhaps there are other factors in play. Only one study had previously investigated the impact of annual surgeon volume on risk of reoperation after primary ventral hernia repair, and found reduced risk

of reoperation after primary ventral hernia repairs performed by high-volume surgeons compared with low-volume surgeons [96]. This is in line with our findings for laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair in study III [3], as we used the same volume categories to make it comparable. A more recent cohort study showed that a total high operative experience >100 procedures was associated with a reduced risk of recurrence after complex abdominal wall repair compared with low total experience, in a heterogenous cohort with both primary and recurrent ventral hernias [141]. However, we deliberately excluded complex ventral hernias in study III [3] since these were rare in our population and the surgical approach is different and more complex. Another large register-based study found a reduced risk of reoperation after incisional hernia repairs performed by high-volume compared with low-volume surgeons [142]. Again, these findings are not comparable with our study findings since we excluded incisional hernias [3].

Centralizing hernia repair would mean a centralization of the experience on fewer surgeons, thus allowing surgeons to reach and maintain a higher annual volume which could lead to better outcomes for patients, regarding risk of reoperation, as shown in this thesis [1-3]. Furthermore, high annual surgeon volume has been associated with shorter operative times in groin hernia repair [21,101,139] which in turn could reduce the risk of postoperative complications [21]. Thus, there is evidence supporting that centralization of hernia repairs would benefit patients by reducing unwanted complications. In addition, the complexity of abdominal wall repair is increasing [138], and centralization of hernia repairs would arguably also benefit surgeons performing hernia repairs. It would allow them to build and maintain the acquired annual volume to ensure better outcomes. The HerniaSurge Group's guidelines for groin hernia repair underlines the importance of specialization in hernia repair for both centers and surgeons to better postoperative outcomes for patients. However, the evidence was of low grade [12]. One study found that the variation in annual surgeon volume explained more variation in reoperation rates than the center volume after both inguinal and primary ventral hernia repair [96], thus an argument for centralization of hernia repair on surgeons rather than centers. The Accreditation and Certification Centers and Surgeons (ACCESS) group, appointed by the European Hernia Society, suggested that an accredited or certified hernia center should perform a significantly higher number of cases annually compared with the average general surgery department. The ACCESS Group also suggested that national societies develop requirements for a minimum center caseload, encouraging national societies to offer a minimum caseload to the individual surgeons based on the literature [143]. Based on the findings in this thesis, these minimum requirements would be 100 cases/year for Lichtenstein and TAPP primary groin hernia repair and 30 cases/year for laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair to reduce the risk of
reoperation [2,3]. The European Union of Medical Specialists (UEMS) has made it possible to become certified in abdominal wall repair for surgeons [144], requiring 200 inguinal, 50 ventral, and 50 incisional or complex hernia repairs [145]. However, it is not specified if this is in total over surgeons' carrier or if it is over a certain period, and it is questionable if it would be sufficient if the requirements refer to procedures performed throughout an entire carrier. In Denmark, there are currently no official guidelines for what constitutes a hernia specialist. Only parastomal hernias and giant hernias (hernia defect size >10 cm) are centralized on five specialized hernia centers, one in each of the five national regions [146]. After this centralization of parastomal hernia repair, more patients were offered surgery and the number of older patients and patients with larger defects who underwent surgery increased [147]. Although more complex patients underwent surgery for parastomal hernias, there was no increase in the risk of postoperative complications [147], indicating beneficial effects of centralization of parastomal hernia repair. A recent survey of members from the Americas Hernia Society showed varying choices in component separation and choice of mesh depending on surgeons' experience, indicating a need for national guidelines for hernia repair and specialized hernia care [148].

There are also impeding factors on the feasibility of centralization of general surgery procedures such as hernia repair. With centralization, training and education in hernia repair would be carried out by fewer surgeons, necessitating the fewer surgeons performing hernia repair to undertake the responsibility of education and training, also of external surgeons and residents [143]. Furthermore, centralization on fewer surgeons could lead to geographical challenges since it would require some patients to travel greater distances to reach a center with high-volume surgeons. Lastly, hernia repair is for the most performed electively, however, some patients present with acute indication for surgery due to incarcerated or strangulated hernia [149], and a study from the Danish Hernia Database showed high mortality and reoperation rates after emergency groin hernia repair [150]. It might be worth considering how emergency hernia repairs are handled if hernia repair is centralized. Neither the suggestions from the ACCESS Group [143] nor guidelines on certified hernia centers from Germany [151] consider emergency hernia repair. In our study population, low-volume surgeons operated significantly more emergency primary groin and ventral hernias compared with high-volume surgeons [2,3]. Published guidelines for both groin and ventral hernia repair suggest a patient-tailored approach in emergency repairs [12,13], and it seems fair to assume that a patient-tailored approach would require a high annual surgeon volume or high surgical experience. Therefore, it is worrisome that the majority of emergency hernia repairs were performed by lower volume surgeons [2,3].

36

Conclusion

This thesis investigated how surgical experience, measured as annual surgeon volume and supervision, affected the recurrence-related reoperation rate after hernia repair. We found a tendency of higher recurrence or reoperation rates after both groin and primary ventral hernia repairs performed by low- compared with high-volume surgeons in the existing literature. There was a higher risk of recurrence-related reoperation after open and laparoscopic primary groin, as well as laparoscopic primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs performed by lower volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons. Our findings suggest a beneficial effect of centralization of open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin hernia repair, as well as laparoscopic repair on fewer surgeons. Lastly, we found that elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin, umbilical, and epigastric hernias performed by supervised residents were not associated with higher risks of recurrence-related reoperation compared with specialists, indicating that supervised residents can safely perform hernia repair as part of their training.

Perspectives and future studies

Studies included in this thesis showed beneficial effects of centralization of hernia repair on fewer surgeons, regarding reoperation rates [1-3]. In Germany, it is possible to become a certified hernia center [151], and in Italy the first steps towards a hernia certification has been taken with a consensus of individual annual surgeon volume of >100 cases/year [152]. Is it time for national requirements or guidelines for hernia surgeons in Denmark? Perhaps national guidelines with a minimum required annual volume or accreditation of hernia surgeons might benefit and ensure adequate outcomes for patients, and it would allow surgeons to maintain a sufficient annual volume. There might also be a need for requirements of training and education of residents, even from external departments. However, national requirements for annual surgeon volume could mean that there would not be enough hernia repairs for all residents to overcome learning curves. We did not include the repairs where surgeons were the supervisor in the calculations of annual volume since this was not possible [2,3], thus we are unable to say how the risk of reoperation would be affected if the repairs performed as supervisor were included in the surgeon volume calculation. To our knowledge this has not yet been investigated in the existing literature. By introducing the benefits of centralization of hernia repair on fewer surgeons, it inevitably will raise the question of who has to learn how to perform

hernia repairs. Considering that residents are not meeting the required number of laparoscopic repairs, according to national curricula and to overcome their learning curves [137], outcomes after these repairs might have benefitted if they were performed by high-volume surgeons instead. The ACCESS Group appointed by the European Hernia Society has formulated requirements for certified hernia centers that national societies can use to formulate guidelines [143], however, these do not include requirements regarding emergency hernia repair. A questionnaire among Danish surgical departments performing emergency groin hernia surgery showed a mismatch between the wish and the possibilities of surgical departments' emergency teams to offer laparoscopic emergency groin hernia repair, partly due to surgeons' experience [153]. Guidelines from the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group state that surgical treatment of colon ileus should be performed with a specialized colorectal surgeon present [154], as specialized colorectal surgeons have been associated with lower risk of anastomotic dehiscence, postoperative complications, and mortality [155]. However, the literature on annual surgeon volume's effect on outcomes after emergency hernia repair is limited. A simulation study of the effect of hospital regionalization of emergency surgery showed a prevention of death in 8 out of 100 patients in umbilical hernia and 6 out of 100 patients in inguinal, femoral, and ventral hernia repair [156]. There are implications for further research investigating if there is a need for centralization of emergency hernia repair on fewer surgeons which could be carried out in registers like the Danish Hernia Database.

The primary outcome measure in the included studies of this thesis was reoperation due to recurrence. However, as discussed in this thesis, other outcomes might be more important to patients' well-being and mental health [122,123]. This implicates further research of the effects of annual surgeon volume and supervision on patient-centered and patient reported outcome measures for quality of life, including chronic pain to see if there would still be an effect of annual surgeon volume and supervision. This would entail patients filling out questionnaires. The Swedish Hernia Register includes patient reported outcome measures by sending out questionnaires to patients by mail one year after surgery [157], and a study from the Swedish Hernia Register actually showed a mismatch between registered postoperative complications in the register and complications reported by patients in questionnaires after groin hernia repair, resulting in underreporting of complications in the register [158]. One study from the Swedish Hernia Register found that low annual surgeon volume of ≤ 5 cases/year did not influence chronic pain significantly [159]. However, it is not possible to conclude if high annual surgeon volume is associated with a decreased or unchanged risk of chronic pain since the study did not report on high annual surgeon volume.

38

In this thesis, we showed the effects of supervision on reoperation rates [4]. However, it was not possible to investigate how residents were supervised through the Danish Hernia Database. A point for transparency in reporting of supervision has been made [121]. In theory, this could be achieved, even in register-based study designs with more thorough variables, providing information like who the primary operator was; authorization ID of the supervising surgeon which would give information about their experience; and a stratification or differentiation of the degree of supervision. Furthermore, variables allowing researchers to see if the repairs were assisted, and if yes, the assistant's authorization ID could be useful to see how residents are involved in repairs when they are not the primary operator. The studies in this thesis calculated annual volume based on repairs where the surgeon was the primary operator [2,3], but variables with information about assisting surgeons would have allowed us to take this into account in our annual volume calculations which could perhaps have been meaningful. Since the number of repairs where surgeons assisted might also affect their experience and the outcomes measured after hernia repair. Other steps to assess the quality of supervision in hernia repair through surveys, questionnaire, or interviews could be taken. It could be relevant to investigate if residents are receiving effective supervision, and what constitutes effective supervision in their eyes, and if supervisors feel they are giving effective supervision, and what they associate with good supervision. This would allow identification of potential mismatches between the perception of supervision between those being supervised and those supervising.

English summary

Background

Both groin and ventral hernia repairs are common procedures with 13–15,000 hernia repairs each year in Denmark. Primary inguinal hernia repair has a reoperation rate of 8% and the recurrence rate after primary ventral hernia repair has been reported as high as 15% in the Danish Hernia Database. There are many known risk factors for recurrence or reoperation after both primary groin and ventral hernia repair such as patients' age, body mass index, hernia defect size, use of mesh, and defect closure during laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. In addition, the operating surgeon's experience also seem to affect the risk of recurrence with a study showing a higher risk of recurrence after inguinal hernia repairs performed by unsupervised trainees. However, existing literature on the impact of surgeons' experience on the recurrence rate after hernia repair is limited and the evidence is of low grade. Thus, research investigating the effects of surgeons' experience on the risk of recurrence or reoperation after both groin and ventral hernia repair is needed.

The studies in this thesis investigated how annual surgeon volume and supervision affected the recurrence-related reoperation rates after primary groin and ventral hernia repairs.

Methods and results

This thesis includes four studies: a systematic review and three register-based studies, using data from the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases linked with data from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register. The patients included were adult patients undergoing open or laparoscopic repair of primary groin or ventral hernias. The primary outcome measure was reoperation for recurrence after hernia repair as a proxy for the recurrence rate.

Study I was a systematic review investigating how annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience affected outcomes after groin, as well as primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair, in the previous published literature. We included 10 records, based on seven studies. Five studies showed a tendency of higher recurrence or reoperation rate after groin hernia repairs performed by low-volume surgeons in comparison with high-volume surgeons. One study showed a decreased reoperation rate after primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair when performed by high-volume compared with low-volume surgeons.

Study II was a cohort study based on the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database that investigated the effects of annual surgeon volume on the reoperation rate for recurrence after primary groin

40

hernia repair. We found a higher risk of reoperation after primary groin hernia repairs performed by low- and medium-volume compared with high-volume surgeons for both Lichtenstein and laparoscopic groin hernia repair.

Study III was based on data from the Danish Ventral Hernia Database that investigated the effect of annual surgeon volume on the reoperation rate for recurrence after primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair. We found an increased risk of reoperation after laparoscopic repair of primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs performed by low- and medium-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons.

Study IV was based on data from the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases and evaluated how the risk of reoperation was affected after primary inguinal, femoral, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repairs, when the repairs were carried out by supervised residents compared with specialists. We found that elective open or laparoscopic repair of primary groin or ventral hernias by supervised residents was not associated with changes in the risk of reoperation due to recurrence.

Conclusion

Study I showed that a high annual surgeon volume seemed to reduce rates of recurrence and reoperation after both groin and primary ventral hernia repair in the previously published literature. Studies II and III showed that high-volume surgeons had lower risks of recurrence-related reoperation after open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin hernias, as well as laparoscopic primary umbilical and epigastric hernias. These findings indicate a need for centralization of primary hernia repair on fewer surgeons, allowing them to build and maintain a higher annual surgeon volume. Study IV showed that supervised residents can perform elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin and ventral hernias without increased risk of reoperation. This suggests that elective primary hernia repair can safely be part of residents' surgical training.

Dansk resumé

Baggrund

Både lyskenære og ventrale hernier er hyppigt forekommende hernier, og i Danmark opereres mellem 13–15.000 patienter årligt. Primære ingvinalhernier har en reoperationsrate på 8 %, mens recidivraten efter primære ventralhernier er 15 %. Der er flere kendte risikofaktorer for recidiv eller reoperation efter operation for både primære lyskenære og ventrale hernier, såsom patientens alder, vægt, herniedefektens størrelse, brug af mesh og suturlukning af herniedefekten under laparoskopi for ventralhernier. Derudover lader kirurgens erfaring også til at påvirke risikoen for reoperation for recidiv, da et tidligere studie fandt en øget risiko for recidiv efter ingvinalhernieoperationer udført af usuperviserede kirurger under uddannelse. Den eksisterende litteratur, om effekten af kirurgers erfaring på risikoen for recidiv, er dog begrænset. Derfor er der brug for studier, som undersøger hvordan kirurgers erfaring påvirker risikoen for recidiv efter operationer for både lyskenære og ventrale hernier.

Studierne i denne afhandling havde til formål at undersøge, hvordan kirurgers årlige operationsvolumen, samt supervision af kirurger under uddannelses, påvirkede reoperationsraten efter operationer af henholdsvis primære lyskenære og ventrale hernier.

Metoder og resultater

Denne afhandling indeholder fire studier: et systematisk review og tre registerbaserede kohorte studier, der inkluderede data fra dansk Herniedatabase, der blev koblet med data fra Sundhedsstyrelsens Autorisationsregister. Vi inkluderede voksne patienter, opereret for et primært lyskenært eller ventralt hernie med enten åben eller laparoskopisk teknik. Det primære endemål var reoperationsraten, der blev brugt som proxy for recidivraten.

Studie I var et systematisk review, der undersøgte, hvordan kirurgers årlige og samlede operationsvolumen påvirkede recidivraten efter operationer af både lyskenære og primære ventrale hernier, i tidligere publiceret litteratur. Vi inkluderede 10 videnskabelige artikler. Fem studier viste en tendens til højere recidivrate for lyskenære hernier opereret af kirurger med et lavt årligt operationsvolumen i forhold til et højt årligt operationsvolumen. Et studie viste en lavere reoperationsrate efter primære ventralhenier opereret af kirurger med et højt årligt operationsvolumen, sammenlignet med et lavt operationsvolumen.

Studie II var et kohortestudie baseret på data fra den danske Ingvinal Herniedatabase, der undersøgte hvordan kirurgers årlige operationsvolumen påvirkede risikoen for reoperation af primære lyskenære hernier. Vi fandt en signifikant højere risiko for reoperation, når de lyskenære hernier blev opereret af kirurger med lavt eller intermediært årligt operationsvolumen, sammenlignet med et højt operationsvolumen, for både åben og laparoskopisk teknik.

Studie III var baseret på data fra den danske Ventral Herniedatabase, og undersøgte effekten af kirurgers årlige operationsvolumen på den recidivrelaterede reoperationsrate efter kirurgi for primære ventrale hernier, det vil sige umbilikale og epigastrielle hernier. Vi fandt en øget risiko for reoperation efter laparoskopiske operationer af primære ventrale hernier udført af kirurger med et lavt eller intermediært årligt operationsvolumen, sammenlignet med et højt operationsvolumen.

Studie IV var baseret på data fra både den danske Ingvinale og Ventrale Herniedatabase, og vurderede risikoen for reoperation efter henholdsvis primære lyskenære og ventrale hernier, når operationen blev udført af superviserede uddannelseslæger sammenlignet med speciallæger i kirurgi. Dette studie viste, at elektive åbne og laparoskopiske operationer, for både primære lyskenære og ventrale hernier, udført af superviserede uddannelseslæger, ikke var associeret med øget risiko for reoperation sammenlignet med operationer udført af speciallæger.

Konklusion

Studie I viste, at et højt årligt operationsvolumen syntes at reducere recidiv- og reoperationsraten efter både lyskenære og primære ventrale hernieoperationer i den tidligere publicerede litteratur. Studie II og III viste, at kirurger med et højt årligt operationsvolumen var associeret med en lavere risiko for reoperation efter åben og laparoskopisk kirurgi af primære lyskenære hernier, samt laparoskopisk kirurgi af primære umbilikale og epigastrielle hernier. Dette indikerer et behov for centralisering af primær herniekirurgi på færre kirurgers hænder, så de kan opbygge og opretholde et højt årligt operationsvolumen. Studie IV viste, at superviserede uddannelseslæger kan udføre elektiv åben og laparoskopisk kirurgi af primære lyskenære og ventrale hernier uden øget risiko for reoperation, sammenlignet med speciallæger. Dette indikerer, at elektiv primær herniekirurgi kan indgå i den kirurgiske uddannelse, uden at medføre risici for patienter.

43

References

- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J et al. Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review. Hernia 2022;26:29–37.
- Christophersen C, Baker JJ, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study. Hernia 2021;25:1189–1197.
- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Baker JJ, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair: a nationwide register-based study. J Am Coll Surg 2021;233:346–356.
- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised residents. JAMA Surg 2023;158:359–367.
- 5. Primatesta P, Goldacre MJ. Inguinal hernia repair: incidence of elective and emergency surgery, readmission and mortality. Int J Epidemiol 1996;25:835–839.
- 6. Poulose BK, Shelton J, Phillips S, Moore D, Nealon W, Penson D et al. Epidemiology and cost of ventral hernia repair: making the case for hernia research. Hernia 2012;16:179–183.
- Dansk Herniedatabase. National årsrapport 2021. <u>https://www.herniedatabasen.dk/_files/ugd/02befe_a135fd2de6284553ae26f9c194559dcb.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Mahadevan V. Essential anatomy of the abdominal wall. In: LeBlanc KA, Kingsnorth A, Sanders DL (editors). Management of Abdominal Hernias 5th edition. Cham: Springer, 2018; pp. 31–58.
- 9. Muysoms FE, Miserez M, Berrevoet F, Campanelli G, Champault GG, Chelala E et al. Classification of primary and incisional abdominal wall hernias. Hernia 2009;13:407–414.
- Korenkov M, Paul A, Sauerland S, Neugebauer E, Arndt M, Chevrel JP et al. Classification and surgical treatment of incisional hernia. Results of an experts' meeting. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2001;386:65–73.
- Miserez M, Alexandre JH, Campanelli G, Corcione F, Cuccurullo D, Hidalgo M et al. The European Hernia Society groin hernia classication: simple and easy to remember. Hernia 2007;11:113–116.
- The Herniasurge Group. International guidelines for groin hernia management. Hernia 2018;22:1–165.

- Henriksen NA, Montgomery A, Kaufmann R, Berrevoet F, East B, Fischer J et al. Guidelines for treatment of umbilical and epigastric hernias from the European Hernia Society and Americas Hernia Society. Br J Surg 2020;107:171–190.
- Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Decreasing use of open procedures in elective inguinal hernia surgery. Laparosc Surg 2021;5:17.
- Bhangu A, Singh P, Pinkney T, Blazeby JM et al. A detailed analysis of outcome reporting from randomised controlled trials and meta-analyses of inguinal hernia repair. Hernia 2015;19:65–75.
- Kald A, Nilsson E, Anderberg B, Bragmark M, Engström P, Gunnarsson U et al. Reoperation as surrogate endpoint in hernia surgery. A three year follow-up of 1565 herniorrhaphies. Eur J Surg 1998;164:45–50.
- Helgstrand F, Rosenberg J, Kehlet H, Strandfelt P, Bisgaard T. Reoperation versus clinical recurrence rate after ventral hernia repair. Ann Surg 2012;256:955–958.
- Lydeking L, Johansen N, Oehlenschläger J, Bay-Nielsen M, Bisgaard T. Re-recurrence and pain 12 years after laparoscopic transabdominal preperitoneal (TAPP) or Lichtenstein's repair for a recurrent inguinal hernia: a multi-centre single-blinded randomised clinical trial. Hernia 2020;24:787–792.
- 19. Kehlet H, Bay-Nielsen M. Nationwide quality improvement of groin hernia repair from the Danish Hernia Database of 87,840 patients from 1998 to 2005. Hernia 2008;12:1–7.
- Burcharth J, Pommergaard H-C, Bisgaard T, Rosenberg J. Patient-related risk factors for recurrence after inguinal hernia repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Surg Innov 2015;22:303–317.
- van der Linden W, Warg A, Nordin P. National register study of operating time and outcome in hernia repair. Arch Surg 2011;146:1198–1203.
- 22. Hamilton J, Kushner B, Holden S, Holden T. Age-related risk factors in ventral hernia repairs: a review and call to action. J Surg Res 2021;266:180–191.
- Parker SG, Mallett S, Quinn L, Wood CPJ, Boulton RW, Jamshaid S et al. Identifying predictors of ventral hernia recurrence: systematic review and meta-analysis. BJS Open 2021;5:zraa071.
- 24. Donovan K, Denham M, Kuchta K, Denham W, Linn JG, Haggerty SP et al. Predictors for recurrence after open umbilical hernia repair in 979 patients. Surgery 2019;166:615–622.
- 25. Bisgaard T, Kaufmann R, Christoffersen M, Strandfelt P, Gluud LL. Lower risk of recurrence after mesh repair versus non-mesh sutured repair in open umbilical hernia repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Scand J Surg 2019;108:187–193.

- 26. Baker JJ, Öberg S, Rosenberg J. Reoperation for recurrence is affected by type of mesh in laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. Ann Surg 2023;277:335–342.
- 27. Nguyen DH, Nguyen MT, Askenasy EP, Kao LS, Liang MK. Primary fascial closure with laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: systematic review. World J Surg 2014;38:3097–3104.
- Niebuhr H, Köckerling F. Surgical risk factors for recurrence in inguinal hernia repair a review of the literature. Innov Surg Sci 2017;2:53–59.
- Lederhuber H, Hanßke B, Dahlstrand U. Impact of trainee participation on inguinal hernia repair outcome. Ann Surg 2019;274:e62–e69.
- Elsey EJ, Griffiths G, Humes DJ, West J. Meta-analysis of operative experiences of general surgery trainees during training. Br J Surg 2017;104:22–33.
- Elsey EJ, Griffiths G, West J, Humes DJ. Changing autonomy in operative experience through UK general surgery training: a national cohort study. Ann Surg 2019;269:399–406.
- 32. Kolb A, Kolb D. Experiential learning theory as a guide for experiential educators in higher education. Exp Learn Teach High Educ 2017;1:7–44.
- Köckerling F. What is the influence of simulation-based training courses, the learning curve, supervision, and surgeon volume on the outcome in hernia repair?-a systematic review. Front Surg 2018;5:57.
- Merola G, Cavallaro G, Iorio O, Frascio M, Pontecorvi E, Corcione F et al. Learning curve in open inguinal hernia repair: a quality improvement multicentre study about Lichtenstein technique. Hernia 2020;24:651–659.
- Köckerling F, Schug-Paß C, Adolf D, Reinpold W, Stechemesser B. Is pooled data analysis of ventral and incisional hernia repair acceptable? Front Surg 2015;2:15.
- 36. St. John AJ, Kim J, Ludeman EM, Blackburn KW, Brown RF, Kavic SM et al. Charting the future of competency-based surgical education: a systematic review of cumulative sum. Glob Surg Educ 2022;1:54.
- 37. Morche J, Mathes T, Pieper D. Relationship between surgeon volume and outcomes: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Syst Rev 2016;5:204.
- Blohm M, Sandblom G, Enochsson L, Hedberg M, Andersson M, Österberg J. Relationship between surgical volume and outcomes in elective and acute cholecystectomy: nationwide, observational study. Br J Surg 2023;110:353–361.
- Bouchard P, Demyttenaere S, Court O, Franco EL, Andalib A. Surgeon and hospital volume outcomes in bariatric surgery: a population-level study. Surg Obes Relat Dis 2020;16:674–681.

- Gani F, Cerullo M, Zhang XF, Canner JK, Conca-Cheng A, Hartzman AE et al. Effect of surgeon "experience" with laparoscopy on postoperative outcomes after colorectal surgery. Surgery 2017;162:880–890.
- 41. Neumayer L, Giobbie-Hurder A, Jonasson O, Fitzgibbons R, Dunlop D, Gibbs J et al. Open mesh versus laparoscopic mesh repair of inguinal hernia. N Engl J Med 2004;350:1819–1827.
- 42. World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA 2013;310:2191–2194.
- OCEBM Levels of Evidence Working Group. The Oxford 2011 levels of evidence. Oxford Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine. <u>http://www.cebm.net/index.aspx?o=5653</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 44. Hoffmann F, Allers K, Rombey T, Helbach, J, Hoffmann A, Mathes T et al. Nearly 80 systematic reviews were published each day: observational study on trends in epidemiology and reporting over the years 2000-2019. J Clin Epidemiol 2021;138:1–11.
- Suri H. Ethical considerations of conducting systematic reviews in educational research. In: Zawacki-Richter O, Kerres M, Bedenlier S et al. (editors). Systematic reviews in educational research. Wiesbaden: Springer, 2020.
- 46. Vergnes JN, Marchal-Sixou C, Nabet C, Maret D, Hamel O. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. J Med Ethics 2010;36:771–774.
- Fletcher R, Black B. Spin in scientific writing: scientific mischief and legal jeopardy. Med Law 2007;26:511–525.
- 48. Yavchitz A, Ravaud P, Altman D, Moher D, Hrobjartsson A, Lasserson T et al. A new classification of spin in systematic reviews and meta-analyses was developed and ranked according to the severity. J Clin Epidemiol 2016;75:56–65.
- 49. Booth A, Clarke M, Dooley G, Ghersi D, Moher D, Petticrew M et al. The nuts and bolts of PROSPERO: an international prospective register of systematic reviews. Syst Rev 2012;1:2.
- 50. OSF. <u>https://osf.io/?view_only=</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Nepogodiev D, Chapman SJ, Smart NJ, Pinkney TD. Meta-analysis protocols should be prospectively registered. Tech Coloproctol 2017;21:483–485.
- 52. Danish Data Protection Agency. When does the data protection regulation apply? <u>https://www.datatilsynet.dk/english/fundamental-concepts-/when-does-the-data-protection-regulation-apply-</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 53. Sundheds- og Ældreministeriet. Bekendtgørelse af lov om videnskabsetisk behandling af sundhedsvidenskabelige forskningsprojekter og sundhedsdatavidenskabelige forskningsprojekter. Lovtidende A 2020; §10.

- Sundheds- og Ældreministeriet. Bekendtgørelse om indberetning til godkendte kliniske kvalitetsdatabaser og videregivelse af data til Sundhedsdatastyrelsen. Lovtidende A 2018; §2–3.
- 55. Danmarks Statistik. Datasikkerhedsregler under mikrodataordningerne herunder regler for hjemsendelse af analyseresultater og sanktioner ved databrud. Forskningsservice 2022. <u>https://www.dst.dk/Site/Dst/SingleFiles/GetArchiveFile.aspx?fi=2486967504&fo=0&ext=for</u> <u>skning</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 56. Lasserson T, Thomas J, Higgins J. Chapter 1: Starting a review. In: Higgins J, Thomas J, Chandler J et al. (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3. Cochrane, 2022.
- 57. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009;6:e1000097.
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. PLoS Med 2021;18:e1003583.
- 59. Moher D. Reporting guidelines: doing better for readers. BMC Med 2018;16:233.
- 60. Schardt C, Adams MB, Owens T, Keitz S, Fontelo P. Utilization of the PICO framework to improve searching PubMed for clinical questions. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2007;7:16.
- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Outcome of ventral and inguinal hernia surgery in relation to surgeon volume: a systematic review. PROSPERO protocol 2020. <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42020176140</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Metzendorf MI. Why medical information specialists should routinely form part of teams producing high quality systematic reviews – a Cochrane perspective. J Eur Assoc Heal Inf Libr 2016;12:6–9.
- Lefebvre C, Glanville J, Briscoe S, Featherstone R, Littlewood A, Marshall C et al. Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Higgins J, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. (editors). Cochrane Handbook Systematic for Reviews of Interventions version 6.3. Cochrane, 2022.
- Bramer WM, Rethlefsen ML, Kleijnen J, Franco OH. Optimal database combinations for literature searches in systematic reviews: a prospective exploratory study. Syst Rev 2017;6:245.
- 65. Greenhalgh T, Peacock R. Effectiveness and efficiency of search methods in systematic reviews of complex evidence: audit of primary sources. Br Med J 2005;331:1064–1065.

- 66. Waffenschmidt S, Knelangen M, Sieben W, Bühn S, Pieper D. Single screening versus conventional double screening for study selection in systematic reviews: a methodological systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2019;19:132.
- 67. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. <u>http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Higgins J, Altman D, Sterne J. Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins J, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.1. Cochrane, 2011.
- 69. Deeks J, Higgins J, Altman D. Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins J, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3. Cochrane, 2022.
- 70. Wallace BC, Schmid CH, Lau J, Trikalinos TA. Meta-Analyst: software for meta-analysis of binary, continuous and diagnostic data. BMC Med Res Methodol 2009;9:80.
- Migliavaca CB, Stein C, Colpani V, Barker TH, Ziegelmann PK, Munn Z et al. Meta-analysis of prevalence: I2 statistic and how to deal with heterogeneity. Res Synth Methods 2022;13:363–367.
- 72. Sørensen HT, Lash TL, Rothman KJ. Beyond randomized controlled trials: a critical comparison of trials with nonrandomized studies. Hepatology 2006;44:1075–1082.
- 73. Booth CM, Tannock IF. Randomised controlled trials and population-based observational research: partners in the evolution of medical evidence. Br J Cancer 2014;110:551–555.
- 74. Morrato EH, Elias M, Gericke CA. Using population-based routine data for evidence-based health policy decisions: lessons from three examples of setting and evaluating national health policy in Australia, the UK and the USA. J Public Health 2007;29:463–471.
- Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, Harron K, Moher D, Peteresen I et al. The reporting of studies conducted using observational routinely-collected health data (RECORD) statement. PLoS Med 2015;12:e1001885.
- 76. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. PLoS Med 2007;4:e296.
- 77. Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Adelborg K, Adelborg K, Sundbøll J, Laugesen K et al. The Danish health care system and epidemiological research: from health care contacts to database records. Clin Epidemiol 2019;11:563–591.

- Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Sandegaard JL, Ehrenstein V, Pedersen L, Sørensen HT. The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. Clin Epidemiol 2015;7:449–490.
- 79. Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22–25.
- Friis-Andersen H, Bisgaard T. The Danish Inguinal Hernia Database. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:521–524.
- Helgstrand F, Jorgensen LN. The Danish Ventral Hernia Database a valuable tool for quality assessment and research. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:719–723.
- The Danish Clinical Quality Program National Clinical Registries (RKKP). <u>https://www.rkkp.dk/in-english/</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Rosenberg J, Friis-Andersen H, Jørgensen L, Andresen K. Variables in the Danish Hernia Databases: inguinal and ventral. Laparosc Surg 2021;5:30.
- 84. Helgstrand F, Tenma J, Rosenberg J, Kehlet H, Bisgaard T. High agreement between the Danish Ventral Hernia Database and hospital files. Dan Med J 2013;60:A4708.
- 85. Danish Patient Safety Authority. Information about the Online register. <u>https://en.stps.dk/en/health-professionals-and-authorities/online-register-registered-health-</u> professionals/information-about-the-online-register/ (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Vetter TR. Fundamentals of research data and variables: the devil is in the details. Anesth Analg 2017;125:1375–1380.
- 87. Bradburn MJ, Clark TG, Love SB, Altman DG. Survival analysis part II: multivariate data analysis an introduction to concepts and methods. Br J Cancer 2003;89:431–436.
- Rana R, Singhal R. Chi-square test and its application in hypothesis testing. J Pract Cardiovasc Sci 2015;1:69.
- Dinno A. Nonparametric pairwise multiple comparisons in independent groups using Dunn's test. Stata J 2015;15:292–300.
- 90. Perneger T V. What's wrong with Bonferroni adjustments. BMJ 1998;316:1236–1238.
- Pugh SL, Molinaro A. The nuts and bolts of hypothesis testing. Neurooncol Pract 2016;3:139–144.
- 92. Bradburn MJ, Clark TG, Love SB, Altman DG. Survival analysis part III: multivariate data analysis choosing a model and assessing its adequacy and fit. Br J Cancer 2003;89:605–611.
- Peduzzi P, Concato J, Feinstein AR, Holford TR. Importance of events per independent variable in proportional hazards regression analysis II. Accuracy and precision of regression estimates. J Clin Epidemiol 1995;48:1503–1510.

- 94. Clark TG, Bradburn MJ, Love SB, Altman DG. Survival analysis part IV: further concepts and methods in survival analysis. Br J Cancer 2003;89:781–786.
- 95. Brant JM, Visovsky C, Wei SH, Wickham R, Dudley WN, Coombs N. An introduction to survival statistics: Kaplan-Meier analysis. J Adv Pract Oncol 2016;7:91–100.
- Aquina CT, Fleming FJ, Becerra AZ, Xu Z, Hensley BJ, Noyes K et al. Explaining variation in ventral and inguinal hernia repair outcomes: a population-based analysis. Surgery 2017;162:628–639.
- 97. Shea BJ, Reeves BC, Wells G, Thuku M, Hamel C, Moran J et al. AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. BMJ 2017;358:j4008.
- 98. National Institute for Health Research. PROSPERO International prospective register of systematic reviews. <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 99. Hinde S, Spackman E. Bidirectional citation searching to completion: an exploration of literature searching methods. Pharmacoeconomics 2015;33:5–11.
- Lundh A, Lexchin J, Mintzes B, Schroll JB, Bero L. Industry sponsorship and research outcome. Cochrane database Syst Rev 2017;2:MR000033.
- 101. Aquina CT, Probst CP, Kelly KN, Iannuzzi JC, Noyes K, Fleming FJ et al. The pitfalls of inguinal herniorrhaphy: surgeon volume matters. Surgery 2015;158:736–746.
- 102. Köckerling F, Bittner R, Kraft B, Hukauf M, Kuthe A, Schug-Pass C. Does surgeon volume matter in the outcome of endoscopic inguinal hernia repair? Surg Endosc 2017;31:573–585.
- 103. Ramjist JK, Dossa F, Stukel TA, Urbach DR, Fu L, Baxter NN. Reoperation for inguinal hernia recurrence in Ontario: a population-based study. Hernia 2019;23:647–654.
- 104. El-Dhuwaib Y, Corless D, Emmett C, Deakin M, Slavin J. Laparoscopic versus open repair of inguinal hernia: a longitudinal cohort study. Surg Endosc 2013;27:936–945.
- 105. Köckerling F, Koch A, Lorenz R, Schug-Pass C, Stechemesser B, Reinpold W. How long do we need to follow-up our hernia patients to find the real recurrence rate? Front Surg 2015;2:24.
- 106. Andresen K, Friis-Andersen H, Rosenberg J. Laparoscopic repair of primary inguinal hernia performed in public hospitals or low-volume centers have increased risk of reoperation for recurrence. Surg Innov 2016;23:142–147.
- 107. Dansk Herniedatabase. National årsrapport 2016.
 <u>https://www.herniedatabasen.dk/_files/ugd/02befe_0a3cf443334f4576b21143d811ccb8fc.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).

- 108. Dansk Herniedatabase. National årsrapport 2017. <u>https://www.herniedatabasen.dk/_files/ugd/02befe_331a34a2a87a49b88f6c09658c584a3b.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 109. Dansk Herniedatabase. National årsrapport 2018. <u>https://www.herniedatabasen.dk/_files/ugd/02befe_f54afb11ab024a28b665bf06fe6f1f41.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 110. Dansk Herniedatabase. National årsrapport 2020.
 <u>https://www.herniedatabasen.dk/_files/ugd/02befe_ebc11de97ee249ca90900d6335821c11.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Talari K, Goyal M. Retrospective studies utility and caveats. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2020;50:398–402.
- 112. Food and Drug Administration. Ethicon voluntarily withdraws Physiomesh. FDA News 2016. <u>https://www.fdanews.com/articles/177311-ethicon-voluntarily-withdraws-physiomesh</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 113. Stabilini C, Cavallaro G, Dolce P, Capoccia GS, Corcione F, Frascio M et al. Pooled data analysis of primary ventral (PVH) and incisional hernia (IH) repair is no more acceptable: results of a systematic review and metanalysis of current literature. Hernia 2019;23:831–845.
- 114. Bittner R, Bingener-Casey J, Dietz U, Fabian M, Ferzli GS, Fortelny RH et al. Guidelines for laparoscopic treatment of ventral and incisional abdominal wall hernias (International Endohernia Society (IEHS)-part 1. Surg Endosc 2014;28:2–29.
- 115. Earle D, Roth S, Saber A, Haggerty S, Bradley JF, Fanelli R et al. Guidelines for laparoscopic ventral hernia repair a SAGES publication. SAGES Guidelines Committee 2016. <u>https://www.sages.org/publications/guidelines/guidelines-for-laparoscopic-ventral-hernia-repair/</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 116. Singhal V, Szeto P, VanderMeer TJ, Cagir B. Ventral hernia repair: outcomes change with long-term follow-up. JSLS 2012;16:373–379.
- Steyerberg EW. Overfitting and optimism in prediction models. In: Gail M, Samet J, Singer B (editors). Clinical Prediction Models 2nd edition. Cham: Springer, 2019; pp. 95–112.
- 118. Yngre Danske Kirurger. Hoveduddannelse i kirurgi. <u>https://ydk.nu/kirurgi-uddannelsen/hoveduddannelse-i-kirurgi/</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Han D, Lamb DL. Review Committee for Surgery. ACGME 2019.
 https://www.acgme.org/globalassets/pfassets/presentations/surgeryrcupdate_march2019_aec.p
 df (Accessed June 1, 2023).

- 120. Corraini P, Olsen M, Pedersen L, Dekkers OM, Vandenbroucke JP. Effect modification, interaction and mediation: an overview of theoretical insights for clinical investigators. Clin Epidemiol 2017;9:331–338.
- 121. Terhune K. Supervision and transparency in resident training. JAMA Surg 2023;158:367.
- 122. Gram-Hanssen A, Laursen J, Zetner D, Rosenberg J. Postoperative outcomes that matter to patients undergoing inguinal hernia repair: a qualitative study. Surg Open Sci 2022;10:76–82.
- 123. Smith O, Mierzwinski M, McVey J, Chitsabesan P, Chintapatla S. Abdominal wall hernia and mental health: patients lived experiences and implications for patient care. Hernia 2023;27:55–62.
- 124. Kunac A, Oliver JB, McFarlane JL, Anjaria DJ. General surgical resident operative autonomy vs patient outcomes: are we compromising training without net benefit to hospitals or patients? J Surg Educ 2021;78:e174–e182.
- 125. Ericsson K. Deliberate practice and the acquisition and maintenance of expert performance in medicine and related domains. Acad Med 2004;79:S70–S81.
- 126. D'Souza N, Hashimoto DA, Gurusamy K, Aggarwal R. Comparative outcomes of resident vs attending performed surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Surg Educ 2016;73:391–399.
- 127. Robson AJ, Wallace CG, Sharma AK, Nixon SJ, Paterson-Brown S. Effects of training and supervision on recurrence rate after inguinal hernia repair. Br J Surg 2004;91:774–777.
- 128. Bökeler U, Schwarz J, Bittner R, Zacheja S, Smaxwil C. Teaching and training in laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair (TAPP): impact of the learning curve on patient outcome. Surg Endosc 2013;27:2886–2893.
- 129. Hannan E, Duggan W, Harding T, Brosnan C, Maguire D, Stafford AT et al. Laparoscopic totally extraperitoneal hernia repair performed by surgical trainees: overcoming the learning curve. ANZ J Surg 2021;91:2047–2053.
- 130. Ross SW, Oommen B, Kim M, Walters AL, Green JM, Heniford BT et al. A little slower, but just as good: postgraduate year resident versus attending outcomes in laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. Surg Endosc 2014;28:3092–3100.
- Khan OA, Lahiri S, Lahiri O, Monsell M, Agunloye V, Davies NA et al. Impact of training on outcomes following incisional hernia repair. Acta Chir Belg 2016;112:432–435.
- Sehat AJ, Oliver JB, Yu Y, Kunac A, Anjaria DJ. Increasing volume but declining resident autonomy in laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair: an inverse relationship. Surg Endosc 2023;37:3119–3126.

- Carlsen CG, Lindorff-Larsen K, Funch-Jensen P, Lund L, Konge L, Charles P. Module based training improves and sustains surgical skills: a randomised controlled trial. Hernia 2015;19:755–763.
- 134. Pelly T, Vance-Daniel J, Linder C. Characteristics of laparoscopic and open hernia repair simulation models: a systematic review. Hernia 2022;26:39–46.
- 135. Huber T, Richardsen I, Klinger C, Mille M, Roeth AA, Dörner J et al. See (n)one, do (n)one, teach (n)one: reality of surgical resident training in Germany. World J Surg 2020;44:2501–2510.
- ISCP. Intercollegiate Surgical Curriculum Programme. The new surgical curriculum for August 2021. <u>https://www.iscp.ac.uk/iscp/curriculum-2021/#heading_3</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 137. Giddings HL, Fenton-Lee D. Australian general surgical trainee experience with inguinal hernia surgery: a review of international training programmes and the learning curve. ANZ J Surg 2021;91:1138–1142.
- 138. Köckerling F, Sheen AJ, Berrevoet F, Campanelli G, Cuccurullo D, Fortelny R et al. The reality of general surgery training and increased complexity of abdominal wall hernia surgery. Hernia 2019;23:1081–1091.
- 139. Aljamal YN, Zendejas B, Gas BL, Ali SM, Heller SF, Kendrick ML et al. Annual surgeon volume and patient outcomes following laparoscopic totally extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repairs. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech 2016;26:92–98.
- 140. Spivak J, Chan PH, Prentice HA, Paxton EW, Brill ER. Mesh-based inguinal hernia repairs in an integrated healthcare system and surgeon and hospital volume: a cohort study of 110,808 patients from over a decade. Hernia 2023 May 6. Epub ahead of print.
- 141. Hassan AM, Shah NR, Asaad M, Kapur SK, Adelman DM, Clemens MW et al. Association between cumulative surgeon experience and long-term outcomes in complex abdominal wall reconstruction. Hernia 2023;27:583–592.
- 142. Aquina CT, Kelly KN, Probst CP, Iannuzzi JC, Noyes K, Langstein HN et al. Surgeon volume plays a significant role in outcomes and cost following open incisional hernia repair. J Gastrointest Surg 2014;19:100–110.
- 143. Köckerling F, Sheen AJ, Berrevoet F, Campanelli G, Cuccurullo D, Fortelny R et al. Accreditation and certification requirements for hernia centers and surgeons: the ACCESS project. Hernia 2019;23:185–203.
- European Hernia Society. UEMS. <u>https://www.europeanherniasociety.eu/uems</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).

- 145. UEMS & EBS: abdominal wall surgery working group. EBSQ eligibility requirements. <u>https://uemssurg.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/AW-Eligibility-requirements.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 146. Sundhedsstyrelsen. Specialeplan for kirurgi 2023. <u>https://www.sst.dk/da/viden/specialeplanlaegning/gaeldende-specialeplan/specialeplan-for-kirurgi</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- Helgstrand F, Henriksen NA. Outcomes of parastomal hernia repair after national centralization. Br J Surg 2022;110:60–66.
- 148. Podolsky D, Ghanem OM, Tunder K, Iqbal E, Novitsky YW. Current practices in complex abdominal wall reconstruction in the Americas: need for national guidelines? Surg Endosc 2022;36:4834–4838.
- Pastorino A, Alshuqayfi AA. Strangulated hernia. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing, 2022.
- 150. Sæter AH, Fonnes S, Rosenberg J, Andresen K. High complication and mortality rates after emergency groin hernia repair: a nationwide register-based cohort study. Hernia 2022;26:1131–1141.
- 151. Köckerling F, Berger D, Jost JO. What is a certified hernia center? The example of the German Hernia Society and German Society of General and Visceral Surgery. Front Surg 2014;1:26.
- 152. Stabilini C, Cavallaro G, Bocchi P, Campanelli G, Carlucci M, Ceci F et al. Defining the characteristics of certified hernia centers in Italy: the Italian society of hernia and abdominal wall surgery workgroup consensus on systematic reviews of the best available evidences. Int J Surg 2018;54:222–235.
- Sæter AH, Fonnes S, Rosenberg J, Andresen K. Organisation of emergency groin hernia surgery across Denmark. Dan Med J 2022;69:A02220125.
- 154. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG). Akut kirurgi behandling af colonileus og obstruktion. Version 1.0. Kliniske Retningslinjer på Kræftområdet 2018. <u>https://www.dmcg.dk/siteassets/kliniske-retningslinjer---skabeloner-og-vejledninger/kliniskeretningslinjer-opdelt-pa-dmcg/kolorektalcancer/akut-kirurgi-colonileus admgodk 051119.pdf</u> (Accessed June 1, 2023).
- 155. Biondo S, Kreisler E, Millan M, Fraccalvieri D, Golda T, Frago R et al. Impact of surgical specialization on emergency colorectal surgery outcomes. Arch Surg 2010;145:79–86.

- 156. Becher RD, Sukumar N, DeWane MP, Gill TM, Maung AA, Schuster KM et al. Regionalization of emergency general surgery operations: a simulation study. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 2020;88:366–371.
- 157. Olsson A, Sandblom G, Franneby U, Sondén A, Gunnarsson U, Dahlstrand U. Do postoperative complications correlate to chronic pain following inguinal hernia repair? A prospective cohort study from the Swedish Hernia Register. Hernia 2023;27:21–29.
- 158. Fränneby U, Sandblom G, Nyrén O, Nordin P, Gunnarsson U. Self-reported adverse events after groin hernia repair, a study based on a national register. Value Health 2008;11:927–932.
- 159. Jakobsson E, Lundström KJ, Holmberg H, De La Croix H, Nordin P. Chronic pain after groin hernia surgery in women: a patient-reported outcome study based on data from the Swedish Hernia Register. Ann Surg 2022;275:213–219.

Full-text studies included in the PhD thesis

- Study I Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review. Hernia 2022;26:29–37 [1].
- Study II Christophersen C, Baker JJ, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study. Hernia 2021;25:1189–1197 [2].
- Study III Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Baker JJ, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair: a nationwide register-based study. J Am Coll Surg 2021;233:346–356 [3].
- Study IV Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised residents. JAMA Surg 2023;158:359–367 [4].



Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review

C. Christophersen¹ · S. Fonnes¹ · K. Andresen¹ · J. Rosenberg¹

Received: 10 November 2020 / Accepted: 9 December 2020 / Published online: 6 January 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag France SAS part of Springer Nature 2021

Abstract

Purpose Hernia repair is a common procedure; however, an overview is lacking regarding the impact of annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience on the outcome of hernia repair. We aimed to explore the impact of annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience on outcomes of groin and primary ventral hernia repair.

Methods This systematic review followed the Prefered Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guideline. A protocol was registered at PROSPERO (CRD42020176140). PubMed, EMBASE, and Cochrane CENTRAL were searched. We investigated recurrence rates after groin and primary ventral hernia repair reported according to annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience with at least 6 months follow-up. Surgeons were pooled in three overlapping categories: high-volume (>50 cases/year), medium-volume (11–50 cases/year) and low-volume (\leq 25 cases/year). **Results** Ten records for groin hernia and one for primary ventral hernia were included. The median (range) recurrence rates after laparoscopic groin hernia repair for high, medium, and low-volume surgeons were 2.6% (2.3–3.0), 2.4% (0.7–4.6), and 4.2% (1.0–6.8), respectively. The median (range) recurrence rate after open groin hernia repair for high, medium, and low-volume surgeons were 2.1% (2.0–2.2), 1.7% (1.6–2.3), and 2.4% (2.2–5.0). The groin hernia recurrence rate seemed to increase when annual surgeon volume decreased below 25 cases/year. For primary ventral hernia, increased annual surgeon volume was associated with decreased reoperation rate.

Conclusion High-volume surgeons seemed to have lower rates of hernia recurrence after groin as well as primary ventral hernia repair and our data supports the need for centralization of groin hernia repair on individual surgeons.

Keywords Hernia · Surgeon volume · Surgical experience · Recurrence · Reoperation

Introduction

Groin hernia repair is a common procedure, and each year approximately 20 million groin hernias are repaired worldwide [1]. The reoperation rate for groin hernia is about 5% [2], and is often used as a proxy for surgical quality, however, the true recurrence rate is expected to be approximately 40% higher than the reoperation rate for groin hernia [3]. Likewise, only 30% of recurrences after umbilical and

Supplementary Material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-020-02359-4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

C. Christophersen christophersen.camilla@gmail.com epigastric hernia repair are reoperated [4]. There are many known risk factors for hernia recurrence. The patient-related risk factors include age, sex, BMI, and smoking status [5]. The surgeon related risk factors include the choice of surgical technique [6, 7], choice of mesh [8], and the duration of the operation [9]. Previous studies have shown that high annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience may have a beneficial impact on the duration of the operation, postoperative complication rate, and postoperative mortality for various procedures such as bariatric surgery [10], laparoscopic cholecystectomy [11], and pancreatic resection [12, 13]. Similar, the impact of total surgical experience on the outcome for groin hernia repair was studied in the Swedish Hernia Register [14], where surgical trainee involvement was shown to be a risk factor for recurrence-related reoperation. The literature on the relationship between annual surgeon volume and the recurrence rate after hernia repair is limited and a clear overview of the existing literature is

¹ Center for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Borgmester Ib Juuls Vej 1, 2730 Herlev, Denmark

needed. The HerniaSurge Group published international guidelines for groin hernia management that underlined the importance of guidelines regarding annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience. Thus, they have indicated that individual annual surgeon volume may be a more important factor for hernia repair outcome than hospital volume [15].

The aim of this systematic review was to explore the impact of annual surgeon volume and total surgical experience on the outcomes after groin, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repair.

Methods

This review was reported using the Prefered Reporting Items for Systematic Reviewas and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement [16]. A protocol was registered at the PROSPERO website (Registration number: CRD42020176140) prior to data extraction [17].

Eligibility criteria

The target population was patients undergoing surgery for groin hernia with the open Lichtenstein technique, laparoscopically with totally extraperitoneal repair (TEP) or transabdominal preperitoneal repair (TAPP), and patients undergoing surgery for primary umbilical or epigastric hernia using sutured or mesh-based repair, with open or laparoscopic technique. We compared surgeons who had a high annual surgeon volume or high total surgical experience in hernia repair with surgeons who had a low annual surgeon volume or low total surgical experience in hernia repair. The main outcome was recurrence with a minimum median follow-up of six months, which had to be reported for both high-volume and low-volume surgeons or experienced and inexperienced surgeons. Randomized clinical trials and observational studies were considered for inclusion, while systematic reviews and case series with data on less than five surgeons were excluded. Studies were also excluded if they had no measure of individual annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience. Furthermore, studies were excluded if the outcome of hernia repair was not reported based on annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience. Finally, only records in English and the Scandinavian languages were considered for inclusion.

Search strategy

We searched PubMed (1966–present), EMBASE (1974–present), and the Cochrane CENTRAL. The final search was conducted on 5th of March 2020. The search strategy in short was hernia and either annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience. The full search strategy in

PubMed was: (hernia) AND ("learning curve" OR surgeon volume* OR "surgeon's volume" OR surgical volume* OR operative volume* OR high-volume OR low-volume OR "repair volume" OR "surgeon's experience" OR surgical experience* OR "surgeon factors"). The search strategy was developed in cooperation with a professional research librarian and was modified to EMBASE and Cochrane CENTRAL [17]. Additionally, a snowball search of the included records' references was conducted [18].

Study selection and data extraction

Duplicate records were removed. The screening was carried out independently and in parallel by two reviewers. Initially, titles and abstracts were screened followed by a full-text screening. Disagreements on inclusion were resolved within the author group. Data were extracted twice from the included records by one of the reviewers into a predefined Excel spreadsheet in accordance with the PROSPERO protocol [17] and checked for accuracy.

The characteristics extracted from the included records were: authors, publication year, country, study design, number of patients, type of hernia, type of surgery, patient characteristics, the records' definition of high-, and lowvolume surgeons along with experienced and inexperienced surgeons, and for each of these groups the number of surgeons and repairs performed. Additionally, the outcomes extracted were the recurrence or reoperation rate along with data on follow-up, 30-day postoperative mortality rate, 30-day readmission rate, and 30-day postoperative complication rate converted and reported according to the Clavien-Dindo classification [19] when possible.

Risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias was assessed independently and in parallel by two reviewers, and conflicts were resolved within the author group. The bias of randomized controlled trials was assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool [20] on the following five domains: selection, performance, detection, attrition, and reporting bias. Furthermore, the trials were assessed for other sources of bias. The bias of non-randomized studies was assessed using the Newcastle–Ottawa scale [21], evaluating the studies on three domains: selection, comparability, and outcome. The studies were graded from zero to nine stars with a low number of stars indicating a high risk of bias and vice versa. To meet the requirement of adequacy the studies had to report a minimum median time to follow-up of 6 months. The bias evaluation was based on the research question of this systematic review.

Summary measures and synthesis of results

Estimates for pooled recurrence rates or reoperation rates were calculated for groin hernia, but no estimates were calculated for umbilical and epigastric hernia since there was only one available study. Because of heterogeneity among the studies on groin hernia no meta-analysis was conducted.

High-volume and low-volume surgeons

We aimed to map the difference in recurrence or reoperation rate between high- and low-volume surgeons. The cut-off values for annual surgeon volume varied across the included studies, and there were varying definitions of high-volume and low-volume surgeons. Furthermore, several studies included groups of surgeons with intermediate annual surgeon volumes, and therefore we introduced a medium-volume category. For each study, the annual surgeon volume was pooled into three categories based on the findings of the included studies: high-volume, medium-volume, and low-volume surgeons. This enabled us to compare the recurrence or reoperation rate in relation to annual surgeon volume across the included studies. We defined high-volume surgeons as surgeons performing > 50 cases/year and lowvolume surgeons as surgeons performing ≤ 25 cases/year, reflecting the general tendency in the definition and cut-off values across the studies. The medium-volume category was defined as a broad category to include the varying cut-off values for annual surgeon volume across the studies. The medium-volume category was defined as 11-50 cases/year. This resulted in an overlap between the medium and lowvolume category for annual surgeon volume since not all studies had a cut-off at 25 cases/year.

Recurrence and reoperation rate

The outcome measure in the included records varied since both recurrence and reoperation rates were reported, and the two were therefore used equally in this review. For each study we re-estimated the recurrence or reoperation rate based on annual surgeon volume, pooling the surgeons in the abovementioned volume categories. For each study, data on recurrence and reoperation rates were pooled for open and laparoscopic repair separately. When data were available, the total number of recurrences or reoperations were divided by the total number of patients treated by the respective groups of surgeons in each study, according to the abovementioned volume categories. This resulted in a pooled recurrence rate within each study, according to the abovementioned categories for annual surgeon volume defined in this review. However, if a pooled rate could not be re-estimated for a study, the median recurrence or reoperation rate was estimated for the respective groups of surgeons.

The median of the pooled recurrence and reoperation rates were calculated across the studies for open and laparoscopic repair separately and presented with the ranges for high, medium, and low-volume surgeons, respectively. No formal statistical comparisons were performed.

Results

Study selection

Three databases were searched resulting in 2,756 records, and a total of ten records were included in this review [22–31]. The study selection process is depicted in the PRISMA flowchart in Fig. 1. Due to overlapping study populations, there were seven studies [22, 24, 26–29, 31], reported in eight records [22, 24–29, 31] with unique patient data on groin hernia and one study with unique patient data on umbilical and epigastric hernia [30]. There were overlapping study populations in two records from a retrospective database [28, 30], two records based on the Swedish Hernia Register [24, 25], and one record [23] reported on a subgroup originating from the already included randomized controlled trial [22]. The duplicate data on patients [23, 25, 30] were omitted from the total number of patients in this review.

Risk of bias within studies

The included randomized clinical trial [22] was assessed to have a high risk of bias. The selection bias, detection bias, attrition bias, and reporting bias were assessed as low risk of bias, and the performance bias was assessed as unclear risk of bias. However, there were other concerns of bias in this trial due to their use of different mesh sizes [32] which most probably affected the recurrence rate, and this resulted in a high risk of bias (Online Resource 1). The Newcastle–Ottawa scale was used to assess the risk of bias in the remaining included studies, which is shown in Table 1, and the median score (range) was seven (5–8) stars. Overall, there was a low to medium risk of bias. The included studies rated high in the selection domain and outcome domain, giving them a low risk of bias, however, the studies rated low in the comparability domain, leading to a medium risk of bias.

Groin hernia

Study characteristics

The characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 1, and data on overlapping study populations were left out of the table. The definition of recurrent groin hernia varied across the included records as reoperation rate related





to recurrence [24, 25, 27, 28, 30, 31], patient-reported symptoms of recurrence [29], patient and surgeon reported symptoms [26], and recurrence diagnosed by a surgeon or during reoperation [22, 23]. The total number of unique patients who underwent groin hernia repair was 476,448 [22, 24, 26-29, 31]. Of the included patients, 474,465 [24, 26-29, 31] were from studies reporting on the annual surgeon volume (cases/year), and 1,983 patients [22] were from the trial reporting on total surgical experience (total number of cases). The included records had a minimum follow-up time of 12 months or a minimum median follow-up time of 42 months [29, 31]. Four of the seven studies with unique patient data specified the number of surgeons [26, 28, 29, 31], which was 3996 surgeons across these four studies. The remaining three studies with original patient data did not specify the number of groin hernia surgeons [22, 24, 27].

Annual surgeon volume

Data on recurrence or reoperation rate based on annual surgeon volume were pooled separately for five studies [26–29, 31] and are shown in Table 2. Pooled recurrence or reoperation rates were calculated for four studies [26, 28, 29, 31], while the median reoperation rate was used to pool the data from one study [27]. The recurrence rate and reoperation rate seemed to increase when annual surgeon volume decreased, giving high-volume surgeons a lower recurrence rate and low-volume surgeons a higher recurrence rate. This is depicted in Fig. 2. The increase in recurrence or reoperation rate was significant for open procedures in one study [28] and for laparoscopic procedures in three studies [26, 27, 29]. The median recurrence or reoperation rate (range) after laparoscopic repair for high-, medium-, and low-volume surgeons were 2.6% (2.3–3.0), 2.4% (0.7–4.6), and 4.2% (1.0–6.8), respectively. The median recurrence or reoperation rate (range) after open repair for high-, medium-, and low-volume surgeons were 2.1% (2.0–2.2), 1.7% (1.6–2.3), and 2.4% (2.0–2.6), respectively.

Total surgical experience

The effect of total surgical experience on recurrence rate after inguinal hernia repair was investigated in one unique study population but reported in two records [22, 23]. The recurrence rate after laparoscopic repair of primary inguinal hernia for experienced surgeons (> 250 total cases) and inexperienced surgeons (\leq 250 total cases) were 5.1% and 12.3%, respectively (p < 0.001). After open repair, the recurrence

Table 1 Characteristics of included records

Authors	Year	Country	Study period	Type of hernia (no. of repairs)		Type of repair (no.	Surgeon definition		NOS
						of repairs)	High-volume [cases/year]	Experi- enced [cases]	risk of bias ^a
Randomized control	led tria	l							
Neumayer et al. [22, 23] ^b	2004	USA	1999–2001	Inguinal (1,983)		Lap. (989) Open (994)	NR	>250	NA
Prospective cohort s	tudies					- · · ·			
Nordin et al. [24], van der Linden et al. [25] ^b	2008	Sweden	1996–2004	Inguinal (94,077)		Lap. (NR) Open (NR) Lap. (NR)	> 50	NR	6
				Femoral (2,324)		Dpen (NR)			
Köckerling et al. [26]	2016	Germany	2009–2014	Inguinal (16,290)		TAPP (NR) TEP (NR)	≥25	NR	7
Femo		Femoral (262) TAPP (TEP (N		TAPP (NR) TEP (NR)					
Retrospective cohori	t studie.	5							
El-Dhuwaib et al. [27]	2012	UK	2002–2004	Inguinal (125,342)		Lap. (8,108) Open (117,234)	>60	NR	6
Aquina et al. [28]	2015	USA	2001-2008	Inguinal (162,588)		Open (162,588)	≥25	NR	8
AlJamal et al. [29]	2016	USA	1995–2011	Inguinal (2,193) Pantaloon (174) Femoral (43)		TEP (2,410)	> 30	NR	5
Aquina et al. [30] ^b	2017	USA	2003–2009	Umbilical/ epigastric	(78, 267)	Lap. (10,326) Open (67, 941)	≥30	NR	8
Ramjist et al. [31]	2018	Canada	2003–2012	Inguinal (93,501)		Lap. (13,613) Open (79,888)	> 50	NR	7

Lap. Laparoscopic, NA not applicable, NR not reported, TAPP transabdominal preperitoneal inguinal hernia repair, TEP total extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repair

^aAccording to Newcastle–Ottawa Scale (NOS) [21]

^bRecords with duplicate data on study population with groin hernia which are not reported in this table

rate for experienced surgeons (>250 total cases) and inexperienced surgeons (\leq 250 total cases) were 4.1% and 2.5%, respectively (p = 0.12) [22]. The impact of the surgeons' age on the recurrence rate after the laparoscopic repair was also investigated in this study population [23]. The recurrence rate for experienced surgeons aged <45 years and \geq 45 years were 5.8% and 2.6%, while the recurrence rate for inexperienced surgeons aged <45 years were 3.4% and 18.3%. The differences in recurrence rate between the two age groups for both experienced and inexperienced surgeons were statistically significant (no *p* value reported).

Postoperative complications

Two included studies [26, 29] reported on postoperative complications in relation to annual surgeon volume after laparoscopic groin hernia repair. Postoperative complications were assessed and converted to Clavien–Dindo classification [19]. One study reported the rate of postoperative complications for Clavien–Dindo grade I–II for surgeons with <15 cases/year and > 30 cases/year being 36% and 13%, respectively (p < 0.0001) [29]. Meanwhile, another study reported that for surgeons with <25 cases/year and \geq 25 cases/year, the rate of postoperative complications for Clavien-Dindo grade I–II were 2.2% and 5.0%, respectively (p < 0.001) [26]. However, this difference was mainly due to the significantly lower seroma rate in low-volume surgeons since the large hernias and scrotal hernias were mainly operated on by experienced surgeons. The study found no significant difference in postoperative complications leading to reoperation.

Operation time

Three studies [25, 28, 29] reported on the operation time for groin hernia based on annual surgeon volume, which showed that higher annual surgeon volume led to a shorter **Table 2** Pooled recurrence andreoperation rates after groinhernia repair

Type of repair	Outcome definition	Pooled reope	Follow-up, months			
Study		High, > 50 cases/year	Medium, 11–50 cases/ year	Low, ≤25 cases/year		
Open repair						
[28]	Reoperation	NR	1.6	2.0	60	
[27]	Reoperation ^a	2.15	2.3	2.6	72	
[31]	Reoperation	2.0	1.7	2.4	66 ^b	
Laparoscopic re	pair					
[29]	Recurrence	NR	1.8	4.3	42 ^c , 47 ^d , 80 ^e	
[26]	Recurrence	NR	0.7	1.0	12	
[27]	Reoperation ^a	3.0	4.6	6.8	72	
[31]	Reoperation	2.3	3.0	4.1	66 ^b	

Recurrence or reoperation rate after groin hernia repair of the included studies pooled into annual surgeon volume categories: high, medium, and low annual volume

NR not reported

^aReoperation rate pooled by calculating the median reoperation rate for the respective annual volume categories in the study

^bMedian follow-up time

^cMedian follow-up for surgeons with < 15 cases/year

^dMedian follow-up for surgeons with 15–30 cases/year

^eMedian follow-up for surgeons with > 30 cases/year





operation time. Annual surgeon volume of < 25 cases/year led to longer operation times while an annual surgeon volume of > 50 cases/year was associated with shorter operation time, however, the type of surgery (open or laparoscopic) was not specified [25]. For unilateral laparoscopic groin hernia repair, annual surgeon volume of < 15 cases/year was associated with longer operation time (p = 0.008) [29]. For open inguinal hernia repair, surgeons with an annual volume of < 25 cases/year had an average duration of the operation that was approximately 30 min longer than the annual surgeon volume of \geq 25 cases/year [28]. No records were reported on the 30-day readmission rate and the 30-day postoperative mortality rate in relation to annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience.

Umbilical and epigastric hernia

One included study reported on umbilical and epigastric hernia [30]. This study included a total of 78,267 patients reported based on annual surgeon volume, and recurrence was defined as the reoperation rate. The total number of surgeons performing umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs was 2012 [30]. The characteristics of this study are shown in Table 1.

Annual surgeon volume of > 30 cases/year was associated with a lower reoperation rate of 7.7%, while annual surgeon volume of < 20 cases/year was associated with a greater reoperation rate of 10.3% (p < 0.0001) [30].

Discussion

This systematic review included ten records, of which seven had unique patient data on groin hernia repair, and one had unique patient data on umbilical and epigastric hernia repair. For groin hernia repair, the median recurrence or reoperation rate seemed to increase when annual surgeon volume decreased below 25 cases/year. Furthermore, increased annual surgeon volume was in three studies found to be associated with decreased operation time. The study on umbilical and epigastric hernia repair found that annual surgeon volume above 30 was associated with a significantly lower reoperation rate.

This systematic review has several strengths. The systematic search strategy was developed in cooperation with a research librarian, and a snowball search was conducted with the aim of identifying all relevant literature on the subject. This review followed the PRISMA guideline [16], ensuring transparency of the review's reporting. Furthermore, a predefined protocol was uploaded to PROSPERO [17] prior to data extraction, minimizing the risk of reporting bias and allowing comparison of predefined and reported items in the review. The screening of records and the risk of bias assessment were conducted independently and in parallel by two reviewers and discrepancies were resolved within the author group. Only data on unique study populations were reported in this review and overlapping data from included records were omitted. However, there were also limitations to this systematic review. Only records that reported on annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience were considered for inclusion. Records only reporting recurrence based on surgeons' level of training or surgeons' postgraduate year were excluded, as were records reporting on the caseload needed to overcome the learning curve for specific procedures. Records reporting on the surgical learning curve generally reported higher recurrence rates at the beginning of the learning curve, which dropped as the learning curve was achieved [33–35]. Although of relevance, this information did not allow us to follow the continuous relation between annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience and the long-term outcome after hernia repair. Limiting the included records to outcome based on annual surgeon volume or total surgical experience allowed for a somewhat uniform measurement, enabling us to assess the annual volume-outcome relation for surgeons, which was useful when assessing the surgical quality [36]. There was a risk of underestimating the actual recurrence rate in records reporting the reoperation rate [24, 27, 28, 30, 31], since not all recurrent groin, umbilical and epigastric hernias are reoperated [3, 4]. Furthermore, the records reporting recurrence rates based on patient or consultant reported symptoms [26, 29] perhaps underestimated the actual recurrence rate, since only symptomatic recurrent hernia were reported. The cut-off values and definitions for annual surgeon volume in the included studies varied as did the definition of high-volume surgeons, varying from > 60 cases/year [27] to ≥ 25 cases/year [26, 28]. This made it difficult to generate a clear cut-off value for annual surgeon volume across the included studies, leading to an overlap between the low and medium-volume categories in this review. To ensure standardized cut-off values for annual surgeon volume, future studies should include at least two cut-off values for annual surgeon volume, i.e. at \leq 25 cases/ year and at > 50 cases/year. The sole included randomized controlled trial [22] reported a high recurrence rate after laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair based on total surgical experience with an overall recurrence rate of 10% after two years. The high recurrence rate might have been due to the application of different and too small mesh sizes in the trial [32], leading to a high risk of bias assessment of the trial. The mean vertical dimension of the used meshes was smaller for patients with recurrence compared with patients without recurrence in the trial $(8.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ cm vs}. 8.5 \pm 1.3 \text{ cm},$ p < 0.001) [32]. For laparoscopic hernia repair the mesh size should be at least 10×15 cm [37] since smaller mesh sizes have been associated with a higher recurrence rate after groin hernia repair [38]. Thus, the high recurrence rate after laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair could not be explained solely by total surgical experience or lack thereof since it was most probably affected by the applied mesh size.

In conclusion, a higher annual surgeon volume was associated with a significantly lower recurrence rate and reoperation rate after groin hernia repair. The available data suggest that the individual surgeon should perform at least 25 groin hernia repairs per year. The definition of high-volume surgeons varied across the included records, and future studies should include standardized cut-off values for annual surgeon volume at ≤ 25 cases/year and > 50 cases/year and, additionally, maybe higher cut-off values can be included. After umbilical and epigastric repair, the available data also suggest a beneficial effect of increased annual surgeon volume on the long-term outcome suggesting that the individual surgeon should perform at least 30 repairs annually. However, only one included study reported on umbilical and epigastric hernia and the reoperation rate based on annual surgeon volume, and there are implications for further research on this subject. Overall, the data found in this review seem to support the centralization of groin hernia repair on individual surgeons to ensure a better long-term outcome.

Funding None.

Data availability Data can be obtained from the corresponding author by e-mail.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval Not applicable.

Human and animal rights Not applicable.

Informed consent Not applicable.

References

- LeBlanc KA, Kingsnorth A, Sanders DL (2018) Epidemiology and etiology of primary groin hernias. In: Stephenson BM (ed) Management of abdominal wall hernias, 5th edn. Springer, Cham, pp 59–77
- Burcharth J, Andresen K, Pommergaard HC et al (2014) Recurrence patterns of direct and indirect inguinal hernias in a nationwide population in Denmark. Surgery 155:173–177. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.surg.2013.06.006
- 3. Kald A, Nilsson E, Anderberg B et al (1998) Reoperation as surrogate endpoint in hernia surgery. A three year follow-up of 1565 herniorrhaphies. Eur J Surg 164:45–50. https://doi. org/10.1080/110241598750004940
- Helgstrand F, Rosenberg J, Kehlet H et al (2012) Reoperation versus clinical recurrence rate after ventral hernia repair. Ann Surg 256:955–958. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e318254f5b9
- Burcharth J, Pommergaard H-C, Bisgaard T, Rosenberg J (2015) Patient-related risk factors for recurrence after inguinal hernia repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Surg Innov 22:303–317. https://doi.org/10.1177/15533 50614552731
- Forbes SS, Eskicioglu C, McLeod RS, Okrainec A (2009) Metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials comparing open and laparoscopic ventral and incisional hernia repair with mesh. Br J Surg 96:851–858. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.6668
- Schmedt CG, Sauerland S, Bittner R (2005) Comparison of endoscopic procedures vs Lichtenstein and other open mesh techniques for inguinal hernia repair: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Surg Endosc 19:188–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-004-9126-0
- Zhong C, Wu B, Yang Z et al (2013) A meta-analysis comparing lightweight meshes with heavyweight meshes in Lichtenstein inguinal hernia repair. Surg Innov 20:24–31. https://doi. org/10.1177/1553350612463444
- Sandblom G, Sevonius D, Staël von Holstein C (2009) Impact of operative time and surgeon satisfaction on the long-term outcome of hernia repair. Hernia 13:581–583. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10029-009-0527-9
- Altieri MS, Pryor AD, Yang J et al (2019) Bariatric peri-operative outcomes are affected by annual procedure-specific surgeon volume. Surg Endosc 34:2474–2482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s0046 4-019-07048-7

- Abelson JS, Spiegel JD, Afaneh C et al (2017) Evaluating cumulative and annual surgeon volume in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surgery 161:611–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2016.08.027
- Mehta HB, Parmar AD, Adhikari D et al (2016) Relative impact of surgeon and hospital volume on operative mortality and complications following pancreatic resection in medicare patients. J Surg Res 204:326–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2016.05.008
- Birkmeyer JD, Stukel TA, Siewers AE et al (2003) Surgeon volume and operative mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med 349:2117–2127. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa035205
- Lederhuber H, Hanßke B, Dahlstrand U (2019) Impact of trainee participation on inguinal hernia repair outcome. Ann Surg. https ://doi.org/10.1097/sla.00000000003497
- Herniasurge Group (2018) International guidelines for groin hernia management. Hernia 22:1–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1002 9-017-1668-x
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG (2009) Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 6:e1000097. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J (2020) Outcome of ventral and inguinal hernia surgery in relation to surgeon volume: a systematic review. PROSPERO protocol. https ://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42 020176140. Accessed 9 November 2020
- Greenhalgh T, Peacock R (2005) Effectiveness and efficiency of search methods in systematic reviews of complex evidence: audit of primary sources. BMJ 331:1064–1065. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.38636.593461.68
- Clavien PA, Barkun J, De Oliveira ML et al (2009) The Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. Ann Surg 250:187–196. https://doi.org/10.1097/sla.0b013 e3181b13ca2
- Higgins JP, Altman DG, Sterne JA (2011) Assessing risk of bias in included studies. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of intervention, version 5.1.0. https://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/ chapter_8/8_assessing_risk_of_bias_in_included_studies.htm. Accessed 9 November 2020
- Wells G, Shea B, O'Connell D et al The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in metaanalyses. http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/ oxford.asp. Accessed 9 November 2020
- Neumayer L, Giobbie-Hurder A, Jonasson O et al (2004) Open mesh versus laparoscopic mesh repair of inguinal hernia. N Engl J Med 350:1819–1827. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa040093
- Neumayer LA, Gawande AA, Wang J et al (2005) Proficiency of surgeons in inguinal hernia repair: effect of experience and age. Ann Surg 242:344–348. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.00001 79644.02187.ea
- Nordin P, van der Linden W (2008) Volume of procedures and risk of recurrence after repair of groin hernia: national register study. BMJ 336:934–937. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.39525.514572.25
- Van Der Linden W, Warg A, Nordin P (2011) National register study of operating time and outcome in hernia repair. Arch Surg 146:1198–1203. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.2011.268
- Köckerling F, Bittner R, Kraft B et al (2017) Does surgeon volume matter in the outcome of endoscopic inguinal hernia repair? Surg Endosc 31:573–585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-016-5001-z
- El-Dhuwaib Y, Corless D, Emmett C et al (2013) Laparoscopic versus open repair of inguinal hernia: a longitudinal cohort study. Surg Endosc 27:936–945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s0046 4-012-2538-3
- Aquina CT, Probst CP, Kelly KN et al (2015) The pitfalls of inguinal herniorrhaphy: surgeon volume matters. Surgery 158:736– 746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.03.058

- Aljamal YN, Zendejas B, Gas BL et al (2016) Annual surgeon volume and patient outcomes following laparoscopic totally extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repairs. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech 26:92–98. https://doi.org/10.1089/lap.2015.0368
- Aquina CT, Fleming FJ, Becerra AZ et al (2017) Explaining variation in ventral and inguinal hernia repair outcomes: a populationbased analysis. Surgery 162:628–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. surg.2017.03.013
- Ramjist JK, Dossa F, Stukel TA et al (2019) Reoperation for inguinal hernia recurrence in Ontario: a population-based study. Hernia 23:647–654. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-018-1822-0
- Neumayer L, Giobbi-Hurder A, Jonasson O et al (2004) Open mesh versus laparoscopic mesh hernia repair (correspondence and the authors reply). N Engl J Med 351:1463–1465. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM200409303511422
- Lamb ADG, Robson AJ, Nixon SJ (2006) Recurrence after totally extra-peritoneal laparoscopic repair: implications for operative technique and surgical training. Surgeon 4:299–307. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1479-666x(06)80007-7
- Haidenberg J, Kendrick ML, Meile T, Farley DR (2003) Totally extraperitoneal (TEP) approach for inguinal hernia: the favorable learning curve for trainees. Curr Surg 60:65–68. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0149-7944(02)00657-8

- 35. Zendejas B, Onkendi EO, Brahmbhatt RD et al (2011) Long-term outcomes of laparoscopic totally extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repairs performed by supervised surgical trainees. Am J Surg 201:379–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.08.019
- Chowdhury MM, Dagash H, Pierro A (2007) A systematic review of the impact of volume of surgery and specialization on patient outcome. Br J Surg 94:145–161. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.5714
- 37. Rosenberg J, Bisgaard T, Kehlet H et al (2011) Danish Hernia Database recommendations for the management of inguinal and femoral hernia in adults. Dan Med Bull 58:C4243
- Heikkinen T, Bringman S, Ohtonen P et al (2004) Five-year outcome of laparoscopic and Lichtenstein hernioplasties. Surg Endosc Other Interv Tech 18:518–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-003-9119-4

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Supplementary Material 1 Risk of bias assessment of the included randomized controlled trial,

using Cochrane Risk of Bias tool



Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review. Hernia. Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Corresponding author: <u>Christophersen.camilla@gmail.com</u>

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study

C. Christophersen¹ · J. J. Baker¹ · S. Fonnes¹ · K. Andresen^{1,2} · J. Rosenberg^{1,2}

Received: 4 January 2021 / Accepted: 17 March 2021 / Published online: 9 April 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag France SAS, part of Springer Nature 2021

Abstract

Purpose Previous studies have shown a correlation between surgeons with high annual volume and better outcomes after various surgical procedures. However, the preexisting literature regarding groin hernia repair and annual surgeon volume is limited. The aim was to investigate how annual surgeon volume affected the reoperation rates for recurrence after primary groin hernia repair.

Methods This nationwide cohort study was based on data from the Danish Hernia Database and the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register. Patients \geq 18 years undergoing laparoscopic or Lichtenstein primary groin hernia repair between November 2011 and January 2020 were included. Annual surgeon volume was divided into five categories: \leq 10, 11–25, 26–50, 51–100, and > 100 cases/year.

Results We included 25,262 groin hernia repairs performed in 23,088 patients. The risk of reoperation for recurrence after Lichtenstein repair was significantly higher for the volume categories of ≤ 10 (HR 4.02), 11–25 (HR 3.64), 26–50 (HR 3.93), or 51–100 (HR 4.30), compared with the > 100 category. The risk of reoperation for recurrence after laparoscopic repair was significantly increased for the volume categories of ≤ 10 (HR 1.89), 11–25 (HR 2.08), 26–50 (HR 1.80), and 51–100 (HR 1.58) compared with the > 100 category.

Conclusion The risk of reoperation for recurrence was significantly higher after Lichtenstein and laparoscopic repairs performed by surgeons with < 100 cases/year compared with > 100 cases/year. This indicates that higher surgeon volume minimizes the risk of reoperation for recurrence after groin hernia repair.

Keywords Groin hernia · Inguinal hernia · Reoperation · Annual surgeon volume

Introduction

Groin hernia repair is a common surgical procedure worldwide and approximately 27% of men and 3% of women will undergo groin hernia repair at some point in their life [1]. Surgical experience is often assessed by the surgeons' volume of procedures [2]. A relation between high annual surgeon volume and a better outcome of surgical procedures has previously been suggested e.g. in bariatric surgery [3, 4],

C. Christophersen christophersen.camilla@gmail.com cholecystectomy [5], liver resection [6], colorectal surgery [7], and pancreaticoduodenectomy [8]. High-volume centers have a lower risk of reoperation after inguinal hernia repair compared with low-volume centers [9]. However, hospital volume cannot be used as a direct parallel to surgeon volume [10], thus, it is relevant to investigate the effect of surgeon volume on the recurrence related reoperation rate after hernia repair. A recent retrospective study found a lower recurrence related reoperation rate after inguinal hernia repair when performed by high-volume compared with low-volume surgeons [11]. In order to improve outcomes, centralization of surgery has been debated. The impact of annual surgeon volume on the recurrence related reoperation rate after groin hernia repair has not previously been investigated in a nationwide cohort including both private and public health care providers.

¹ Center for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Borgmester Ib Juuls Vej 1, 2730 Herlev, Denmark

² The Danish Hernia Database, 2730 Herlev, Denmark

This study aimed to investigate how the annual surgeon volume affects the reoperation rate for recurrence after primary inguinal and femoral hernia repair in a nationwide cohort.

Methods

This register-based cohort study based on prospectively collected data of nationwide groin hernia repairs was reported according to the REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routine-collected health Data (RECORD) statement [12]. Data were obtained from the Danish Hernia Database, which was established in 1998 [13]. The database includes > 90% of groin hernia repairs performed in Denmark, and it is mandatory for both public and private healthcare providers to register data in the database. The Danish Hernia Database contains data on surgeons' authorization ID that became a required field in 2016. However, authorizations IDs were possible to enter already from 2011. The Danish Hernia Database also contains general data such as patients' sex, age, date of surgery, and whether the repair was elective or acute. Furthermore, the database provides data on hernia characteristics such as side, size according to the European Hernia Society (EHS) classification [14], whether the hernia was primary or recurrent, type of hernia, method of repair, and the method of anesthesia. The Danish Hernia Database is linked to the Danish National Patient Register [15]. A unique civil personal register number is used for all contacts to both public and private hospitals [15]. Thus, a reoperation will be registered in the Danish National Patient Register, even if it is not registered in the Danish Hernia Database. In addition, the Danish Hernia Database also draws information from the Danish Civil Registration System [16] which made it possible to identify patients who emigrated from Denmark or died, including the date of death. Data on the surgeons were obtained from the publicly available Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [17]. This register holds information on all authorized health professionals in Denmark through a unique authorization ID. Data on the included surgeons were anonymized before the analyses. The Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register also includes data such as authorization validity, surgeon's date of birth, the date of authorization, the surgeon's field of specialization, and the date of approved specialization. The unique surgeon authorization IDs were used to link data from the Danish Hernia Database with the data from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register.

Patients were operated on between November 1, 2011, and January 1, 2020. Patients were followed until recurrence, death, or the date of data extraction (January 1, 2020). Reoperation for recurrence was defined as subsequent hernia repair on the same side. Data on reoperation was obtained from the Danish Hernia Database and the Danish National Patient Register.

Eligibility criteria for groin hernia repairs were repairs performed in patients > 18 years undergoing emergency or elective repair for primary groin hernia and using laparoscopic or open Lichtenstein technique. Groin hernia repairs registered as reoperation for recurrence on the first entry in the database were excluded. Furthermore, a "look back" was conducted from 1998 to 2011 to identify patients who had had a previous groin hernia repair on the same side, which also led to exclusion. The majority of laparoscopic groin hernia repairs in Denmark are TransAbdominal PrePeritoneal (TAPP) repairs. Total ExtraPeritoneal (TEP) laparoscopic repair accounted for < 2% of the groin hernia repairs in the Danish Hernia Database [9] and therefore TEP was not accounted for in the analyses. The exclusion criteria for groin hernia repairs were: no registration of hernia type, recurrent hernia, patients who had emigrated or taking residence outside of Denmark, no registered surgeon authorization ID, and invalid surgeon authorization ID. Furthermore, authorization IDs were excluded if a single authorization ID was registered ≤ 2 times during the entire study period.

Our primary outcome was recurrence related reoperation rate for the different annual surgeon volume categories. The secondary outcomes were: recurrence related reoperation rate in relation to surgeons' age which was dichotomized into < 45 and \geq 45 years, the number of years since the surgeon's medical graduation, and years since the surgeon's specialization. Annual surgeon volume was reported separately for Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP repairs and grouped into five categories: $\le 10, 11-25, 26-50, 51-100,$ and > 100 cases/year, based on the volume categories previously used in the literature [18]. The annual surgeon volume was determined as the number of repairs performed by the individual surgeon in the 12 months before the index operation. Thus, annual surgeon volume was calculated as a dynamic variable, allowing surgeons to change annual volume category throughout the study period. The number of repairs from the first calendar year was used to determine the annual surgeon volume in the individual surgeons' first year in the study period. We conducted a sensitivity analysis, where the repairs from the first calendar year were excluded from the analysis. The individual surgeon could change volume categories, and data on the individual surgeon were presented for the category in which the surgeon performed most of their repairs. The subgroup analyses were conducted of the adjusted recurrence-related reoperation rate for elective repairs based on annual surgeon volume.

Statistical analyses were performed in SPSS (version 25.0, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). Q-Q-plots and histograms were used to assess if data were normally distributed. The median time to follow-up was presented with interquartile range [IQR]. The Chi-squared test was used to compare

categorical data such as crude reoperation rates. The main analyses were conducted with Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for reoperation reported by annual surgeon volume and presented as hazard ratios (HR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI). The Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses were adjusted for patients' age, sex, hernia type, and hernia defect size. Furthermore, the analyses were adjusted for the method of anesthesia in the Lichtenstein cohort. To assess the cumulative reoperation rate, we performed a Kaplan–Meier plot for both the Lichtenstein and laparoscopic cohort.

This study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (P-2020-380). Approval from ethics committees and informed written consent from patients were not required for this specific type of study according to Danish law.

Results

We included 25,260 groin hernias in 23,088 patients. The study population selection process is depicted in the flowchart in Fig. 1. We included a total of 561 surgeons, where 546 surgeons performed Lichtenstein repairs and 331 surgeons performed laparoscopic TAPP repairs. There were 9,898 repairs performed in 9,845 patients in the Lichtenstein cohort, and 15,362 groin hernia repairs performed in 13,243 patients in the laparoscopic TAPP cohort. The patient demographics and operative characteristics are presented in Tables 1 and 2 for the Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP cohort, respectively.

Figure 2 shows the crude recurrence-related reoperation rate in the Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP cohort reported based on annual surgeon volume. The overall crude reoperation rate was 253 (2.6%) and 395 (2.2%) in the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort, respectively. In the Lichtenstein cohort, there seemed to be an increased



Table 1	Patient demographics and	operative characteris	stics for the	Lichtenstein	cohort according	; to annual surgeor	1 volume
---------	--------------------------	-----------------------	---------------	--------------	------------------	---------------------	----------

		Annual surgeon volume (cases/year)						
	Total $n = 9898 (100)$	≤ 10 n = 3619 (37)	≤ 10 n = 3619 (37)	26-50 n=1841 (19)	26-50 n=1841 (19)	>100 n=532 (5)		
Age, years	68 [58–74]	69 [59–75]	68 [58–75]	67 [57–73]	64 [52–72]	67 [55–73]		
Sex, male	9735 (98)	3537 (98)	3328 (99)	1819 (99)	526 (99)	525 (98)		
Defect size								
EHS 1	806 (8)	265 (8)	286 (9)	169 (9)	35 (7)	51 (10)		
EHS 2	5831 (61)	2081 (62)	2038 (62)	1135 (62)	272 (51)	305 (57)		
EHS 3	2913 (31)	1039 (31)	941 (29)	531 (29)	226 (42)	176 (33)		
Type of hernia								
Inguinal								
Lateral	5748 (58)	2079 (58)	1900 (56)	1076 (58)	351 (66)	342 (64)		
Medial	3255 (33)	1175 (33)	1132 (34)	610 (33)	170 (32)	168 (32)		
Pantaloon	868 (9)	353 (10)	331 (10)	149 (8)	13 (2)	22 (4)		
Combined	27 (0.3)	12 (0.3)	9 (0.3)	6 (0.3)	0	0		
Emergency repair	500 (5)	349 (10)	121 (4)	27 (2)	3 (1)	0		
Method of anesthesia								
General	7569 (77)	3010 (83)	2442 (72)	1252 (68)	334 (63)	531 (99.8)		
Local	2216 (22)	566 (16)	888 (26)	565 (31)	197 (37)	0		
Spinal	113 (1)	43 (1)	42 (1)	24 (2)	3 (0.6)	1 (0.2)		
Reoperation	253 (3)	92 (3)	83 (3)	54 (3)	21 (4)	3 (1)		
Follow-up, months	24 [13–34]	21 [11-32]	24 [13–34]	25 [16-36]	34 [26–38]	19 [11–31]		

Data are presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%)

EHS European Hernia Society

	Annual surgeon volume (cases/year)						
	Total $n = 15,362 (100)$	≤ 10 n=2379 (15)	11-25 n=2365 (15)	26–50 n = 2898 (19)	51-100 n=3931 (26)	> 100 n = 3789 (25)	
Age, years	58 [47–69]	61 [49–72]	60 [48–70]	59 [47–69]	58 [47–69]	57 [47–67]	
Sex, male	12,783 (83)	1798 (76)	1846 (78)	2383 (82)	3327 (85)	3429 (91)	
Defect size							
EHS 1	2005 (13)	401 (18)	425 (19)	452 (16)	544 (14)	183 (5)	
EHS 2	10,228 (68)	1522 (67)	1449 (64)	1857 (65)	2512 (64)	2888 (76)	
EHS 3	2870 (19)	350 (15)	407 (19)	547 (19)	851 (22)	715 (19)	
Type of hernia							
Inguinal							
Lateral	8369 (55)	1121 (51)	1270 (54)	1607 (56)	2141 (55)	2130 (56)	
Medial	5089 (33)	803 (34)	750 (32)	912 (32)	1301 (33)	1323 (35)	
Pantaloon	779 (5)	123 (5)	132 (6)	139 (5)	214 (5)	171 (5)	
Femoral	818 (5)	182 (8)	161 (7)	187 (7)	194 (5)	94 (3)	
Combined	307 (2)	50 (2)	52 (2)	53 (2)	81 (2)	71 (2)	
Emergency repair	510 (3)	164 (7)	117 (5)	109 (4)	103 (3)	17 (0.4)	
Reoperation	335 (2)	66 (3)	65 (3)	69 (2)	85 (2)	50 (1)	
Follow-up, months	22 [11–33]	27 [14–38]	25 [12–37]	23 [11–34]	21 [11–31]	20 [10-29]	

 Table 2
 Patient demographics and operative characteristics for the laparoscopic TAPP cohort according to annual surgeon volume

Data are presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%)

TAPP transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair, EHS European Hernia Society


Fig. 2 Crude reoperation rate and annual surgeon volume. *TAPP* transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair

crude reoperation rate in the 26–50 (3.9%) and 51–100 (3.9%) volume categories compared with annual surgeon volume of > 100 cases/year (0.6%) (Table 1 and Fig. 2). In the laparoscopic cohort, there was a decreasing recurrence related reoperation rate when annual surgeon volume surpassed > 100 cases/year (1.3%), while the crude reoperation rates were higher when performed by surgeons in volume categories of \leq 10 (2.8%), 11–25 (2.7%), 26–50 (2.4%), and 51–100 (2.2%) (Table 2 and Fig. 2). The median [IQR] time to follow up was 24 [13–34] and 22 [11–33] months for the

 Table 3
 Surgeon characteristics of the 576 included surgeons

Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort, respectively. Characteristics of the included surgeons are presented in Table 3 for all volume categories including > 5 surgeons.

In the Lichtenstein cohort, the HR for recurrence-related reoperation for each annual surgeon volume category was adjusted for patients' sex, age, type of hernia, defect size, and method of anesthesia. The reference category was the > 100 volume category, and the HRs for the Lichtenstein cohort are shown in Table 4. The low-volume categories ≤ 10 (HR 4.02), 11–25 (HR 3.64), 26–50 (HR 3.93), and 51–100 (HR 4.30) cases/year all had a significantly higher risk of reoperation for recurrence compared with the > 100 category. Figure 3a depicts the cumulative risk of reoperation for each annual surgeon volume category.

In the laparoscopic TAPP cohort, the HR for recurrencerelated reoperation for each annual surgeon volume category was adjusted for patients' age, sex, hernia type, and hernia defect size. The reference category was the > 100 volume category, and the HRs for the laparoscopic TAPP cohort is shown in Table 4. The volume categories \leq 10 (HR 1.89), 11–25 (HR 2.08), 26–50 (HR 1.80), and 51–100 (HR 1.58) cases/year all had a significantly higher risk of reoperation for recurrence compared with the > 100 category. The analyses for the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort

	Total	tal Annual surgeon volume (cases/year)				
		≤10	11–25	26–50	51-100 ^a	>100 ^a
Lichtenstein surgeons						
Number of surgeons	546	388	121	32		
Age, years	38 [33-48]	38 [33-46.5]	37 [31-48]	40 [34–58.5]		
<45	378 (69)	281 (72)	79 (65)	18 (56)		
≥45	168 (32)	107 (28)	42 (35)	14 (34)		
Years since						
Graduation	9 [3–16]	9 [4–15]	7 [3–18]	9 [4–28]		
Specialization	7 [2–14]	5 [1-11]	11 [5–15]	14 [7–20]		
Surgeons currently not specialized	278 (51)	193 (50)	69 (57)	15 (47)		
Laparoscopic TAPP surgeons						
Number of surgeons	331	210	50	34	28	9
Age, years	40 [34–50]	37 [33–44]	40 [36–47]	48 [44–57]	51.5 [43-63.5]	56 [51-62]
<45	211 (64)	158 (75)	34 (68)	11 (32)	8 (29)	0
≥45	120 (36)	52 (25)	16 (32)	23 (68)	20 (71)	9 (100)
Years since						
Graduation	10 [6–19]	8 [4–14]	11 [7–18]	17 [11–29]	22 [13-33]	26 [21–35]
Specialization	6 [1–12.5]	4 [0–11]	4 [1–11]	7.5 [2.5–15]	9 [2–16]	11 [10–16]
Surgeons currently not specialized	131 (40)	111 (53)	16 (32)	2 (6)	2 (7)	0

The individual surgeon was able to change volume categories and data on the individual surgeon are presented for the category in which the surgeon performed most of their repairs. Data are presented as median [interquatile range] or number (%)

TAPP transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair

^aNot reported for the Lichtenstein cohort, since the total number of surgeons in each category was too low to ensure that the data on these surgeons were anonymized

95% CI P value Hazard ratio Lichtenstein repair Annual surgeon volume, (cases/year) ≤ 10 4.02 1.27-12.75 0.018 11 - 253.64 1.15-11.58 0.028 26 - 503.93 1.22 - 12.640.022 51-100 4.30 1.27-14.54 0.019 >100 1 Laparoscopic TAPP repair Annual surgeon volume, (cases/year) ≤ 10 1.89 1.29-2.77 0.001 11-25 2.08 1.43-3.01 <.0001 26 - 501.80 1.25 - 2.590.002 51-100 1.58 1.11-2.24 0.010 > 1001

Table 4 Results of the Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for theLichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort with the risk of reoperation for recurrence

The hazard ratio for Lichtenstein repair was adjusted for patients' age, sex, the type of hernia, size of the defect according to European Hernia Society (EHS), and the method of anesthesia. The hazard ratio for laparoscopic TAPP repair was adjusted for patients' age, sex, the type of hernia, and size of the defect according to EHS

CI confidence interval, TAPP transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair

with the adjusted covariates are shown in Supplementary Material 1. The cumulative risk of reoperation for the laparoscopic TAPP cohort is shown in Fig. 3b for each annual surgeon volume category.

In the sensitivity analyses, the repairs performed during the first year were excluded. The sensitivity analyses included 5,170 (52%) and 10,578 (69%) groin hernia repairs of the total Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP cohort, respectively. The sensitivity analyses showed an increased HR for the ≤ 10 , 11–25, 26–50, and 51–100 volume categories compared with the > 100 volume category for both the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort. The increased HR was significant in the 26–50 and 51–100 volume categories for the Lichtenstein cohort, and the increased HR was significant for the 26–50 volume category in the laparoscopic TAPP cohort (analyses not shown).

The subgroup analyses of groin hernia repairs performed electively showed similar significant findings for HR of reoperation for recurrence in the different volume categories, for both the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort (analyses not shown).

We performed three additional analyses. Firstly, we performed an analysis of groin hernia repairs performed by surgeons aged <45 and \geq 45 years. The analysis found no difference in the overall crude recurrence-related reoperation rate between surgeons of <45 (2.6%) and \geq 45 (2.4%)

years after Lichtenstein repair (p = 0.526). After laparoscopic TAPP repair, there was also no difference between the overall crude reoperation rate for surgeons aged < 45 (1.9%) and \geq 45 (2.3%) years (p = 0.075).

Secondly, an analysis was performed on the risk of recurrence-related reoperation in relation to the number of years since the surgeons' medical graduation which were adjusted for the same covariates as the primary analyses. For the Lichtenstein cohort, we found a significantly lower risk of reoperation when the years since the surgeons' graduation increased (p = 0.024). For the laparoscopic TAPP cohort, the number of years since surgeons' graduation did not affect the risk of reoperation (p = 0.667) (analyses not shown).

Thirdly, we performed an analysis on the risk of recurrence-related reoperation in relation to the number of years since the surgeons' specialization. This analysis was adjusted for the same covariates as the primary analyses. The number of years since the surgeons' specialization did not affect the risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein (p=0.074) or laparoscopic TAPP repair (p=0.709) (analyses not shown).

Discussion

This nationwide, register-based study found a significantly higher risk of recurrence-related reoperation amongst low and medium-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons in both the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohorts. Annual surgeon volume of > 100 cases/year was associated with a significantly decreased risk of reoperation compared with the lower volume categories.

In the Lichtenstein cohort, there was a significantly higher risk of reoperation for recurrence in the low-volume categories ≤ 10 and 11-25 cases/year and in the medium-volume category 26–50 cases/year compared with the > 100 volume category. Furthermore, we found a significantly higher risk of reoperation in the 51–100 volume category compared with the > 100 volume category. Surgeons in the 51–100 volume category seemed to operate more hernias classified as EHS 3 than the other volume categories, perhaps reflecting that the 51–100 volume category performed more complex hernia repairs than the low volume categories in this cohort. The risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein repair was adjusted for the method of anesthesia since local anesthesia has been associated with a higher risk of reoperation compared with regional anesthesia after primary groin hernia repair [19].

A recent large retrospective study from 2018 found a lower unadjusted crude recurrence-related reoperation rate after open groin hernia repairs performed by the mediumvolume category of 26–50 cases/year than the low-volume category of \leq 25 cases/year [11]. However, they found a small increase in the crude unadjusted reoperation rate for surgeons in the high-volume category of > 50 cases/

Fig. 3 a Kaplan-Meier plot showing cumulative reoperation rates after Lichtenstein repair of groin hernia distributed on annual surgeon volume (p=0.089) with the number at risk. Adjusted for patients' age, sex, the type of hernia, size of the defect according to European Hernia Society (EHS), and the method of anesthesia. **b** Kaplan–Meier plot showing cumulative reoperation rates after laparoscopic TransAbdominal PrePeritoneal (TAPP) repair of groin hernia distributed on annual surgeon volume (p=0.008) with the number at risk. Adjusted for patients' age, sex, the type of hernia, and size of the defect according to EHS



year than in the medium-volume category of 26–50 cases/ year [11]. Similarly, we observed an increased HR and crude recurrence-related reoperation rate in the 51–100 medium-volume category in the Lichtenstein cohort. Furthermore, a previous study showed an increased crude reoperation rate after open groin hernia repair performed by low-volume surgeons [20], supporting the findings in the present study. Annual surgeon volume is an often used measure of surgeons' experience [2]. Hospital volume can be used as an indirect measurement of surgeons' experience; however, this is not an isolated measure as hospital volume reflects the capability and experience of the entire personnel involved in the treatment, from patients' admission to discharge [10]. Thus, annual surgeon volume provides a more direct measure of the individual surgeon's experience.

In the laparoscopic TAPP cohort, there was a significantly increased risk of reoperation for recurrence amongst all volume categories compared with > 100 volume category. This pattern has similarly been found in previous studies where laparoscopic groin hernia repairs performed by lowvolume surgeons have an increased crude recurrence-related reoperation rate compared with high-volume surgeons [11, 21–23]. Other surgeon-related factors could affect the risk of reoperation such as the supervision and training of surgeons. The increased risk of reoperation amongst lower volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons could perhaps indicate a need for supervision of lower-volume surgeons.

Surgeons' age dichotomized into < 45 and \geq 45 years has previously been investigated and one study published in 2005 showed an increased mean recurrence rate after open and laparoscopic repair performed by surgeons aged \geq 45 years [24]. However, our analyses from more recent data of surgeons' age dichotomized into < 45 and \geq 45 years showed no significant difference in the risk of reoperation for recurrence in relation to the surgeons' age. We found a decreased risk of reoperation as the number of years since the surgeons' medical graduation increased for Lichtenstein repair, thus reflecting that the risk of reoperation is more sensitive to the actual experience of the surgeon rather than their age.

This study has several strengths. The Danish Hernia Database [13] and the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register [17] both have nationwide coverage and more than 90% of groin hernia repairs performed in Denmark [13] were assessed for eligibility. The surgeon's authorization ID must be entered when registering groin hernia repairs in the Danish Hernia Database. This limited selection bias amongst the included surgeons since all groin hernia repairs performed in the study period were registered with a surgeon authorization ID. The follow-up in the Danish Hernia Database is approximately 100%, since the Danish Hernia Database also draws data from the Danish National Patient Registry [13], and therefore no patients were lost to follow-up. Furthermore, the annual surgeon volume was adjusted continuously and assessed as a dynamic variable, allowing surgeons to change the volume category throughout the study. However, there were also limitations to this study. The study size and study period were limited by the registration of surgeon authorization IDs which was needed to calculate the annual surgeon volume. A previous study has shown that the clinical recurrence rate exceeds the actual reoperation rate with approximately 40% [25]. This most likely affected the follow-up of the present study since the Danish Hernia Database only holds data on reoperation while clinical recurrences are not registered in the database. In the sensitivity analysis where data from the first year were excluded, the increased risk of reoperation for recurrence only remained significant in the 26–50 and 51–100 volume categories in the Lichtenstein cohort, and in the 26–50 volume category in the laparoscopic TAPP cohort. However, the sensitivity analysis included fewer observations than the primary analysis (52–69% of the total cohorts), and there was therefore a risk of type 2 error. Our study period was limited by when the surgeon authorization ID was registered in the Danish Hernia Database, which led to a relatively short effective study period of three years (2016–2019). However, our data contained some surgeon authorization ID registrations from 2011.

In conclusion, the findings in this study showed a higher risk of recurrence-related reoperation after repairs performed by both low- and medium-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons in both the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort. There are implications for further research investigating how annual surgeon volume affects the quality of groin hernia repair, to explore the need for concentration of groin hernia surgery on fewer surgeons. Furthermore, there are logistic factors impacting the feasibility of groin hernia repair centralization such as geographics, surgical education, and training.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-021-02400-0.

Acknowledgements We thank Lasse Valentini Jensen for assistance with the acquisition of data.

Funding None.

Data availability Anonymized data not available in the article can be provided by the corresponding author via e-mail.

Code availability Syntax code for SPSS (version 25.0, IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) can be provided by the corresponding author via e-mail.

Declarations

Conflict of interest The authors Christophersen C, Baker JJ, Fonnes S, Andresen K, and Rosenberg J declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Ethical approval This study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency (P-2020–380).

Human and animal rights Not applicable.

Informed consent Not required, according to Danish law.

Consent for publication Not required, according to Danish law.

References

1. Primatesta P, Goldacre MJ (1996) Inguinal hernia repair: incidence of elective and emergency surgery, readmission and mortality. Int J Epidemiol 25:835-839. https://doi.org/10.1093/ ije/25.4.835

- Morche J, Mathes T, Pieper D (2016) Relationship between surgeon volume and outcomes: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Syst Rev 5:204. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13643-016-0376-4
- Altieri MS, Pryor AD, Yang J et al (2019) Bariatric peri-operative outcomes are affected by annual procedure-specific surgeon volume. Surg Endosc 34:2474–2482. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-019-07048-7
- Bouchard P, Demyttenaere S, Court O et al (2020) Surgeon and hospital volume outcomes in bariatric surgery: a population-level study. Surg Obes Relat Dis 16:674–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. soard.2020.01.012
- Abelson JS, Spiegel JD, Afaneh C et al (2017) Evaluating cumulative and annual surgeon volume in laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surgery 161:611–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2016.08.027
- Sahara K, Merath K, Hyer JM et al (2020) Impact of surgeon volume on outcomes and expenditure among medicare beneficiaries undergoing liver resection: the effect of minimally invasive surgery. J Gastrointest Surg 24:1520–1529. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-019-04323-9
- Gani F, Cerullo M, Zhang XF et al (2017) Effect of surgeon "experience" with laparoscopy on postoperative outcomes after colorectal surgery. Surgery 162:880–890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg. 2017.06.018
- Paredes AZ, Hyer JM, Tsilimigras DI et al (2020) Interaction of surgeon volume and nurse-to-patient ratio on post-operative outcomes of Medicare beneficiaries following pancreaticoduodenectomy. J Gastrointest Surg 24:2251–2259. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11605-019-04449-w
- Andresen K, Friis-Andersen H, Rosenberg J (2016) Laparoscopic repair of primary inguinal hernia performed in public hospitals or low-volume centers have increased risk of reoperation for recurrence. Surg Innov 23:142–147. https://doi.org/10.1177/15533 50615596636
- Maneck M, Köckerling F, Fahlenbrach C et al (2020) Hospital volume and outcome in inguinal hernia repair: analysis of routine data of 133,449 patients. Hernia 24:747–757. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10029-019-02091-8
- Ramjist JK, Dossa F, Stukel TA et al (2019) Reoperation for inguinal hernia recurrence in Ontario: a population-based study. Hernia 23:647–654. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-018-1822-0
- Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A et al (2015) The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. PLoS Med 12:e1001885. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001885
- Friis-Andersen H, Bisgaard T (2016) The Danish inguinal hernia database. Clin Epidemiol 8:521–524. https://doi.org/10.2147/clep. s99512

- Miserez M, Alexandre JH, Campanelli G et al (2007) The European hernia society groin hernia classication: simple and easy to remember. Hernia 11:113–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-007-0198-3
- Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Sandegaard JL et al (2015) The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. Clin Epidemiol 7:449–490. https://doi.org/10. 2147/clep.s91125
- Pedersen CB (2011) The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 39:22–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494810 387965
- Danish Patient Safety Authority. Information about the Online register. https://en.stps.dk/en/health-professionals-and-authorities/ online-register-registered-health-professionals/information-aboutthe-online-register/. Accessed 4 January 2021
- Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J (2021) Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review. Hernia. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10029-020-02359-4
- Nordin P, Haapaniemi S, Van Der Linden W et al (2004) Choice of anesthesia and risk of reoperation for recurrence in groin hernia repair. Ann Surg 240:187–192. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla. 0000130726.03886.93
- Aquina CT, Probst CP, Kelly KN et al (2015) The pitfalls of inguinal herniorrhaphy: surgeon volume matters. Surgery 158:736– 746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2015.03.058
- El-Dhuwaib Y, Corless D, Emmett C et al (2013) Laparoscopic versus open repair of inguinal hernia: a longitudinal cohort study. Surg Endosc 27:936–945. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00464-012-2538-3
- Aljamal YN, Zendejas B, Gas BL et al (2016) Annual surgeon volume and patient outcomes following laparoscopic totally extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repairs. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech 26:92–98. https://doi.org/10.1089/lap.2015.0368
- Köckerling F, Bittner R, Kraft B et al (2017) Does surgeon volume matter in the outcome of endoscopic inguinal hernia repair? Surg Endosc 31:573–585. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00464-016-5001-z
- Neumayer LA, Gawande AA, Wang J et al (2005) Proficiency of surgeons in inguinal hernia repair: effect of experience and age. Ann Surg 242:344–348. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.sla.00001 79644.02187.ea
- Kald A, Nilsson E, Anderberg B et al (1998) Reoperation as surrogate endpoint in hernia surgery. A three year follow-up of 1565 herniorrhaphies. Eur J Surg 164:45–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 110241598750004940

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Supplementary Material 1. Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for the risk of reoperation for recurrence in the Lichtenstein and the laparoscopic TAPP cohort with the adjusted covariates. CI: confidence interval. TAPP: TransAbdominal PrePeritoneal laparoscopic repair. EHS: European Hernia Society.

	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P value
Lichtenstein repair			
Annual surgeon volume, (cases/year)			
≤10	4.02	1.27-12.75	0.018
11–25	3.64	1.15-11.58	0.028
26–50	3.93	1.22-12.64	0.022
51–100	4.30	1.27-14.54	0.019
>100	1		
Age	1.00	0.99-1.01	0.837
Sex, male vs. female (ref)	1.99	0.49-8.05	0.334
Type of hernia			
Lateral	1		
Medial	2.32	1.74-3.08	<.0001
Pantaloon	1.29	0.78-2.13	0.321
Combined	1.92	0.27-13.88	0.519
Method of anesthesia			
General	1		
Local	1.13	0.84-1.51	0.423
Spinal	0.68	0.17-2.74	0.586
Defect size			
EHS 1	1		
EHS 2	1.22	0.65-2.27	0.541
EHS 3	2.11	1.12-3.99	0.021
Laparoscopic TAPP repair			
Annual surgeon volume, (cases/year)			
≤10	1.89	1.29-2.77	0.001
11–25	2.08	1.43-3.01	<.0001
26–50	1.80	1.25-2.59	0.002
51–100	1.58	1.11-2.24	0.010
>100	1		
Age	1.00	0.99-1.00	0.790
Sex, male vs. female (ref)	2.31	1.45-3.68	<.0001
Type of hernia			
Lateral	1		
Medial	0.81	0.64-1.04	0.098
Pantaloon	1.00	0.65-1.55	0.999
Femoral	0.38	0.13-1.06	0.064
Combined	0.75	0.28 - 2.02	0.564
Defect size			
EHS 1	1		
EHS 2	0.85	0.58-1.24	0.392
EHS 3	1.99	1.34-2.97	0.001

Check for updates

Surgeon Volume and Risk of Reoperation after Laparoscopic Primary Ventral Hernia Repair: A Nationwide Register-Based Study

Camilla Christophersen, MS, Siv Fonnes, MD, PhD, Jason Joe Baker, MD, Kristoffer Andresen, MD, PhD, Jacob Rosenberg, MD, DSc, FACS

BACKGROUND:	Repairs of primary ventral hernias are common procedures but are associated with high recur-
	rence rates. Therefore, it is important to investigate risk factors for recurrence to optimize
	current treatments. The aim of this study was to assess the impact of annual surgeon volume
	on the risk of reoperation for recurrence after primary ventral hernia repair.
STUDY DESIGN:	We conducted a nationwide register-based study with data from the Danish Ventral Hernia
	Database and the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register linked via surgeons'
	authorization identification. We included patients 18 years and older, undergoing umbilical
	or epigastric hernia repair between 2011 and 2020. Annual surgeon volume was categorized
	into ≤ 9 , 10 to 19, 20 to 29, and ≥ 30 cases. Patients were followed until reoperation, death,
	emigration, or end of the study period.
RESULTS:	We included 7,868 patients who underwent laparoscopic (n = 1,529 [19%]), open mesh (n =
	4,138 [53%]), or open nonmesh (n = 2,201 [28%]) repair. There was an increased risk of
	reoperation after laparoscopic umbilical or epigastric hernia repair for surgeons with ≤ 9 (haz-
	ard ratio 6.5/; $p = 0.008$), 10 to 19 (hazard ratio 6.58; $p = 0.011$), and 20 to 29 (hazard ratio
	13.59; $p = 0.001$) compared with ≥ 30 cases/y. There were no differences in risk of reopera-
	tion after open mesh and open nonmesh repair in relation to annual surgeon volume.
CONCLUSIONS:	I nere was a significantly nigher risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral nernia
	tional research investigating how sufficient surgical training and supervision are ensured is
	indicated to reduce risk of reoperation after primary ventral hernia repair. (I Am Coll Surg
	2021-233-346-356 @ 2021 by the American College of Surgeons Published by Elsevier
	Inc All rights reserved)

In primary ventral hernia repair, recurrence or reoperation rates are commonly used to assess long-term outcomes.¹ Ventral hernia repair is a common surgical procedure,² however, recurrences rates are still as high as 22%.³ Reoperation rate underestimates the clinical recurrence rate, as only approximately 30% of clinical recurrences are reoperated.⁴ One study found that the use of mesh halved the recurrence rate after small primary ventral hernia

Disclosure Information: Authors have nothing to disclose.

Support: This study was supported by the Fund of 17-12-1981.

repairs compared with open nonmesh repairs.⁵ Other factors that can influence recurrence rates after umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs are hernia defect size,⁶ surgical approach,⁷ use of mesh,⁸ mesh placement,⁹ and method of mesh fixation.¹⁰ Surgeons with more experience and high annual volume of procedures seemed to affect reoperation rates after inguinal hernia repair¹¹ and incisional hernia repair.¹² The effect of annual surgeon volume on reoperation rate after primary ventral hernia repair has only been reported in 1 previous study, which indicated an impact of annual surgeon volume on reoperation rates.¹³ However, this previous study did not provide data on hernia defect size, mesh placement, or fixation method, and the study cohort was based on diagnostic codes, which did not distinguish between primary and recurrent hernias.13 Therefore, there is a need to investigate how annual surgeon volume affects outcomes

Received April 20, 2021; Revised May 14, 2021; Accepted May 14, 2021. From the Center for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Herlev, Denmark.

Correspondence address: Camilla Christophersen, MS, Center for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Borgmester Ib Juuls Vej 1, 2730 Herlev, Denmark. email: christophersen.camilla@gmail.com

of ventral hernia repair, with more details about the operative technique.

The aim of this study was to assess how annual surgeon volume impacts the risk of reoperation for recurrence after umbilical and epigastric hernia repair.

METHODS

This nationwide register-based study with prospectively collected data followed the RECORD (Reporting of Studies Conducted Using Observational Routine-Collected Health Data) statement.¹⁴ We used data from the Danish Ventral Hernia Database¹⁵ and Patient Safety Authority's Online Register.¹⁶ The Danish Ventral Hernia Database was established in 2007 and contains patient demographic and perioperative data, which are described elsewhere.¹⁷ The Danish Ventral Hernia Database also draws data from the Danish National Patient Registry via patients' unique personal identification (ID) number, providing data on all patient contacts with both

public and private healthcare providers.¹⁸ In addition, the Danish Ventral Hernia Database is linked with data from the Danish Civil Registration System, via patients' unique personal ID number,¹⁹ making it possible to identify patients who emigrated or died during follow-up. The publicly available Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register¹⁶ provides data on surgeons' authorization ID, authorization status, surgeon's date of birth, date of authorization, field of specialization, and date of approved specialization. In this study, patient data from the Danish Ventral Hernia Database were linked with data on surgeons from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register via surgeons' unique authorization ID.

The study period was January 2011 to January 2020 and registration of surgeon authorization ID became mandatory in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database from 2016 and onward for all repairs. Patients were followed via the database until death, reoperation, emigration, or the end of the study period (January 2020). We



Figure 1. Flow chart depicting the study population selection.

	Annual surgeon volume, cases/y					
Characteristic	Total (n = 1,529)	≤ 9 (n = 506)	10—19 (n = 349)	20–29 (n = 209)	≥ 30 (n = 465)	p Value
Patient						
Age, y, mean \pm SD	54 ± 12	$55 \pm 12^{*}$	54 ± 11	55 ± 13*	53 ± 12	0.047
Sex, m, n (%)	1,040 (68)	348 (69)	225 (65)	141 (68)	326 (70)	0.374
$BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$, n (%)	505 (33)	200 (40)	101 (29)	40 (19)*	164 (35)	< 0.001
Smoking status, n (%)						
Active	146 (10)	51 (10)	42 (12)	7 (3)*	46 (10)	< 0.001
Unknown	769 (44)	261 (52)*	193 (55)*	123 (59)*	102 (22)	< 0.001
Operative					·	
Emergency repair, n (%)	125 (8)	71 (14)*	34 (10)*	13 (6)*	7 (2)	< 0.001
Type of hernia, n (%)						
Umbilical	1,193 (78)	395 (78)*	252 (72)*	154 (74)*	392 (84)	< 0.001
Epigastric	336 (22)	111 (22)*	97 (28)*	55 (26)*	73 (16)	< 0.001
Hernia defect size, cm, median (IQR)	2 (2-3)	3 (2-3)*	2 (2-3)*	3 (2-3)	2 (2-3)	0.001
\leq 2 cm, n (%)	812 (53)	230 (46)*	178 (51)*	107 (51)*	297 (64)	< 0.001
> 2 cm, n (%)	717 (47)	276 (54)*	171 (49)*	102 (49)*	168 (36)	< 0.001
Mesh overlap, cm [†] , median (IQR)	5 (4-5)	5 (5-6)*	5 (5-5)*	5 (5-5)*	4 (3-4)	< 0.001
Mesh placement, n (%)						
Intraperitoneal	1,192 (78)	484 (96)*	339 (97)*	203 (97)*	166 (36)	< 0.001
Preperitoneal	337 (22)	22 (4)*	10 (3)*	6 (1)*	299 (64)	< 0.001
Type of tack, n (%)						
Absorbable	613 (40)	225 (45)*	191 (55)*	133 (64)*	64 (14)	< 0.001
Permanent	843 (60)	270 (53)*	151 (43)*	66 (32)*	356 (77)	< 0.001
Defect closure	897 (59)	289 (57)*	248 (71)*	152 (73)*	208 (45)	< 0.001
Follow-up, mo, median (IQR)	23 (13-33)	23 (12-35)*	27 (17-35)*	29 (21-36)*	18 (10-28)	< 0.001
Crude reoperation, n (%)	36 (2)	13 (3)*	9 (3)	10 (5)*	4 (1)	0.018

Table 1. Patient and Operative Characteristics for the Laparoscopic Cohort

The \geq 30 cases annual volume category was used as the reference in the independent chi-square, Kruskal-Wallis, and Dunn's tests.

 $p^* \le 0.05$.

[†]Minimum mesh overlap of the defect in all directions.

IQR, interquartile range.

defined reoperation as hernias registered as a reoperation or an operation for a ventral hernia after the index operation.

All patients registered in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database were assessed for eligibility. We included patients 18 years and older undergoing primary umbilical or epigastric hernia repair and undergoing either laparoscopic or open technique. Surgeons were included if they had a valid authorization ID registered. Patients were excluded if they were younger than 18 years and if the first registered operation was for recurrence. In addition, we performed a "look back" from 2007 to 2011, and patients who underwent operation for a ventral hernia previously were excluded. Patients were excluded if the index operation was an incisional or parastomal hernia, or if patients underwent operations for both umbilical and epigastric hernias on the same day. Patients were also excluded if they underwent procedures using robot-assisted techniques, were converted from laparoscopic to open technique, had a hernia defect size > 10 cm in transverse diameter, or had undergone repairs performed using resorbable mesh types or Physiomesh (because this mesh was withdrawn due to high risk of reoperation).²⁰ In addition, exclusion criteria were use of component separation, repairs performed as secondary procedures, open repairs with inlay mesh, patient residence outside of Denmark, or invalid surgeon authorization ID.

The primary end point was risk of reoperation or recurrence based on annual surgeon volume. The secondary outcomes were how risk of reoperation was affected by surgeon's age, which was dichotomized into younger than 45 years and 45 years and older,²¹ and years since surgeon's graduation and specialization. Surgeon's annual volume was divided into 4 categories based

·		•	Annual surgeon v	olume, cases/y		
Characteristic	Total (n = 4,138)	\leq 9 (n = 2,497)	10–19 (n = 1,005)	20–29 (n = 352)	≥ 30 (n = 284)	p Value
Patient						
Age, y, mean \pm SD	53 ± 14	$53\pm14^*$	$53\pm14^*$	$53\pm14^*$	49 ± 13	0.001
Sex, m, n (%)	2,845 (69)	1,719 (69)*	719 (72)*	237 (67)	170 (60)	0.002
$BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$, n (%)	975 (24)	641 (26)	205 (20)	69 (20)	60 (21)	< 0.001
Smoking status, n (%)						
Active	482 (12)	305 (12)	95 (10)*	43 (12)	39 (14)	< 0.001
Unknown	1,153 (28)	960 (38)	478 (48)*	196 (56)*	105 (37)	< 0.001
Operative						
Emergency repair, n (%)	469 (11)	363 (15)*	76 (8)*	25 (7)*	5 (2)	< 0.001
Type of hernia, n (%)						
Umbilical	3,329 (80)	2,002 (80)	831 (83)	275 (78)	221 (78)	0.123
Epigastric	809 (20)	495 (20)	174 (17)	77 (22)	63 (22)	0.123
Hernia defect size, cm, median (IQR)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)*	1 (1-2)	2 (1-2)*	1 (1-2)	< 0.001
\leq 2 cm, n (%)	3,681 (87)	2,143 (86)*	891 (89)	300 (85)*	258 (91)	0.019
> 2 cm, n (%)	564 (13)	354 (14)*	114 (11)	52 (15)*	26 (9)	0.019
Mesh overlap, cm [†] , median (IQR)	2 (1-2)	2 (2-3)*	2 (2-3)	2 (2-3)	2 (2-3)	< 0.001
Mesh placement, n (%)						
Onlay	2,585 (62)	1,726 (69)*	659 (66)*	138 (39)*	62 (22)	< 0.001
Preperitoneal	912 (22)	431 (17)*	199 (20)*	125 (36)*	157 (55)	< 0.001
Intraperitoneal	492 (12)	240 (10)*	123 (12)*	72 (21)	57 (20)	< 0.001
Sublay	149 (4)	100 (4)	24 (2)	17 (5)	8 (3)	< 0.001
Follow-up, mo, median (IQR)	19 (9-31)	17 (9-28)	23 (11-33)*	25 (14-35)*	20 (8-31)	< 0.001
Crude reoperation, n (%)	83 (2)	45 (2)	16 (2)	15 (4)	7 (3)	0.013

Table 2. Patient and Operative Characteristics for the Open Mesh Cohord

The \geq 30 volume category was used as the reference in the independent chi-square, Kruskal-Wallis, and Dunn's tests.

 $p^* \le 0.05.$

[†]Minimum mesh overlap of the defect in all directions.

IQR, interquartile range.

on annual volume: 1 low-volume category (\leq 9), 2 intermediate-volume categories (10 to 19 and 20 to 29), and 1 high-volume category (\geq 30). This categorization was based on a previous study investigating annual surgeon volume and outcomes of ventral hernia repair.¹³ The annual surgeon volume was calculated as the number of repairs performed during the year before the index repair. This allowed annual surgeon volume to be a dynamic variable, making it possible for surgeons to change volume category. During the first year of the study period, the number of repairs from the current calendar year was used to calculate the annual surgeon volume for each surgeon because surgeons' authorization IDs for the previous year were not available. The data on surgeons were presented for the volume category in which the individual surgeon performed most of their repairs.

Patients were divided into the following 3 cohorts: laparoscopic, open mesh, and open nonmesh. We performed a subgroup analysis dichotomizing hernia defect size into $\leq 2 \text{ cm} \text{ and} > 2 \text{ cm}.^{22}$ In addition, sensitivity analyses were conducted that investigated how the calculation of annual surgeon volume impacted outcomes.

The statistical analyses were carried out in SPSS, version 25.0 (IBM Corp). The distribution of continuous data was assessed visually with Q-Q plots and histograms. Normally distributed data were presented as mean \pm SD. Not normally distributed data were presented as median (interquartile range [IQR]). Continuous data were analyzed using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's tests. Categorical data were analyzed using the independent chi-square test, with surgeons performing \geq 30 repairs annually as the reference group. A p value ≤ 0.05 was assessed as significant. We performed multivariate analyses using the Cox proportional hazard analysis, presented as hazard ratio (HR) with 95% CI. In Cox proportional hazard analysis, a rule of thumb is to adjust for 1 variable per approximately 10 events.²³ Through backward stepwise elimination, with p = 0.2 as the cutoff, we chose to adjust for anatomic mesh placement, type of tacks, and

emergency vs elective repair in the laparoscopic cohort. In the open mesh cohort, the multivariate analysis was adjusted for anatomic mesh placement; emergency vs elective repair; hernia defect size; and patient's sex, age, BMI, and smoking status. In the open nonmesh cohort, the multivariate analysis was adjusted for emergency vs elective repair; hernia defect size; and patient's sex, age, BMI, and smoking status. Surgeons performing ≥ 30 cases/y were used as the reference group in the multivariate analyses. Kaplan-Meier plots were used to illustrate the cumulative reoperation rates.

This study was approved by the Danish Clinical Quality Program (RKKP) and the Danish Data Protection Agency (P-2020-380). According to Danish law, approval from ethics committees and informed written consent from participants were not required.

RESULTS

We included 7,868 patients undergoing primary umbilical or epigastric hernia repair by means of laparoscopic (n = 1,529 [19%]), open mesh (n = 4,138 [53%]), or open nonmesh (n = 2,201 [28%]) repair. A flow chart of the study population selection is shown in Figure 1. The patient and operative characteristics are shown in Table 1 for the laparoscopic cohort, in Table 2 for the open mesh cohort, and in Table 3 for the open nonmesh repair cohort. The high-volume category surgeons performing ≥ 30 cases/y repaired small (≤ 2 cm) hernias more frequently than hernias > 2 cm in the laparoscopic (64%), open mesh (91%), and open nonmesh (100%) cohorts. These high-volume surgeons performed few emergency repairs in the laparoscopic (2%), open mesh (2%), and open nonmesh cohorts (0%). In all 3 cohorts, the low- and intermediate-volume category surgeons performed most of the emergency repairs. The median follow-up for the laparoscopic, open mesh, and open nonmesh cohorts were 23 (IQR 13 to 33) months, 19 (IQR 9 to 31) months, and 26 (IQR 13 to 35) months, respectively. We included 725 surgeons and the characteristics of included surgeons are shown in Table 4.

The risk of reoperation after laparoscopic umbilical and epigastric repairs was significantly increased when performed by surgeons with an annual volume of ≤ 9 (HR 6.57; p = 0.008), 10 to 19 (HR 6.58; p = 0.011), and 20 to 29 (HR 12.59; p = 0.001) compared with ≥ 30 cases (Table 5). The Cox proportional hazard analysis was adjusted for anatomic mesh placement, type of tacks, and emergency vs elective repair, and is presented in eTable 1. The cumulative reoperation rates for the surgeon volume categories are shown in Figure 2A. High-volume surgeons placed the mesh preperitoneally (64%) (p < 0.001) and surgeons in the low- and intermediate-volume categories of ≤ 9 (96%), 10 to 19 (97%), and 20 to 29 (97%)

Table 3. Patient and Operative Characteristics for the Open Nonmesh Cohort

	Annual surgeon volume, cases/y					
Characteristic	Total (n = 2,201)	\leq 9 (n = 1,593)	10—19 (n = 431)	20—29 (n = 63)	\geq 30 (n = 114)	p Value
Patient						
Age, y, mean ± SD	47 ± 15	46 ± 15	48 ± 15	47 ± 13	49 ± 14	0.086
Sex, m, n (%)	1,187 (54)	822 (52)*	250 (58)	43 (68)	72 (63)	0.001
$BMI > 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$, n (%)	234 (11)	169 (11)	45 (10)	4 (6)	16 (14)	< 0.001
Smoking status, n (%)				·		
Active	167 (8)	139 (9)	18 (4)	3 (5)	7 (6)	< 0.001
Unknown	1,178 (54)	856 (54)*	264 (61)*	36 (57)*	22 (19)	< 0.001
Operative						
Emergency repair, n (%)	300 (14)	273 (17)	25 (6)	2 (3)	0	< 0.001
Type of hernia, n (%)						
Umbilical	1,673 (76)	1,205 (76)	336 (78)	47 (75)	85 (75)	0.750
Epigastric	528 (24)	388 (24)	95 (22)	16 (25)	29 (25)	0.750
Hernia defect size, cm, median (IQR)	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)*	1 (1-1)*	1 (1-1)*	1 (1-1)	0.002
≤ 2 cm, n (%)	2,103 (96)	1,503 (94)	424 (98)	62 (98)	114 (100)	< 0.001
> 2 cm, n (%)	98 (4)	90 (6)	7 (2)	1 (2)	0	< 0.001
Follow-up, mo, median (IQR)	26 (13-35)	25 (13-35)*	31 (20-37)*	30 (8-36)*	20 (5-28)	< 0.001
Crude reoperation, n (%)	104 (5)	75 (5)	21 (5)	2 (3)	6 (4)	0.934

The \geq 30 volume category was used as the reference in the independent chi-square, Kruskal-Wallis, and Dunn's tests.

 $*p \le 0.05.$

IQR, interquartile range.

Table 4.	Characteristics of Included Surgeons*	
----------	---------------------------------------	--

		Annual surgeon volume, cases/year			
Characteristic	Total	<u>≤</u> 9	10–19	20–29	\ge 30
Laparoscopic					
Surgeons, n	209	167	26	12	4
Age, y, median (IQR)	42 (36-52)	40 (34-50)	50 (41-59)	53 (42-62)	48 (46-54)
Younger than 45 y, n (%)	115 (55)	102 (61)	9 (35)	4 (33)	0
45 y or older, n (%)	94 (45)	65 (39)	17 (65)	8 (67)	4 (100)
Years since, median (IQR)					
Graduation	11 (7-22)	10 (5-18)	21 (12-29)	20 (12-33)	21 (14-25)
Specialization	6 (2-11)	5 (1-11)	9 (3-13)	7 (3-13)	10 (8-15)
Surgeon currently not specialized, n (%)	68 (33)	66 (40)	1 (4)	1 (8)	0
Open mesh					
Surgeons, n	592	505	66	14	7
Age, median (IQR)	36 (31-44)	36 (30-43)	37 (32-46)	54 (51-60)	56 (48-61)
Younger than 45 y, n (%)	448 (76)	398 (79)	47 (71)	3 (21)	0
45 y or older, n (%)	144 (24)	107 (21)	19 (29)	11 (79)	7 (100)
Years since, median (IQR)					
Graduation	6 (2-13)	6 (2-12)	8 (3-13)	25 (11-31)	27 (18-33)
Specialization	6 (1-13)	6 (1-12)	7 (1-14)	13 (9-22)	10 (7-15)
Surgeon currently not specialized, n (%)	359 (61)	320 (63)	37 (56)	2 (14)	0
Open nonmesh					
Surgeons, n	514	482	27	t	3
Age, median (IQR)	37 (32-48)	37 (32-47)	37 (34-55)	_	60 (52-63)
Younger than 45 y, n (%)	364 (71)	348 (72)	16 (59)	_	0
45 y or older, n (%)	150 (29)	134 (28)	11 (41)	_	3 (100)
Years since, median (IQR)					
Graduation	8 (3-15)	8 (3-15)	7 (2-27)	_	33 (19-35)
Specialization	6 (2-14)	6 (2-13)	13 (5-17)	_	18 (10-22)
Surgeon currently not specialized, n (%)	289 (56)	275 (57)	14 (52)	—	0

*Surgeon data are presented for the volume category in which the individual surgeon performed repairs most frequently.

[†]Data not reported for the open nonmesh cohort because the number of surgeons in these categories was too low to ensure anonymity.

IQR, interquartile range.

used intraperitoneal mesh placement significantly more frequently compared with surgeons in the \geq 30 volume category (36%) (p < 0.001). Low- (45%) and intermediate-volume surgeons (55% and 64%) used absorbable tacks significantly more frequently compared with high-volume surgeons (14%) (p < 0.001), and the high-volume surgeons used permanent tacks (75%) significantly more frequently compared with the lower-volume categories (29% to 50%) (p < 0.001). In addition, low-and intermediate-volume surgeons of \leq 9 (57%), 10 to 19 (71%), and 20 to 29 (73%) cases/y used defect closure significantly more frequently compared with high-volume surgeons (45%) (p < 0.001).

Annual surgeon volume did not impact the risk of reoperation after open mesh umbilical or epigastric repairs compared with high-volume surgeons, as is shown in Table 5. Annual volume of \leq 9 and 10 to 19 cases seemed to have a lower risk of reoperation, and 20 to 29 cases seemed to have a higher risk of reoperation after open mesh umbilical or epigastric hernia repair compared with \geq 30 cases. The Cox proportional hazard analysis was adjusted for mesh placement, emergency vs elective repair, hernia defect size, patient's sex, age, BMI, and smoking status, and is shown in eTable 1. The cumulative reoperation rates separated for the annual surgeon volume categories are shown in Figure 2B. The majority of open mesh repairs were performed by surgeons in the \leq 9 (60%) and 10 to 19 (20%) cases/y categories. Surgeons in the low- and intermediate-volume categories of \leq 9 (69%), 10 to 19 (66%), and 20 to 29 (39%) placed the mesh as onlay more frequently compared with those in the \geq 30 cases/ y category (22%) (p < 0.001). High-volume surgeons used preperitoneal mesh placement (55%) more often.

Annual surgeon volume did not impact the risk of reoperation compared with high-volume surgeons for open nonmesh repair (Table 5). The Cox proportional hazard

Surgeon volume	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p Value	
Laparoscopic repair [†]				
\leq 9 cases/y	6.57	1.63-26.46	0.008	
10-19 cases/y	6.58	1.53-28.22	0.011	
20-29 cases/y	13.59	3.05-60.61	0.001	
\geq 30 cases/y	1	—	—	
Open mesh repair [‡]				
\leq 9 cases/y	0.98	0.42-2.28	0.966	
10-19 cases/y	0.75	0.30-1.88	0.544	
20-29 cases/y	1.65	0.67-4.10	0.278	
\geq 30 cases/y	1	—	—	
Open nonmesh repair [§]				
\leq 9 cases/y	0.68	0.29-1.59	0.371	
10-19 cases/y	0.61	0.24-1.54	0.299	
20-29 cases/y	0.47	0.09-2.34	0.354	
\geq 30 cases/y	1	_	_	

Table 5. Risk of Reoperation Based on Annual Surgeon Volume Assessed with Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses*

*The number of variables adjusted for in the analyses depended on the number of events in the respective cohorts.

[†]Adjusted for elective vs emergency repair, mesh placement, and type of tack used.

[‡]Adjusted for age, sex, BMI, smoking status, elective vs emergency repair, mesh placement, and hernia defect size.

[§]Adjusted for age, sex, BMI, smoking status, elective vs emergency repair, and hernia defect size.

analysis was adjusted for emergency vs elective repair, hernia defect size, patients' sex, age, BMI, and smoking status, as shown in eTable 1. The cumulative reoperation rates for each annual surgeon volume category are shown in Figure 2C. Most of the repairs in this cohort were performed by surgeons with ≤ 9 (72%) and 10 to 19 (20%) cases/y.

In addition, analyses were conducted to investigate secondary outcomes. Firstly, we investigated how surgeon's age dichotomized into younger than 45 years and 45 years and older affected the crude reoperation rate. In the open mesh cohort, there was a significant difference in the reoperation rates for surgeons younger than 45 years (1.5%) and 45 years and older (2.8%) (p = 0.006). In the laparoscopic (p = 0.387) and open nonmesh (p = 0.683) cohorts, there were no significant differences in the crude reoperation rates between surgeons younger than 45 years and 45 years and older. Secondly, we analyzed how the number of years since surgeon's graduation affected the risk of reoperation. The number of years since surgeon's graduation was associated with significantly increased risk of reoperation after open mesh repair. Thirdly, we investigated how the number of years since surgeon's specialization affected the risk of reoperation after umbilical or epigastric hernia repair. The number of years since surgeon's specialization did not impact the risk of reoperation.

Subgroup analyses were performed for hernia defect size ≤ 2 cm and > 2 cm. We found an increased risk of reoperation based on annual surgeon volume after

laparoscopic repair of umbilical and epigastric hernias of ≤ 2 cm (eTable 2).

Lastly, sensitivity analyses were conducted from which repairs performed during the first year of the individual surgeon's operating career were excluded. In the laparoscopic cohort, the sensitivity analyses showed a similar increased risk of reoperation for all categories of lower-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons, but results were only significant for the 20 to 29 cases/y volume category (HR 7.86; p = 0.012). For the open mesh and open nonmesh cohorts, the tendencies were similar to the primary analyses of risk of reoperation across the annual volume categories (analyses not shown).

DISCUSSION

In this nationwide register-based study, we found that annual surgeon volume of < 30 cases was associated with a higher risk of reoperation after laparoscopic repair of umbilical and epigastric hernias compared with highvolume surgeons of ≥ 30 cases. Annual surgeon volume did not seem to impact the risk of reoperation after open mesh and open nonmesh repair of umbilical and epigastric hernias.

To our knowledge, only 1 previous study reported annual surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after primary ventral hernia repairs. In that study, the authors found a decreased risk of reoperation for both laparoscopic and open primary ventral hernia repairs performed by high-volume surgeons of ≥ 30 cases/y compared with



Figure 2. Kaplan-Meier plots showing the (A) cumulative reoperation rate after laparoscopic repair of primary ventral hernia reported based on annual surgeon volume (p = 0.070) and the number of patients. (B) Cumulative reoperation rate after open mesh repair of primary ventral hernia reported based on annual surgeon volume (p = 0.047) and number of patients.(C) Cumulative reoperation rate after open nonmesh repair of primary ventral hernia reported based on annual surgeon volume (p = 0.792) and number of patients.



Figure 2. continue

low-volume surgeons of ≤ 9 cases/y.¹³ However, they did not adjust for the different anatomic mesh placements in their analyses, making it difficult to directly compare their findings with our study population. Interestingly, in the open mesh cohort, we found that high-volume surgeons primarily placed the mesh preperitoneally and lowvolume surgeons placed the mesh as onlay. Preperitoneal mesh placement is a more complex procedure because it requires dissection of the preperitoneal space,²⁴ and this might explain why high-volume surgeons performed most of these repairs. According to current guidelines, the mesh should be placed preperitoneal in open repair when feasible, as it reduces the risk of reoperation and complications compared with other mesh placements¹; however, the strength of recommendation in the guideline was graded as weak. Therefore, it is important to ensure adequate training and education, enabling younger surgeons and surgeons with lower annual volume to perform preperitoneal mesh placement. In addition, we found that most of the laparoscopic preperitoneal mesh repairs were performed by high-volume surgeons, and lower-volume surgeons in the laparoscopic cohort placed the mesh intraperitoneally. In the laparoscopic cohort, highvolume surgeons primarily used permanent tacks, and intermediate-volume surgeons used absorbable tacks

more frequently. Absorbable tacks are associated with an increased risk of reoperation3,10 and use of permanent tacks is recommended.¹ The increased risk of reoperation after laparoscopic umbilical or epigastric hernia repair performed by lower-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons could perhaps be explained by insufficient training and supervision of lower-volume surgeons in our laparoscopic cohort. However, surgical training and supervision is outside the scope of the current study, and additional research is needed to investigate how sufficient surgical training and supervision are ensured. In the open mesh and open nonmesh repair cohorts, the high-volume surgeons performed few of the repairs. The majority of repairs in these cohorts were performed by surgeons in the lower-volume categories. It is important to ensure adequate supervision of lowervolume surgeons performing umbilical and epigastric hernia repair.

There are several strengths to this nationwide registerbased study. The Danish Ventral Hernia Database has nationwide coverage and includes both public and private hospitals and approximately 80% of ventral hernia repairs performed in Denmark are registered in the database,¹⁵ reducing the risk of selection bias of included patients. In addition, the follow-up on patients in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database is close to 100%¹⁵ because the database holds data from the Danish National Patient Registry¹⁸ and the Danish Civil Registration System.¹⁹ Another strength of this study was that we only included primary ventral hernia repairs because differences between primary ventral and incisional hernias have been reported for both surgical management and outcomes.²⁵ In addition, this study used the specific annual surgeon volume and not hospital volume as an indirect measure of surgeon's annual volume, and the annual surgeon volume categories were defined according to pre-existing literature.¹³ The annual surgeon volume was calculated as a dynamic variable that allowed surgeons to change volume categories during the study period, reflecting the varying nature of the number of repairs the individual surgeon performs throughout a 4-year period. The variables adjusted for in the Cox proportional hazard analyses were chosen through backward stepwise elimination, ensuring that the multivariate analyses were adjusted for the relevant covariates, and the multivariate analyses were adjusted for operative characteristics known to affect the risk of reoperation. Yet, the study size was limited by the data availability of surgeons' authorization IDs in the Danish Ventral Hernia Database, which was mandatory from 2016 and onward. Data on patients' BMI and smoking status were only available for 68% of the included patients. The Danish Ventral Hernia Database includes few robot-assisted hernia repairs because this technique is not used frequently in Denmark, therefore, it was not possible to investigate the impact of annual surgeon volume on robot-assisted ventral hernia repair outcomes in this study population. The impact of annual surgeon volume on outcomes after robot-assisted ventral hernia repair should be investigated in a population in which the technique is used more frequently. Another limitation to this study was that we used reoperation rate as a measure for recurrence rate. A previous study found that reoperation rate underestimates the clinical recurrence rate, as only approximately 30% of clinical recurrences are reoperated.⁴ Lastly, there was a risk of a statistical type 2 error in the analyses of the cohorts for open mesh and nonmesh, and it is therefore possible that our findings would reach statistical significance in a larger sample size.

CONCLUSIONS

We found a higher risk of reoperation after laparoscopic umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs performed by low- and intermediate-volume surgeons compared with high-volume surgeons. This might raise a discussion of centralization of laparoscopic umbilical and epigastric hernia repairs on fewer surgeons with high annual volumes to ensure better long-term outcomes for patients. However, factors such as surgical training and geography can impact the feasibility of centralizing laparoscopic umbilical and epigastric hernia repair. We found no significant impact of annual surgeon volume on risk of reoperation after open mesh and open nonmesh repair of umbilical and epigastric repairs.

Author Contributions

- Study conception and design: Christophersen, Fonnes, Andresen, Rosenberg
- Acquisition of data: Andresen
- Analysis and interpretation of data: Christophersen, Baker, Andresen
- Drafting of manuscript: Christophersen
- Critical revision: Christophersen, Fonnes, Baker, Andresen, Rosenberg

Acknowledgment: The authors thank Lasse Valentini Jensen for assistance with the acquisition of data.

REFERENCES

- Henriksen NA, Montgomery A, Kaufmann R, et al. Guidelines for treatment of umbilical and epigastric hernias from the European Hernia Society and Americas Hernia Society. Br J Surg 2020;107:171–190.
- Poulose BK, Shelton J, Phillips S, et al. Epidemiology and cost of ventral hernia repair: making the case for hernia research. Hernia 2012;16:179–183.
- **3.** Christoffersen MW, Brandt E, Helgstrand F, et al. Recurrence rate after absorbable tack fixation of mesh in laparoscopic incisional hernia repair. Br J Surg 2015;102:541–547.
- 4. Helgstrand F, Rosenberg J, Kehlet H, et al. Reoperation versus clinical recurrence rate after ventral hernia repair. Ann Surg 2012;256:955–958.
- Christoffersen MW, Helgstrand F, Rosenberg J, et al. Longterm recurrence and chronic pain after repair for small umbilical or epigastric hernias: a regional cohort study. Am J Surg 2015;209:725–732.
- 6. Donovan K, Denham M, Kuchta K, et al. Predictors for recurrence after open umbilical hernia repair in 979 patients. Surgery 2019;166:615–622.
- 7. Hajibandeh S, Hajibandeh S, Sreh A, et al. Laparoscopic versus open umbilical or paraumbilical hernia repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hernia 2017;21:905–916.
- **8.** Bisgaard T, Kaufmann R, Christoffersen M, et al. Lower risk of recurrence after mesh repair versus non-mesh sutured repair in open umbilical hernia repair: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Scand J Surg 2019; 108:187–193.
- 9. Holihan JL, Nguyen DH, Nguyen MT, et al. Mesh location in open ventral hernia repair: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. World J Surg 2016;40:89–99.
- 10. Baker JJ, Öberg S, Andresen K, et al. Systematic review and network meta-analysis of methods of mesh fixation during

laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. Br J Surg 2018;105: 37–47.

- **11.** Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, et al. Lower recurrence rate after groin and primary ventral hernia repair performed by high-volume surgeons: a systematic review. Hernia 2021 Jan 6 [Epub ahead of print].
- Aquina CT, Kelly KN, Probst CP, et al. Surgeon volume plays a significant role in outcomes and cost following open incisional hernia repair. J Gastrointest Surg 2015;19:100–110.
- **13.** Aquina CT, Fleming FJ, Becerra AZ, et al. Explaining variation in ventral and inguinal hernia repair outcomes: a population-based analysis. Surgery 2017;162:628–639.
- Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, et al. The REporting of studies Conducted using Observational Routinely-collected health Data (RECORD) statement. PLoS Med 2015;12:e1001885.
- Helgstrand F, Jorgensen LN. The Danish ventral hernia database—a valuable tool for quality assessment and research. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:719–723.
- 16. Danish Patient Safety Authority. Information about the online register. Available at: https://en.stps.dk/en/health-professionals-and-authorities/online-register-registered-health-professionals/inf ormation-about-the-online-register/. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 17. Rosenberg J, Friis-Andersen H, Jørgensen L, et al. Variables in the Danish hernia databases: inguinal and ventral. Laparosc Surg 2021. https://doi.org/10.21037/ls-20-125.

- Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Sandegaard JL, et al. The Danish National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. Clin Epidemiol 2015;7:449–490.
- Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22–25.
- 20. US Food and Drug Administration. Ethicon voluntarily withdraws Physiomesh. 2016. Available at: https://www.fd anews.com/articles/177311-ethicon-voluntarily-withdraws-phy siomesh. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 21. Neumayer LA, Gawande AA, Wang J, et al. Proficiency of surgeons in inguinal hernia repair: effect of experience and age. Ann Surg 2005;242:344–348.
- **22.** Muysoms FE, Miserez M, Berrevoet F, et al. Classification of primary and incisional abdominal wall hernias. Hernia 2009; 13:407–414.
- **23.** Peduzzi P, Concato J, Kemper E, et al. A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. J Clin Epidemiol 1996;49:1373–1379.
- Adrales GL. Abdominal wall spaces for mesh placement: onlay, sublay, underlay. In: Novitsky Y, ed. Hernia Surgery. Cham: Springer; 2016:79–87.
- Köckerling F, Schug-Paß C, Adolf D, et al. Is pooled data analysis of ventral and incisional hernia repair acceptable? Front Surg 2015;2:15.

eTable 1. Risk of Reoperation Based on Annual Surgeon Volume Assessed with Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for the Laparoscopic, Open Mesh, and Open Nonmesh Cohorts with Adjusted Covariates

Repair	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p Value
Laparoscopic			
Annual surgeon volume			
\leq 9 cases	6.57	1.63-26.46	0.008
10-19 cases	6.58	1.53-28.22	0.011
20-29 cases	13.59	3.05-60.61	0.001
≥ 30 cases	1	—	—
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	2.71	1.64-6.32	0.021
Elective	1	—	_
Mesh placement			
Intraperitoneal	0.25	0.08-0.77	0.016
Preperitoneal	1	—	—
Type of tack			
Absorbable	0.60	0.29-1.24	0.169
Permanent	1		
Open mesh			
Annual surgeon volume			
≤ 9 cases	0.98	0.42-2.28	0.966
10-19 cases	0.75	0.30-1.88	0.544
20-29 cases	1.65	0.67-4.10	0.278
≥ 30 cases	1	_	_
Age, y	0.99	0.98-1.01	0.446
Sex			
Female	1.73	1.11-2.70	0.015
Male	1	_	_
BMI			
$> 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$	0.74	0.36-1.53	0.415
$< 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$	1	_	
Smoking status			
Active	0.46	0.14-1.53	0.207
Nonactive	1	_	
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	1.49	0.79-2.81	0.216
Elective	1	_	
Mesh placement			
Onlay	0.66	0.38-1.14	0.134
Sublay	1.71	0.63-4.62	0.292
Intraperitoneal	1.11	0.60-2.07	0.742
Preperitoneal	1		
Hernia defect size, cm	0.89	0.70-1.14	0.351
Open nonmesh			
Annual surgeon volume			
< 9 cases	0.68	0 29-1 59	0.371
10-19 cases	0.61	0.24-1.54	0 299
20-29 cases	0.47	0.09-2.34	0.255
> 30 cases	1		
Age v	1 00	0.98-1.01	0 435
1.5c, y	1.00	0.70 1.01	0.+3)

(Continued)

eTable 1. Continued

Repair	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p Value
Sex			
Female	1.34	0.87-1.96	0.194
Male	1	—	_
BMI			
> 30 kg/m ²	1.47	0.73-2.95	0.276
\leq 30 kg/m ²	1	—	—
Smoking status			
Active	0.69	0.24-1.96	0.484
Nonactive	1	—	—
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	0.88	0.48-1.64	0.693
Elective	1	—	
Hernia defect size, cm	1.13	1.00-1.29	0.060

eTable 2. Subgroup Analyses of Umbilical or Epigastric Hernia $\leq 2 \mbox{ cm}^*$

Repair	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p Value
Laparoscopic			
Annual surgeon volume			
\leq 9 cases	9.31	1.89-45.89	0.006
10-19 cases	9.50	1.86-48.46	0.007
20-29 cases	21.92	3.79-126.97	0.001
≥ 30 cases	1	—	_
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	5.91	2.28-15.36	< 0.001
Elective	1	—	—
Mesh placement			
Intraperitoneal	0.14	0.04 - 0.44	0.001
Preperitoneal	1	—	_
Type of tack			
Absorbable	0.52	0.19-1.39	0.194
Permanent	1	—	_
Open mesh			
Annual surgeon volume			
\leq 9 cases	0.83	0.35-1.97	0.674
10-19 cases	0.73	0.29-1.83	0.498
20-29 cases	1.12	0.42-2.98	0.823
\geq 30 cases	1		_
Age, y	0.99	0.97-1.01	0.183
Sex			
Female	1.97	1.22-3.19	0.006
Male	1	_	_
BMI			
> 30 kg/m ²	0.72	0.32-1.59	0.414
\leq 30 kg/m ²	1	_	_
Smoking status			
Active	0.17	0.02-1.28	0.086
Nonactive	1		
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	1.41	0.69-2.88	0.349
Elective	1	_	
Mesh placement			
Onlay	0.87	0.47-1.60	0.647
Sublay	2.54	0.83-7.73	0.101
Intraperitoneal	1.67	0.86-3.27	0.131
Preperitoneal	1	_	_
Hernia defect size, cm	1.00	0.62-1.63	0.989
Open nonmesh			
Annual surgeon volume			
≤ 9 cases	0.69	0.29-1.62	0.390
10-19 cases	0.60	0.24-1.51	0.275
20-29 cases	0.46	0.09-2.33	0.350
\geq 30 cases	1		
Age, y	0.99	0.98-1.01	0.271

(Continued)

eTable 2. Continued

Repair	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p Value
Sex			
Female	1.20	0.79-1.84	0.395
Male	1	_	_
BMI			
> 30 kg/m ²	1.43	0.67-3.04	0.357
\leq 30 kg/m ²	1	—	—
Smoking status			
Active	0.84	0.29-2.43	0.751
Nonactive	1	—	—
Elective vs emergency repair			
Emergency	0.63	0.29-1.37	0.244
Elective	1		_
Hernia defect size, cm	1.37	0.88-2.13	0.169

*Risk of reoperation based on annual surgeon volume assessed with Cox proportional hazard analyses for the laparoscopic, open mesh, and open nonmesh cohorts with the adjusted covariates.

JAMA Surgery | Original Investigation

Risk of Reoperation for Recurrence After Elective Primary Groin and Ventral Hernia Repair by Supervised Residents

Camilla Christophersen, MS; Siv Fonnes, MD, PhD; Kristoffer Andresen, MD, PhD; Jacob Rosenberg, MD, DSc

IMPORTANCE Surgical training involves letting residents operate under supervision. Since hernia repair is a common procedure worldwide, it is a frequent part of the surgical curriculum.

OBJECTIVE To assess the risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair performed by supervised residents compared with that by specialists.

DESIGN, SETTING, AND PARTICIPANTS This nationwide register-based cohort study included data from January 2016 to September 2021. Patients were followed up until reoperation, emigration, death, or the end of the study period. The study used data from the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases linked with data from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register via surgeons' unique authorization ID. The cohort included patients aged 18 years or older who underwent primary elective hernia repairs performed by supervised residents or specialists for inguinal, femoral, epigastric, or umbilical hernias. Hernia repairs were divided into the following 4 groups: Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic transabdominal preperitoneal (TAPP) groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral.

EXPOSURES Hernia repairs performed by supervised residents vs specialists.

MAIN OUTCOMES AND MEASURES Reoperation for recurrence, analyzed separately for all 4 groups.

RESULTS A total of 868 specialists and residents who performed 31 683 primary groin and 7777 primary ventral hernia repairs were included in this study. The median age of patients who underwent hernia repair was 60 years (IQR, 48-70 years), and 33 424 patients (84.7%) were male. There was no significant difference in the adjusted risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein groin hernia repair (hazard ratio [HR], 1.26; 95% CI, 0.99-1.59), laparoscopic groin hernia repair (HR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.73-1.40), open ventral hernia repair (HR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.61-1.29), and laparoscopic ventral hernia repair (HR, 2.96; 95% CI, 0.99-8.84) performed by supervised residents compared with those by specialists. There was, however, a slightly increased unadjusted, cumulative reoperation rate after Lichtenstein repairs performed by supervised residents compared with those by specialists (4.8% vs 4.2%; P = .048).

CONCLUSIONS AND RELEVANCE The findings of this study suggest that neither open nor laparoscopic repair of groin and ventral hernias performed by supervised residents appeared to be associated with a higher risk of reoperation for recurrence compared with the operations performed by specialists. This indicates that residents may safely perform elective hernia repair when supervised as part of their training curriculum.

JAMA Surg. 2023;158(4):359-367. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2022.7502 Published online February 1, 2023.



Author Affiliations: Center for Perioperative Optimization,

Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Corresponding Author: Camilla Christophersen, MS, Center for Perioperative Optimization, Department of Surgery, Herlev Hospital, University of Copenhagen, Borgmester Ib Juuls Vej 1, 2730 Herlev, Denmark (christophersen.camilla@gmail.com).

urgical training involves letting residents operate under the supervision of an experienced surgeon. However, there are concerns that supervised residents perform poorly with poorer outcomes for patients, such as higher recurrence rates after hernia repair. Annual surgeon volume has been shown to be associated with the quality of hernia repair, and low-volume surgeons have been associated with higher risks of reoperation after repair of primary groin and ventral hernia repair.^{1,2} Furthermore, studies by our group^{1,2} have previously shown in the Danish Inguinal and Ventral Hernia Databases (hereinafter, the Danish Hernia Databases) that low-volume surgeons were, for the most part, inexperienced or still in their general surgery residency. Hernia repair is a part of the general surgery training curriculum in many countries since it is a common procedure worldwide.³ Residents in general surgery must perform procedures to master the surgical techniques and overcome their learning curve.⁴⁻⁷ It is therefore important to ensure that surgical residents can perform hernia repairs with acceptable reoperation rates. The aim of this study was to assess the risk of reoperation due to recurrence after elective primary inguinal, femoral, umbilical, and epigastric hernia repairs performed by supervised residents compared with those performed by specialists.

Methods

Data Sources

This was a retrospective register-based cohort study based on prospectively collected data from the Danish Hernia Databases and the Patient Safety Authority's Online Register. The study was reported according to the Reporting of Studies Conducted Using Observational Routinely Collected Health Data (RECORD) statement.⁸ This study was approved by the Danish Data Protection Agency and the Danish Clinical Quality Program. According to Danish law, approval from ethics committees and informed written consent from patients, residents, or specialists were not required. Data on specialists and residents were anonymized before analyses and presentation.

All Danish health professionals have a unique authorization ID, making it possible to obtain data on residents and specialists from the publicly available Patient Safety Authority's Online Register.⁹ This online register contains data on health professionals' date of birth, date of authorization, specialty, and date of specialization, allowing identification of health professionals as specialized surgeons or residents. Data on hernia repairs were retrieved from the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database¹⁰ and Ventral Hernia Database¹¹ established in 1998 and 2007, respectively. Both databases include data from the public as well as private health sectors. The variables available in the Danish Hernia Databases have been described elsewhere.¹² The Danish Hernia Databases do not contain data on patients' race and ethnicity. Since 2016, the Danish Hernia Databases include the specialists' or residents' unique authorization ID as well as the variable for supervision, which was dichotomized into yes and no responses. The Danish Hernia Databases were linked with

Key Points

Question Is there an increased risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair performed by supervised residents?

Findings This Danish nationwide cohort study analyzed 31683 primary groin and 7777 primary ventral hernia repairs performed by 868 supervised residents and specialists. There was no difference in the adjusted risk of recurrence-related reoperation after elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin or ventral hernias performed by supervised residents compared with those performed by specialists.

Meaning The findings of this study suggest that supervised residents can safely perform elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin and ventral hernias without increased risk of reoperation.

the Patient Safety Authority's Online Register via specialists' or residents' unique authorization ID.

The study period was from January 1, 2016, to September 16, 2021, and began when the supervision variable became a required entry field in the Danish Hernia Databases. Patients were followed up via the databases until reoperation for recurrence, emigration, death, or the end of the study period, whichever came first. The Danish Hernia Databases draw data from the Danish National Patient Registry¹³ and Civil Registration System.¹⁴ This ensured full follow-up of the included hernia repairs since the Danish National Patient Registry includes all operations, and thus all reoperations, and the Danish Civil Registration System includes all deaths and emigrations.

A valid entry of authorization ID in the Danish Hernia Databases was the eligibility criterion for specialists and residents in this study. We included primary elective repairs of inguinal, femoral, umbilical, and epigastric hernias performed by supervised residents or unsupervised specialists on patients aged 18 years or older. Patients were required to live in Denmark at the time of the repair. Groin hernia repairs performed with the Lichtenstein or laparoscopic transabdominal preperitoneal (TAPP) approach were included since TAPP makes up more than 98% of all laparoscopic groin hernia repairs in Denmark.¹⁵ Ventral hernia repairs performed with open or laparoscopic approaches were included. Furthermore, the included hernia repairs were required to have a valid entry in the supervision variable, thus excluding entries with missing data. Repairs were excluded if a laparoscopic approach was converted to open. In addition, ventral hernia repairs were excluded based on operative characteristics known to be associated with increased recurrence rates: ventral hernia repairs with a transverse defect size greater than 10 cm, repairs performed as secondary procedures, use of component separation, use of resorbable mesh, and use of Physiomesh (Ethicon) since this coated polypropylene mesh was withdrawn due to higher rates of recurrence.¹⁶ Furthermore, ventral hernia repairs with an invalid registration of the anatomical mesh placement were excluded. To ensure that the included patients were operated on for primary hernias, we performed a "look-back" from the implementation of both databases, and a groin or ventral hernia repair prior to the index operation was considered a reoperation and excluded. The look-back was performed separately from the implementation of the Danish Inguinal Database from 1998 onward, and in the Ventral Hernia Database from 2007 onward.¹²

Outcome Measure

The outcome of interest was the reoperation rate and risk of reoperation due to recurrence after repairs performed by supervised residents vs specialists. We considered repairs performed by supervised residents since these repairs represent repairs performed with a training or educational purpose. Supervision was defined as a supervisor being present in the operating room, which is registered by the primary surgeon. However, the extent of supervision was not available from the Danish Hernia Databases and may have ranged from an unscrubbed supervisor present to a scrubbed supervisor assisting the primary surgeon. The databases do not include information about the supervising surgeon, but only the primary surgeon. The specialists were used as the reference group, and they were defined as surgeons who had achieved their specialization in gastrointestinal surgery or general surgery at the time of operation. We assumed that the specialists were experienced with hernia repair since they were not supervised. The included primary hernias were divided into 4 groups: Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repair. Reoperation was defined as a subsequent operation of the same type (groin or ventral) of hernia in the same location.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses were conducted in SPSS, version 25.0 (IBM). All analyses were performed separately for the primary Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs. Histograms and Q-Q plots were used to evaluate the distribution of continuous data. Median and IQR were used to describe nonnormally distributed data. Continuous data were presented as numbers with percentages. Categorical data were analyzed with the independent χ^2 test and Fisher exact test if the expected value was less than 5. Nonnormally distributed continuous data were analyzed using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn tests. Crude reoperation rates were presented with 95% CIs. $P \le .05$ was considered significant. Cox proportional hazards regression analyses were used to assess the risks of reoperation after primary Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs. The estimates were presented as hazard ratios (HRs) with corresponding 95% CIs, and hernia repairs performed by specialists were used as the reference group. The Cox proportional hazards regression analyses for both Lichtenstein and laparoscopic TAPP repair of primary groin hernia were adjusted for the patient's age,¹⁷ hernia defect size as defined by the European Hernia Society,¹⁸ and the type of inguinal and femoral hernias separately.¹⁹ The Cox proportional hazards regression analysis for open primary umbilical and epigastric hernia repair was adjusted for the

patient's age, ²⁰ body mass index (BMI), ²¹ smoking status, ²¹ transverse hernia defect size, ²¹ and the use of mesh vs no mesh. ²² In the laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair group, there were 21 reoperations, and in Cox regressions approximately 10 events should be present per included covariate. ²³ Therefore, the covariates included in the analysis of this group were chosen theory based, and the Cox regression in the laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair group was adjusted for defect closure²⁴ in addition to supervised residents vs specialists. Kaplan-Meier plots were used to depict the unadjusted cumulative reoperation rate after hernia repairs performed by supervised residents and specialists, and the log-rank test was used to determine statistical significance.

Results

Patient and Operative Characteristics for Included Hernias

A total of 868 specialists and residents who performed 31 683 primary groin and 7777 primary ventral hernia repairs were included in this study. A flowchart of the inclusion process is depicted in **Figure 1**.

The median age of patients who underwent hernia repair was 60 years (IQR, 48-70 years), 33 424 patients (84.7%) were male, and 6036 (15.3%) were female. Other patient characteristics and demographics of the included hernia repairs are given in Table 1. Supervised residents performed the laparoscopic hernia repairs significantly later in their residency compared with the open approaches. The median time from residents' graduation until supervised Lichtenstein groin hernia repair was 4 years (IQR, 2-6 years) and 7 years (IQR, 4-9 years) until laparoscopic TAPP primary groin hernia repair (P < .001). For supervised open primary ventral hernia repair, the median time from residents' graduation was 3 years (IQR, 2-5 years), while for supervised laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repairs the median time from graduation was 6 years (IQR, 4-8 years) (P < .001). Furthermore, only 7.7% of the laparoscopic groin and 7.6% of the laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs were performed by supervised residents.

Outcomes

The total crude reoperation rates after primary Lichtenstein groin (2.9; 95% CI, 2.6-3.2), laparoscopic TAPP groin (2.5; 95% CI, 2.3-2.7), open ventral (2.0; 95% CI, 1.7-2.4), and laparoscopic ventral (1.3; 95% CI, 0.8-1.9) hernia repairs are provided in **Table 2**. There was no difference in the crude reoperation rates after primary hernia repairs performed by supervised residents compared with specialists in the 4 groups.

Results of the adjusted Cox proportional hazards regression analyses for risk of recurrence-related reoperation after primary Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs are given in **Table 3**. The adjusted analyses for risk of reoperation with the included covariates are presented in the eTable in the **Supplement**. According to the adjusted analyses, there were no significant differences in the risk of reoperation due to recurrence after primary hernia repairs performed by supervised residents compared with specialists for primary Lich-



preperitoneal laparoscopic repair: ventral includes umbilical and epigastric hernias. ^a Unsupervised residents or supervised specialists.

tenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, or laparoscopic ventral hernias. The unadjusted cumulative recurrence-related reoperation rate is depicted in the Kaplan-Meier plots in Figure 2. There was no significant difference in the adjusted risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein groin hernia repair (HR, 1.26; 95% CI, 0.99-1.59), laparoscopic groin hernia repair (HR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.73-1.40), open ventral hernia repair (HR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.61-1.29), and laparoscopic ventral hernia repair (HR, 2.96; 95% CI, 0.99-8.84) performed by supervised residents compared with those by specialists. There was a slightly increased cumulative reoperation rate after Lichtenstein repair of primary groin hernias performed by supervised residents compared with specialists. After 5 years, the cumulative reoperation rate after Lichtenstein repairs performed by supervised residents was 4.8% compared with 4.2% for repairs performed by specialists (P = .048). There was no difference in the cumulative reoperation rates after primary laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs performed by supervised residents compared with those by specialists.

We excluded all laparoscopic repairs converted to an open approach. There were 41 laparoscopic TAPP primary groin hernia repairs converted to an open approach; of these, 1 was performed by a supervised resident while 40 were performed by specialists, this difference was not significant (P = .37). There were 28 laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repairs converted to open approach; of these, 2 were performed by supervised residents while 18 were performed by specialists (P = .66).

Discussion

According to our findings, primary hernia repairs performed by supervised residents did not appear to be associated with higher risk of reoperation for recurrence. Furthermore, there was no difference in the conversion rates from the laparoscopic to open approach for both primary groin and ventral hernia repairs for supervised residents compared with specialists. These findings are reassuring since hernia repair is a part of the surgical training curriculum in many countries.

General surgery training programs vary from country to country,²⁵ and the minimum number of hernia repairs required during residency varies from 80 repairs of groin and ventral hernias in the US²⁶ and 50 inguinal hernia repairs in the UK,27 to 20 competency-evaluated groin and ventral hernia repairs in Denmark.²⁸ Of these repairs, the majority are probably performed as supervised operations. In reality, the number of hernia repairs performed by residents varies across the world²⁹; with the increasing complexity of abdominal surgery, residents do not necessarily become fully familiarized with laparoscopic hernia repair before becoming a specialist in general surgery.³⁰ In addition, we found that residents encountered laparoscopic hernia repair techniques significantly

	No. (%)		
		Hernia repairs performed b	у
Characteristic	Total	Supervised residents	Specialists
Lichtenstein groin hernia	10 140 (100)	3567 (35.2)	6573 (64.8)
Age, median (IQR), y	69 (59-75)	69 (59-75)	69 (59-75)
Sex			
Male	9998 (98.6)	3540 (99.2)	6458 (98.3)
Female	142 (1.4%)	27 (0.8%)	115 (1.7%)
Defect size ^a			
EHS 1	784 (7.7)	209 (5.9)	575 (8.7)
EHS 2	4986 (49.2)	1876 (52.6)	3110 (47.3)
EHS ≥3	4370 (43.1)	1482 (41.5)	2888 (43.9)
Type of hernia			
Inguinal	10 110 (99.7)	3556 (99.7)	6554 (99.7)
Femoral	1 (0.01)	1 (0.02)	0
Combination	29 (0.3)	10 (0.3)	19 (0.3)
Laparoscopic TAPP groin hernia	21 543 (100)	1658 (7.7)	19885 (92.3)
Age, median (IQR), y	58 (47-69)	60 (49-70)	58 (47-69)
Sex			
Male	18 331 (85.1)	1343 (81.0)	16 988 (85.4)
Female	3212 (14.9)	315 (19.0)	2897 (14.6)
Defect size ^a			
EHS 1	2406 (11.2)	211 (12.7)	2195 (11.0)
EHS 2	11 269 (52.3)	879 (53.0)	10 390 (52.3)
EHS ≥3	7868 (36.5)	568 (34.3)	7300 (36.7)
Type of hernia			
Inguinal	20 278 (94.1)	1536 (92.6)	18 742 (94.3)
Femoral	852 (4.0)	76 (4.6)	776 (3.9)
Combination	413 (1.9)	46 (2.8)	367 (1.8)
Open ventral hernia ^b	6136 (100)	2151 (35.1)	3985 (64.9)
Age, median (IQR), y	50 (40-61)	50 (39-61)	50 (40-61)
Sex			
Male	3958 (64.5)	1380 (64.2)	2578 (64.7)
Female	2178 (35.5)	771 (35.8)	1407 (35.3)
BMI >30	1045 (17.0)	384 (17.9)	661 (16.6)
Smoking status			
Active	721 (11.8)	286 (13.3)	435 (10.9)
Unknown	2086 (34.0)	751 (34.9)	1335 (33.5)
Defect size, median (IQR), cm	1 (1-2)	1 (0.8-1.6)	1 (1-2)
Type of hernia			
Umbilical	4754 (77.5)	1678 (78.0)	3076 (77.2)
Epigastric	1382 (22.5)	473 (22.0)	909 (22.8)
Use of mesh			
Mesh	4283 (69.8)	1543 (71.7)	2740 (68.8)
No mesh	1853 (30.2)	608 (28.3)	1245 (31.2)
Laparoscopic ventral hernia ^b	1641 (100)	124 (7.6)	1517 (92.4)
Age, median (IQR), y	54 (46-62)	56 (48-65)	54 (46-62)
Sex			
Male	1137 (69.3)	88 (71.0)	1049 (69.1)
Female	504 (30.7)	36 (29 0)	468 (30.9)

(continued)

jamasurgery.com

Table 1. Patient and Operative Characteristics for the Included Hernias (continued)

	No. (%)			
		Hernia repairs performed by		
Characteristic	Total	Supervised residents	Specialists	
BMI >30	541 (33.0)	46 (37.1)	495 (32.6)	
Smoking status				
Active	170 (10.4)	17 (13.7)	153 (10.1)	
Unknown	523 (31.9)	52 (41.9)	471 (31.0)	
Defect size, median (IQR), cm	2 (2-3)	2.5 (2-3)	2 (2-3)	
Type of hernia				
Umbilical	1299 (79.2)	93 (75.0)	1206 (79.5)	
Epigastric	342 (20.8)	31 (25.0)	311 (20.5)	
Defect closure	979 (59.7)	91 (73.4)	888 (58.5)	

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index (calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared); EHS, European Hernia Society; TAPP, transabdominal preperitoneal.

^a Defect sizes were classified according to the EHS classification¹⁸ as follows: EHS1 indicates defect size under 1 finger width (<1.5 cm); EHS2, defect size 1 to 2 fingers (<3 cm); and EHS of 3 or greater, defect size more than 3 fingers (>3 cm).

^b Ventral hernias include primary umbilical and epigastric hernias.

Table 2. Crude Reoperation Rates and Follow-up for Recurrence Reported for Supervised Residents and Specialists

Type of hernia and repair	Total	Supervised residents	Specialists
Groin hernia			
Lichtenstein			
Reoperation rate, % (95% CI)	2.9 (2.6-3.2)	3.3 (2.7-3.9)	2.6 (2.3-3.1)
Follow-up, median (IQR), mo	33 (15-48)	32 (15-47)	33 (16-48)
Laparoscopic TAPP			
Reoperation rate, % (95% CI)	2.5 (2.3-2.7)	2.4 (1.8-3.2)	2.5 (2.3-2.7)
Follow-up, median (IQR), mo	29 (13-46)	29 (12-45)	29 (13-46)
Ventral hernia ^a			
Open			
Reoperation rate, % (95% CI)	2.0 (1.7-2.4)	1.9 (1.4-2.6)	2.1 (1.7-2.6)
Follow-up, median (IQR), mo	31 (16-47)	34 (19-47)	30 (14-47)
Laparoscopic			
Reoperation rate, % (95% CI)	1.3 (0.8-1.9)	3.2 (1.1-7.5)	1.1 (0.7-1.7)
Follow-up, median (IQR), mo	36 (21-48)	40 (24-51)	36 (20-48)

Abbreviation: TAPP, transabdominal preperitoneal.

^a Ventral hernias include umbilical and epigastric hernias.

later during residency compared with open techniques for both groin and ventral hernia repairs, underlining the importance of supervision. Furthermore, only 7.7% of laparoscopic groin and 7.6% of laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs were performed by supervised residents (Table 1), reflecting that the number of laparoscopic hernia repairs available to residents might be limited in our population. This is worrying since the use of laparoscopic technique is increasing while the use of open techniques is decreasing.^{31,32}

The adjusted analyses for risk of reoperation showed no significant changes in risks of reoperation after primary Lichtenstein groin, laparoscopic TAPP groin, open ventral, and laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs. The analyses were adjusted for competing factors that could potentially affect the risk of reoperation. In addition, it is important to underline that the adjusted analyses take these competing factors into account, making the estimated risks more accurate. After laparoscopic ventral hernia repair performed by supervised residents, the risk of reoperation was 2.96 (95% CI, 0.99-8.84). Although this was not statistically significant, this seemingly increased risk might have clinical implications.

The unadjusted cumulative reoperation rate after Lichtenstein repair of primary groin hernias showed a slight

difference of 0.6 percentage points between supervised residents (4.8%) and specialists (4.2%); thus, not clinically important. A previous observational study³³ confirmed that the recurrence rate did not differ between supervised trainees and consultants after both laparoscopic and open repair of groin hernias. Another observational study³⁴ showed that laparoscopic TAPP performed by trainees guided by specialists were not associated with a higher risk of recurrence compared with repairs performed by specialists alone, and laparoscopic TAPP groin hernia repair can be performed safely by trainees under supervision, thus supporting our findings. A Swedish register-based study³⁵ found an increased risk of reoperation after Lichtenstein repair of primary inguinal hernias performed by supervised as well as unsupervised trainees compared with specialists. The risk of reoperation, presented as HRs, ranged from 1.60 (95% CI, 1.18-2.17) to 1.72 (95% CI, 1.25-2.37) for unsupervised trainees, depending on their operation time, and an HR of 1.55 (95% CI, 1.05-2.27) for supervised trainees.³⁵ This is not a sign that trainees should be excluded from Lichtenstein hernia repairs but rather a sign that in some settings there might still be a need to focus on training and adequate supervision.35

Strengths and Limitations

This study has several strengths. The study period was defined by when the supervision variable became a required entry in the Danish Hernia Databases in 2016. There were some registrations in the supervision variable before 2016; however, these were excluded to minimize risk of bias. The follow-up in the Danish Hernia Databases is approximately 100%, since they also include data from the Danish National Patient Registry¹³ and Civil Registration System¹⁴; thus, there were no losses to follow-up in our population, since patients who died or emigrated during the study period were censored in our analyses. Open and laparoscopic approaches were analyzed separately, as were primary groin and primary ventral hernia repairs, since the anatomy, techniques used, and learning curves vary depending on the type of hernia and operative approach.⁴⁻⁷ Furthermore, we included only elective hernia repairs, since there was probably more time for adequate supervision during elective repairs than during emergency repairs and emergency abdominal repairs are usually more complex. $^{\rm 30}$

However, there are also limitations to this study. The supervision variable in the Danish Hernia Databases is dichotomous (yes or no), and it contains no information on the level of supervision or the supervising surgeon. It was possible to adjust for BMI and smoking status in the analysis of primary ventral hernia Table 3. Risk of Reoperation Assessed With Cox Proportional Hazards Regression Analyses for Operations Performed by Supervised Residents vs Specialists

Type of hernia and repair	Hazard ratio (95% CI)	P value
Groin hernia		
Lichtenstein ^a		
Supervised residents	1.26 (0.99-1.59)	.06
Specialists	1 [Reference]	
Laparoscopic TAPP ^a		
Supervised residents	1.01 (0.73-1.40)	.95
Specialists	1 [Reference]	
Ventral hernia ^b		
Open ^c		
Supervised residents	0.89 (0.61-1.29)	.54
Specialists	1 [Reference]	
Laparoscopic ^d		
Supervised residents	2.96 (0.99-8.84)	.052
Specialists	1 [Reference]	

Abbreviation: TAPP, transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair.

^a Adjusted for age, type of hernia, and size.

^b Ventral hernias include umbilical and epigastric hernias.

^c Adjusted for age, body mass index, smoking status, hernia size, and use of mesh. ^d Adjusted for defect closure.

Figure 2. Kaplan-Meier Plots Showing the Cumulative Recurrence-Related Reoperation Rate Among Supervised Residents and Specialists









 Specialists
 19885 17790 15580 13915 11708
 9825
 9825
 6351
 4535

 Supervised residents
 1658
 1496
 1283
 1158
 978
 808
 625
 492
 363

D Laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair



Graphs show the number of hernia repairs at risk for reoperation over time. TAPP indicates transabdominal preperitoneal laparoscopic repair.

repairs. However, data on BMI and smoking status were not available in the Danish Inguinal Hernia Database and were therefore not included in the analyses of primary groin hernia repairs, although both have been associated with a higher risk of recurrence.¹⁹ The numbers of laparoscopic groin and ventral hernia repairs performed by supervised residents were only 7.7% and 7.6%, respectively, due to a limitation of elective laparoscopic hernia repairs available to residents in the current study setting. This resulted in a wide 95% CI especially for laparoscopic ventral hernia repairs performed by supervised residents; therefore, a statistical type II error cannot be ruled out. Thus, further research in larger study settings is needed, with a larger population of surgeons and patients, investigating whether residents can safely perform laparoscopic hernia repairs.

Conclusions

The findings of this cohort study suggest that elective open and laparoscopic repair of primary groin, umbilical, and epigastric hernias performed by supervised residents may have a similar risk of reoperation for recurrence as operations by specialists. Thus, a supervised resident is unlikely to be a risk factor for recurrence-related reoperation. Supervised residents can safely perform elective hernia repairs with acceptable outcomes for patients, and elective hernia repair can be managed safely as part of the surgical training curriculum when residents are supervised.

ARTICLE INFORMATION

Accepted for Publication: September 28, 2022. Published Online: February 1, 2023.

doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2022.7502

Author Contributions: Ms Christophersen had full access to all of the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. Concept and design: All authors.

Acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data: All authors.

Drafting of the manuscript: Christophersen. Critical revision of the manuscript for important

intellectual content: All authors. Statistical analysis: Christophersen. Obtained funding: Christophersen, Rosenberg. Administrative, technical, or material support:

Christophersen, Rosenberg. Supervision: Fonnes, Andresen, Rosenberg.

Conflict of Interest Disclosures: Ms

Christophersen reported receiving grants from Herlev and Gentofte Hospital. No other disclosures were reported.

Funding/Support: This study was financially supported by the internal research fund of Herlev and Gentofte Hospital.

Role of the Funder/Sponsor: The funder had no role in the design and conduct of the study; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data; preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript; and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

Additional Contributions: We thank Lasse Valentini Jensen, MSc, cVation, for assistance with acquisition of data from the Danish Patient Safety Authority's Online Register. No additional compensation was offered for this contribution.

REFERENCES

 Christophersen C, Baker JJ, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Lower reoperation rates after open and laparoscopic groin hernia repair when performed by high-volume surgeons: a nationwide register-based study. *Hernia*. 2021;25 (5):1189-1197. doi:10.1007/s10029-021-02400-0

2. Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Baker JJ, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Surgeon volume and risk of reoperation after laparoscopic primary ventral hernia repair: a nationwide register-based study. *J Am Coll Surg*. 2021;233(3):346-356.e4. doi:10. 1016/j.jamcollsurg.2021.05.023 **3**. Primatesta P, Goldacre MJ. Inguinal hernia repair: incidence of elective and emergency surgery, readmission and mortality. *Int J Epidemiol*. 1996;25 (4):835-839. doi:10.1093/ije/25.4.835

4. Köckerling F. What is the influence of simulation-based training courses, the learning curve, supervision, and surgeon volume on the outcome in hernia repair? a systematic review. *Front Surg.* 2018;5:57. doi:10.3389/fsurg.2018.00057

5. Merola G, Cavallaro G, Iorio O, et al. Learning curve in open inguinal hernia repair: a quality improvement multicentre study about Lichtenstein technique. *Hernia*. 2020;24(3):651-659. doi:10. 1007/s10029-019-02064-x

6. Al-Harazi A, Goel R, Tan CTK, Cheah WK, Lomanto D. Laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: defining the learning curve. *Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech*. 2014;24(6):475-477. doi:10.1097/ SLE.0000000000000020

7. Henriksen NA, Montgomery A, Kaufmann R, et al; European and Americas Hernia Societies (EHS and AHS). Guidelines for treatment of umbilical and epigastric hernias from the European Hernia Society and Americas Hernia Society. *Br J Surg.* 2020;107(3):171-190. doi:10.1002/bjs.11489

8. Benchimol EI, Smeeth L, Guttmann A, et al; RECORD Working Committee. The Reporting of Studies Conducted Using Observational Routinely-Collected Health Data (RECORD) statement. *PLoS Med*. 2015;12(10):e1001885. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001885

9. Information about the Online Register. Danish Patient Safety Authority. Accessed September 21, 2022. https://en.stps.dk/en/health-professionalsand-authorities/online-register-registered-healthprofessionals/information-about-the-onlineregister/

10. Friis-Andersen H, Bisgaard T. The Danish Inguinal Hernia Database. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2016;8: 521-524. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S99512

11. Helgstrand F, Jorgensen LN. The Danish Ventral Hernia Database—a valuable tool for quality assessment and research. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2016;8: 719-723. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S99501

12. Rosenberg J, Friis-Andersen H, Jørgensen L, Andresen K. Variables in the Danish Hernia Databases: inguinal and ventral. *Laparosc Surg.* 2021;5:30. doi:10.21037/ls-20-125

13. Schmidt M, Schmidt SAJ, Sandegaard JL, Ehrenstein V, Pedersen L, Sørensen HT. The Danish

National Patient Registry: a review of content, data quality, and research potential. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2015;7:449-490. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S91125

14. Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. *Scand J Public Health*. 2011;39(7)(suppl): 22-25. doi:10.1177/1403494810387965

 Andresen K, Friis-Andersen H, Rosenberg J. Laparoscopic repair of primary inguinal hernia performed in public hospitals or low-volume centers have increased risk of reoperation for recurrence. Surg Innov. 2016;23(2):142-147. doi:10.1177/1553350615596636

16. Ethicon voluntarily withdraws Physiomesh. Food & Drug Administration. June 29, 2016. Accessed September 21, 2022. https://www. fdanews.com/articles/177311-ethicon-voluntarilywithdraws-physiomesh

17. HerniaSurge Group. International guidelines for groin hernia management. *Hernia*. 2018;22(1):1-165. doi:10.1007/s10029-017-1668-x

 Miserez M, Alexandre JH, Campanelli G, et al. The European Hernia Society groin hernia classification: simple and easy to remember. *Hernia*. 2007;11(2):113-116. doi:10.1007/s10029-007-0198-3

19. Burcharth J, Pommergaard H-C, Bisgaard T, Rosenberg J. Patient-related risk factors for recurrence after inguinal hernia repair: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Surg Innov*. 2015;22(3):303-317. doi:10.1177/ 1553350614552731

20. Hamilton J, Kushner B, Holden S, Holden T. Age-related risk factors in ventral hernia repairs: a review and call to action. *J Surg Res.* 2021;266: 180-191. doi:10.1016/j.jss.2021.04.004

21. Donovan K, Denham M, Kuchta K, et al. Predictors for recurrence after open umbilical hernia repair in 979 patients. *Surgery*. 2019;166(4): 615-622. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.040

22. Christoffersen MW, Helgstrand F, Rosenberg J, Kehlet H, Strandfelt P, Bisgaard T. Long-term recurrence and chronic pain after repair for small umbilical or epigastric hernias: a regional cohort study. *Am J Surg.* 2015;209(4):725-732. doi:10. 1016/j.amjsurg.2014.05.021

23. Peduzzi P, Concato J, Kemper E, Holford TR, Feinstein AR. A simulation study of the number of events per variable in logistic regression analysis. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 1996;49(12):1373-1379. doi:10. 1016/S0895-4356(96)00236-3 24. Nguyen DH, Nguyen MT, Askenasy EP, Kao LS, Liang MK. Primary fascial closure with laparoscopic ventral hernia repair: systematic review. *World J Surg.* 2014;38(12):3097-3104. doi:10.1007/s00268-014-2722-9

25. Whewell H, Brown C, Gokani VJ, et al; Global Surgical Training Requirements Project Collaborators. Variation in training requirements within general surgery: comparison of 23 countries. *BJS Open*. 2020;4(4):714-723. doi:10.1002/bjs5. 50293

26. Han D, Lamb DL. Review Committee for Surgery, 2019. Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME). Accessed September 21, 2022. https://www.acgme.org/globalassets/ pfassets/presentations/surgeryrcupdate_ march2019_aec.pdf

27. The new surgical curriculum for August 2021. Intercollegiate Surgical Curriculum Programme

(ISCP). Accessed September 21, 2022. https://www. iscp.ac.uk/iscp/curriculum-2021/#heading_3

28. Main education in surgery. In Danish. Danish Surgical Residents. Accessed September 21, 2022. https://ydk.nu/kirurgi-uddannelsen/ hoveduddannelse-i-kirurgi/

29. Elsey EJ, Griffiths G, Humes DJ, West J. Meta-analysis of operative experiences of general surgery trainees during training. *Br J Surg*. 2017;104 (1):22-33. doi:10.1002/bjs.10396

30. Köckerling F, Sheen AJ, Berrevoet F, et al. The reality of general surgery training and increased complexity of abdominal wall hernia surgery. *Hernia*. 2019;23(6):1081-1091. doi:10.1007/s10029-019-02062-z

31. Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Decreasing use of open procedures in elective inguinal hernia surgery. *Laparosc Surg.* 2021;5:17. doi:10.21037/ls-20-126

32. Quillin RC III, Cortez AR, Garcia MA, et al. Gas off, room lights on: shedding light on the surgical

resident's experience in open and laparoscopic surgery. Surgery. 2019;166(4):460-468. doi:10. 1016/j.surg.2019.04.042

33. Robson AJ, Wallace CG, Sharma AK, Nixon SJ, Paterson-Brown S. Effects of training and supervision on recurrence rate after inguinal hernia repair. *Br J Surg*. 2004;91(6):774-777. doi:10.1002/ bjs.4540

34. Bökeler U, Schwarz J, Bittner R, Zacheja S, Smaxwil C. Teaching and training in laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair (TAPP): impact of the learning curve on patient outcome. *Surg Endosc*. 2013;27 (8):2886-2893. doi:10.1007/s00464-013-2849-z

35. Lederhuber H, Hanßke B, Dahlstrand U. Impact of trainee participation on inguinal hernia repair outcome: a study based on the Swedish Hernia Register. *Ann Surg.* 2021;274(1):e62-e69. doi:10. 1097/SLA.00000000003497

Supplementary Online Content

Christophersen C, Fonnes S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Risk of reoperation for recurrence after elective primary groin and ventral hernia repair by supervised residents. *JAMA Surg.* Published online February 1, 2023. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2022.7502

eTable. Risk of Reoperation Assessed With Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for Supervised Residents, Using Specialists as Reference

This supplementary material has been provided by the authors to give readers additional information about their work.

	Hazard ratio	95% CI	p value
Groin hernia			
Lichtenstein			
Repair performed by			
Supervised resident	1.26	0.99–1.59	0.057
Specialist	1		
Age, vears	1.00	0.99–1.01	0.588
Hernia size			
EHS 1	1		
EHS 2	1.09	0.65-1.91	0.747
EHS ≥3	1.34	0.82-2.32	0.230
Type of hernia	-		
Lateral	1		
Medial	2.66	2.06-3.45	<0.0001
Pantaloon	1.61	1.05-2.48	0.029
			0.020
Repair performed by			
Supervised resident	1 01	0 73–1 40	0.951
Specialist	1	0.10 1.10	0.001
Age vears	1 00	0 99–1 01	0710
Hernia size	1.00	0.00 1.01	0.110
FHS 1	1		
EHS 2	0.89	0.66_1.20	0 433
EHS >3	1.68	1 23_2 20	0.400
Type of bernia	1.00	1.25-2.25	0.001
Lateral (inquinal)	1		
Modial (inguinal)	0.96	0 71 1 02	0 101
Bantaloon (inquinal)	0.00	0.65 1.26	0.101
Fantaloon (inguinal)	0.94	0.00-1.00	0.743
Ventral bornia	0.20	0.12-0.03	0.002
Open			
Open Densir performed by			
Repair performed by	0.90	0.61 1.20	0 5 4 0
Supervised resident	0.89	0.61-1.29	0.540
Specialist	0.00	0.00.4.04	0.050
Age, years	0.99	0.98-1.01	0.259
BIVII Kg/m ²			
≤30 20	1	0.07.4.00	0.007
>30	1.12	0.67-1.88	0.667
Smoking status	0.40		
Active	0.48	0.19–1.22	0.123
Non-active	1		
Mesh used			
No	1		
Yes	0.52	0.36-0.76	0.001
Hernia defect size, cm	0.98	0.81–1.18	0.819
Laparoscopic			
Repairs performed by			
Supervised resident	2.96	0.99–8.84	0.052
Specialist	1		
Defect closure			
Yes	1		
No	2.21	0.91–5.37	0.081

eTable. Risk of Reoperation Assessed With Cox Proportional Hazard Analyses for Supervised Residents, Using Specialists as Reference

BMI: Body Mass Index; CI: confidence interval; EHS: European Hernia Society Classification.¹⁸ TAPP; TransAbdominal PrePeritoneal laparoscopic repair; ventral: includes umbilical and epigastric hernias.